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          1                              Wednesday Morning Session, 
 
          2                              July 27, 2 016. 
 
          3                           - - - 
 
          4                    EILEEN M. MIKKELSEN 
 
          5   being by me first duly sworn, as here inafter 
 
          6   certified, deposes and says as follow s: 
 
          7                     CROSS-EXAMINATION 
 
          8   By Mr. Fisk: 
 
          9          Q.   Good morning, Ms. Mikkels en. 
 
         10          A.   Good morning. 
 
         11          Q.   Can you hear me okay? 
 
         12          A.   Yes. 
 
         13          Q.   Great.  So you have offer ed rehearing 
 
         14   rebuttal and surrebuttal testimony in  this 
 
         15   proceeding, correct? 
 
         16          A.   Yes. 
 
         17          Q.   And for your reference, u nless I 
 
         18   explicitly state otherwise, I am only  going to be 
 
         19   asking questions about your rehearing  rebuttal and 
 
         20   surrebuttal testimony as opposed to a ny other 
 
         21   testimony you filed in this proceedin g.  So if I 
 
         22   refer to rehearing rebuttal and surre buttal testimony 
 
         23   simply as "your testimony," will you understand what 
 
         24   I mean? 



 
 
 
 
                                                                 6 
          1          A.   Yes. 
 
          2          Q.   And in your testimony you  offer testimony 
 
          3   regarding the staff's proposed Distri bution 
 
          4   Modernization Rider; is that correct?  
 
          5          A.   Yes. 
 
          6          Q.   Okay.  And can we agree t o refer to that 
 
          7   proposal as "rider DMR"? 
 
          8          A.   Yes. 
 
          9          Q.   If you could turn to page  14 of your 
 
         10   testimony.  Just let me know when you 're there. 
 
         11          A.   I'm there. 
 
         12          Q.   Okay.  And if you look at  starting on 
 
         13   line -- well, the very end of line 20 , with the word 
 
         14   "The," you say "The annual amount wou ld equal the 
 
         15   $558 million associated with the cred it support to 
 
         16   jump-start grid modernization and an additional 
 
         17   amount not exceed the economic develo pment value 
 
         18   outline by Company witness Sarah Murl ey...."  Do you 
 
         19   see that? 
 
         20          A.   I do.  I would say that s hould read "not 
 
         21   to exceed." 
 
         22          Q.   Okay.  That was going to be my next 
 
         23   question.  And in line 23 should "out line" be 
 
         24   "outlined" with a "d" at the end? 
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          1          A.   Yes. 
 
          2          Q.   Okay.  So am I correct th at it's your -- 
 
          3   your proposal is that the rider DMR w ould be the 
 
          4   $558 million a year that you discusse d with regards 
 
          5   to credit support and then plus some other amount of 
 
          6   money to reflect the economic develop ment value of 
 
          7   keeping the FirstEnergy corporate hea dquarters in 
 
          8   Akron? 
 
          9          A.   Yes, with the appending y our statement to 
 
         10   include "and the nexus of operations in Akron, Ohio." 
 
         11          Q.   Okay.  Thank you for that  clarification. 
 
         12               And you have not proposed  the specific 
 
         13   value for that additional amount that  would be 
 
         14   related to keeping the corporate head quarters and 
 
         15   nexus of operations in Akron, correct ? 
 
         16          A.   Yes. 
 
         17          Q.   Okay.  Under -- under you r proposal, how 
 
         18   would that additional amount be calcu lated? 
 
         19               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         20          A.   I guess my proposal doesn 't include a 
 
         21   recommendation for how that calculati on would be 
 
         22   made. 
 
         23          Q.   Okay.  But the amount -- so the only -- 
 
         24   the only thing you are proposing with  regards to the 
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          1   amount is that it doesn't exceed the economic value 
 
          2   outlined by Witness Murley; is that c orrect? 
 
          3          A.   Yes. 
 
          4          Q.   Okay.  And if you could t urn to -- 
 
          5   actually, I'm sorry. 
 
          6               MR. FISK:  Karen, do you have the Murley 
 
          7   testimony? 
 
          8               THE NOTARY:  Yes. 
 
          9               MR. FISK:  If you could m ark that. 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  Are you talki ng about the 
 
         11   rebuttal rehearing testimony? 
 
         12               MR. FISK:  Yes. 
 
         13               (EXHIBIT MARKED FOR IDENT IFICATION.) 
 
         14          Q.   (By Mr. Fisk) Ms. Mikkels en, so you have 
 
         15   been handed a document marked Exhibit  1 which is 
 
         16   Ms. Murley's rebuttal rehearing testi mony; is that 
 
         17   correct? 
 
         18          A.   Yes. 
 
         19          Q.   Okay.  And have you revie wed this 
 
         20   testimony? 
 
         21          A.   Yes. 
 
         22          Q.   Okay.  And is this the te stimony that you 
 
         23   are referencing on page 14 to 15 of y our own 
 
         24   testimony? 
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          1          A.   Yes. 
 
          2          Q.   Okay.  And if you could t urn to page 4 of 
 
          3   Ms. Murley's testimony, about the mid dle of Table 1 
 
          4   it says "Annual Economic Impacts."  D o you see that? 
 
          5          A.   Yes. 
 
          6          Q.   Okay.  And there is a tot al under the 
 
          7   "Output" column that says "$568 milli on."  Do you see 
 
          8   that? 
 
          9          A.   Yes. 
 
         10          Q.   Is that 568 million the e conomic 
 
         11   development value that you reference on page 14, 
 
         12   lines 22 to 23, of your testimony? 
 
         13          A.   Yes. 
 
         14          Q.   Okay.  Is there any other  -- any other 
 
         15   amount that -- in addition to the $56 8 million that 
 
         16   would go into the economic developmen t value that you 
 
         17   reference in your testimony? 
 
         18          A.   I think Ms. Murley refers  to that number 
 
         19   as a conservative value and identifie s other items 
 
         20   that may serve to increase the number  but that was 
 
         21   the number I was focusing on. 
 
         22          Q.   Okay.  So when you say in  your testimony 
 
         23   on page 14 "not to exceed the economi c development 
 
         24   value outlined by Company witness Mur ley," is it your 
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          1   testimony that the additional amount that you are 
 
          2   proposing to be included in rider DMR  would not 
 
          3   exceed $568 million? 
 
          4          A.   Yes. 
 
          5          Q.   Okay.  But that additiona l amount could 
 
          6   be as high as 568 million under your proposal? 
 
          7          A.   Yes. 
 
          8          Q.   Okay.  And so if you add that 
 
          9   $568 million to the $558 million for credit support, 
 
         10   am I correct that the companies are p roposing that 
 
         11   the total rider DMR amount could be a s high as 
 
         12   $1.126 million per year? 
 
         13               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         14               THE WITNESS:  May I ask y ou to reread the 
 
         15   question, please. 
 
         16               (Record read.) 
 
         17          A.   No. 
 
         18          Q.   And why not? 
 
         19          A.   The way I heard the quest ion, it was 
 
         20   1.126 million. 
 
         21          Q.   Oh, I'm sorry.  I meant 1 .126 billion 
 
         22   with a "b." 
 
         23          A.   I mean, the companies' pr oposal is that 
 
         24   rider DMR would equal $558 million as sociated with 
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          1   credit support to jump-start grid mod ernization and 
 
          2   some additional amount determined by the Commission 
 
          3   associated with the economic developm ent value from 
 
          4   having FirstEnergy's headquarters and  the nexus of 
 
          5   its operations in Akron, Ohio. 
 
          6          Q.   Okay.  And that additiona l amount under 
 
          7   your proposal could be as high as $56 8 million, 
 
          8   correct? 
 
          9          A.   As my testimony states, t he additional 
 
         10   amount would not exceed the economic development 
 
         11   value outlined by Ms. Murley. 
 
         12          Q.   Okay.  And so if you add that 
 
         13   $568 million, identified by Ms. Murle y, to the 
 
         14   $558 million in credit support that t he companies are 
 
         15   proposing, the total amount from ride r DMR could be 
 
         16   as high as $1.126 billion per year, c orrect? 
 
         17               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         18          A.   The ultimate determinatio n about the 
 
         19   appropriate level of rider DMR would be made by the 
 
         20   Commission. 
 
         21          Q.   And under your testimony regarding how 
 
         22   much that additional amount should no t exceed -- 
 
         23   strike that. 
 
         24               Under your testimony rega rding the level 
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          1   that the additional amount should not  exceed, that 
 
          2   total this information could improve consistent with 
 
          3   your proposal could be as high as $1. 126 billion, 
 
          4   correct? 
 
          5               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
          6   answered. 
 
          7          A.   I think the Commission wi ll determine 
 
          8   what the appropriate level is to popu late rider DMR. 
 
          9          Q.   Do you think the $1.126 b illion amount 
 
         10   for rider DMR per year could be appro priate? 
 
         11               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         12          A.   I think the Commission wi ll determine 
 
         13   what the appropriate level is for rid er DMR. 
 
         14          Q.   Okay.  And you have no op inion as to what 
 
         15   that appropriate level should be? 
 
         16               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, mi scharacterizes 
 
         17   her testimony. 
 
         18          A.   My opinion is that it sho uld equal the 
 
         19   558 million associated with the credi t support to 
 
         20   jump-start grid modernization and an additional 
 
         21   amount associated with -- arising fro m the 
 
         22   requirement that FirstEnergy keep its  headquarters 
 
         23   and the nexus of its operations in Ak ron, Ohio. 
 
         24          Q.   Okay.  And beyond the $56 8 million not to 
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          1   exceed figure, am I correct you are o ffering no 
 
          2   opinion as to what the amount -- what  that additional 
 
          3   amount should be? 
 
          4          A.   I think that the Commissi on will make the 
 
          5   determination about what the appropri ate amount would 
 
          6   be. 
 
          7          Q.   And that wasn't my questi on.  My question 
 
          8   is do you have any opinion as to what  that amount 
 
          9   should be beyond that it should not e xceed 
 
         10   568 million? 
 
         11               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         12   answered. 
 
         13          A.   I think there are a numbe r of ways the 
 
         14   Commission could make the determinati on about what 
 
         15   the appropriate amount is; but, again , the ultimate 
 
         16   determination with respect to the app ropriate amount 
 
         17   would be the Commission's determinati on. 
 
         18          Q.   And what -- and what, in your opinion, 
 
         19   would be an appropriate way for the C ommission to 
 
         20   make that determination regarding wha t the additional 
 
         21   amount should be? 
 
         22          A.   I don't have a recommenda tion what's the 
 
         23   appropriate way for the Commission to  make the 
 
         24   determination.  I think what I was su ggesting is I'm 
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          1   sure there are a number of ways in wh ich they could 
 
          2   look at this and reach a determinatio n in their 
 
          3   judgment about what the appropriate l evel would be. 
 
          4          Q.   And can you identify some  of those ways? 
 
          5          A.   I think they could look a t the economic 
 
          6   value and allocate a portion of that to the Ohio 
 
          7   companies, or perhaps they could look  at dollars 
 
          8   spent on certain aspects, whether it be payroll, 
 
          9   payroll plus taxes, payroll plus taxe s plus suppliers 
 
         10   spend.  I think there is a number of different ways 
 
         11   they could look at that to inform the ir decision 
 
         12   about what the appropriate level woul d be for 
 
         13   inclusion in rider DMR. 
 
         14          Q.   Any other ways you can id entify? 
 
         15          A.   Not as I sit here today w ithout giving it 
 
         16   some additional thought, although I'm  certain there 
 
         17   would be other ways to make the deter mination. 
 
         18          Q.   Okay.  And when you refer enced "allocate 
 
         19   a portion to the companies," would th at be similar to 
 
         20   how you -- elsewhere in your testimon y you discuss 
 
         21   allocating a portion of the credit su pport to the 
 
         22   companies? 
 
         23               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         24          A.   I think there are any num ber of ways that 
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          1   the amount could be allocated to the companies, 
 
          2   including, but not limited to, the al location 
 
          3   methodology outlined in my testimony with respect to 
 
          4   credit support. 
 
          5          Q.   So that would be the 40 p ercent 
 
          6   allocation to the companies that you are referring 
 
          7   to? 
 
          8          A.   Yes, as one potential all ocation 
 
          9   methodology for the economic developm ent. 
 
         10          Q.   Okay.  Okay.  And am I co rrect that 
 
         11   the -- under your proposal, the $558 million for 
 
         12   credits, plus the additional amount, that would be 
 
         13   for each year; is that correct? 
 
         14          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         15   please, sir? 
 
         16          Q.   Sure.  The $558 million a ssociated -- 
 
         17   that you've identified for credit sup port through 
 
         18   rider DMR, that would be an annual fi gure, correct? 
 
         19          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         20   please, sir? 
 
         21          Q.   What are you finding conf using? 
 
         22          A.   An annual amount over wha t period? 
 
         23          Q.   Are you proposing that cu stomers would be 
 
         24   charged, under rider DMR, $558 millio n per year for 
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          1   the term of the ESP IV for credit sup port? 
 
          2               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          3               THE WITNESS:  May I ask y ou to reread the 
 
          4   question, please. 
 
          5               (Record read.) 
 
          6          A.   I'm recommending that the  rider DMR 
 
          7   amount of $558 million associated wit h credit 
 
          8   support, plus an additional amount as sociated with 
 
          9   the economic development value of kee ping the 
 
         10   companies' headquarters and nexus of operations in 
 
         11   Akron, Ohio, continue annually over t he term of the 
 
         12   ESP or until some -- there is a chang e in status with 
 
         13   respect to the corporate headquarters . 
 
         14          Q.   Okay.  So that would be - - that figure of 
 
         15   $558 million plus an additional amoun t would be for 
 
         16   each year of the ESP IV, correct? 
 
         17               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, mi scharacterizes 
 
         18   her testimony. 
 
         19               THE WITNESS:  May I ask y ou to reread the 
 
         20   question, please. 
 
         21               (Record read.) 
 
         22          A.   The proposal is that ride r DMR would 
 
         23   remain in effect over the entire term  of ESP IV as 
 
         24   long as the FirstEnergy corporate hea dquarters and 
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          1   nexus of operations remain in Akron, Ohio. 
 
          2          Q.   Okay.  And ESP IV is sche duled to last 
 
          3   eight years, correct? 
 
          4          A.   Yes. 
 
          5          Q.   Okay.  So as long as Firs tEnergy 
 
          6   headquarters and nexus of operations remain in Akron, 
 
          7   Ohio, for the next eight years, under  the companies' 
 
          8   proposal, customers would pay $558 mi llion per year 
 
          9   for eight years for credit support; i s that correct? 
 
         10          A.   No. 
 
         11          Q.   Why is that not correct? 
 
         12          A.   Because your question sai d "for the next 
 
         13   eight years" and the ESP term started  June 1 of 2016, 
 
         14   so we are already into the term of ES P IV. 
 
         15          Q.   Okay.  So customers would  pay 
 
         16   $558 million per year under rider DMR  from whatever 
 
         17   date rider DMR starts through May 31,  2024, correct? 
 
         18               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         19          A.   No. 
 
         20          Q.   Why is that not correct? 
 
         21               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         22   answered.  Tell him again. 
 
         23          A.   A couple of things.  No. 1, the rider -- 
 
         24   the recommendation for rider DMR is t hat it include 
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          1   $558 million plus an additional amoun t associated 
 
          2   with keeping the corporate headquarte rs and nexus of 
 
          3   operations in Akron, Ohio. 
 
          4               Further, I don't think yo u would have a 
 
          5   full year of collection in the first year of the ESP 
 
          6   because, as I stated, the term's alre ady underway, so 
 
          7   you wouldn't have a full year in year  one. 
 
          8          Q.   Do you expect you would h ave a full year 
 
          9   for years two through eight? 
 
         10          A.   I expect that rider DMR w ould remain in 
 
         11   effect as long as the FirstEnergy cor porate 
 
         12   headquarters and nexus of operations remain in Akron, 
 
         13   Ohio. 
 
         14          Q.   Okay.  And if you look at  your testimony 
 
         15   page 15, line 4, and you state that r ider DMR amount 
 
         16   would be "updated annually."  Do you see that? 
 
         17          A.   Yes. 
 
         18          Q.   And what would be -- what  would be 
 
         19   updated annually? 
 
         20          A.   I'm sorry.  May I ask you  to rephrase 
 
         21   that question, please? 
 
         22          Q.   Would the -- would the $5 58 million that 
 
         23   you are recommending for credit suppo rt remain a 
 
         24   constant for each year that rider DMR  is in effect? 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  May I have th e question read, 
 
          2   please. 
 
          3               (Record read.) 
 
          4               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          5          A.   My recommendation is that  rider DMR -- 
 
          6   the value of rider DMR be equal to th e $558 million 
 
          7   associated with credit support to jum p-start grid 
 
          8   modernization plus an additional amou nt associated 
 
          9   with the commitment to keep the First Energy 
 
         10   headquarters and nexus of operations in Akron, Ohio. 
 
         11          Q.   Right.  And my question i s you reference 
 
         12   on page 5, line 4, of your testimony "updating" -- 
 
         13   "updating annually," and I'm trying t o find out what, 
 
         14   with regards to rider DMR, would be u pdated annually 
 
         15   under your proposal. 
 
         16          A.   The annual update would r eflect a 
 
         17   most-current forecast with respect to  billing 
 
         18   determinants and incorporate any reco nciliation from 
 
         19   the prior period. 
 
         20          Q.   And what sort of reconcil iations would 
 
         21   there be -- could there be under ride r DMR? 
 
         22          A.   The reconciliation associ ated with the 
 
         23   amount expected to be collected versu s the amount 
 
         24   that was collected. 
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          1          Q.   Okay.  So with regards to  the credit 
 
          2   support portion of rider DMR that you  are proposing, 
 
          3   the $558 million figure under your pr oposal would not 
 
          4   be updated annually; is that correct?  
 
          5               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          6          A.   The $558 million portion of the rider DMR 
 
          7   would not be updated annually, but th e total amount 
 
          8   collected under rider DMR would inclu de a 
 
          9   reconciliation component, either posi tive or 
 
         10   negative, based on the prior period c ollections. 
 
         11          Q.   Okay.  And would the addi tional amount 
 
         12   included in rider DMR for the economi c development 
 
         13   value of FirstEnergy corporate's head quarters and 
 
         14   nexus of operations remaining in Akro n, would that 
 
         15   amount be updated annually under your  proposal? 
 
         16          A.   I think that would be sub ject to the 
 
         17   determination of the Commission. 
 
         18          Q.   Okay.  So you would not - - you are not 
 
         19   proposing whether the Commission shou ld set one value 
 
         20   for the additional amount that would remain constant 
 
         21   throughout rider DMR's life versus ch anging that 
 
         22   every year; is that correct? 
 
         23          A.   Yes. 
 
         24          Q.   And under your proposal c ould that 



 
 
 
 
                                                                21 
          1   additional amount, in future years of  rider DMR, 
 
          2   exceed the 568 millions of economic v alue that 
 
          3   Ms. Murley identifies in her testimon y? 
 
          4          A.   My proposal is that the a dditional amount 
 
          5   would not exceed the economic develop ment value 
 
          6   outlined by Ms. Murley.  Ultimately, the Commission 
 
          7   will make the determination about wha t the 
 
          8   appropriate amount is that should be included in the 
 
          9   rider. 
 
         10          Q.   Okay.  And under your -- under the 
 
         11   companies' proposal, if FirstEnergy c orporation -- or 
 
         12   corp. did -- did not keep its corpora te headquarters 
 
         13   and nexus of operations in Akron, wou ld any amounts 
 
         14   that had already been collected under  rider DMR be 
 
         15   subject to refund? 
 
         16          A.   No. 
 
         17          Q.   And -- strike that. 
 
         18               So -- so under the compan ies' proposal, 
 
         19   am I correct that if FirstEnergy Corp . would move its 
 
         20   nexus of operations out of Akron duri ng the term of 
 
         21   the ESP IV, rider DMR would simply st op? 
 
         22          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         23   please? 
 
         24          Q.   What do you find confusin g about it? 
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          1          A.   "Simply." 
 
          2          Q.   Okay.  Take out the word "simply."  Would 
 
          3   rider DMR just stop if FirstEnergy Co rp. were to move 
 
          4   its corporate headquarters and nexus of operations 
 
          5   out of Akron during the term of ESP I V? 
 
          6          A.   That is the companies' pr oposal. 
 
          7          Q.   And do you have any reaso n to think 
 
          8   without rider DMR, FirstEnergy Corp. would move its 
 
          9   headquarters and nexus of operations out of Akron 
 
         10   sometime before May 31, 2024? 
 
         11          A.   I think that there is a g reater 
 
         12   likelihood of a change of control for  a 
 
         13   financially-challenged company than a  company that is 
 
         14   financially strong. 
 
         15          Q.   And when you say "change of control," 
 
         16   what do you mean? 
 
         17          A.   That the control of the c ompany changes 
 
         18   to another entity or organization. 
 
         19          Q.   Okay.  Do you have any ot her reason to 
 
         20   think that FirstEnergy Corp., without  rider DMR, 
 
         21   might move its headquarters -- might move its 
 
         22   headquarters and nexus of operations out of Akron 
 
         23   sometime before May 31, 2024? 
 
         24          A.   No. 
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          1          Q.   Okay.  And under your pro posal, if there 
 
          2   were a change of control at FirstEner gy Corp., would 
 
          3   rider DMR end? 
 
          4          A.   Rider DMR, as proposed, w ould remain in 
 
          5   effect so long as the FirstEnergy Cor p. headquarters 
 
          6   and nexus of operations remain in Akr on, Ohio. 
 
          7          Q.   So if there was a change of control at 
 
          8   FirstEnergy Corp., but the new -- the  new entity in 
 
          9   control maintained its headquarters a nd nexus of 
 
         10   operations in Akron, Ohio, rider DMR would still end; 
 
         11   is that correct? 
 
         12               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         13          A.   I mean the provision is t hat the 
 
         14   FirstEnergy Corp. headquarters and ne xus of 
 
         15   operations remain in Akron, Ohio.  So  long as the 
 
         16   FirstEnergy corporate headquarters an d nexus of 
 
         17   operations remains in Akron, Ohio, ri der DMR would 
 
         18   remain in effect. 
 
         19          Q.   Okay.  So, but does that mean that if -- 
 
         20   if the headquarters and nexus of oper ations stay 
 
         21   there, stay in Akron, Ohio, but they are under the 
 
         22   control of some other corporate entit y instead of 
 
         23   FirstEnergy Corp., then does that mea n that rider DMR 
 
         24   would end? 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
          2   answered. 
 
          3          A.   The requirement is that t he FirstEnergy 
 
          4   corporate headquarters and nexus of o perations remain 
 
          5   in Akron, Ohio. 
 
          6          Q.   Okay.  So if it was -- if  it was some 
 
          7   other company entity in control, it w ould no longer 
 
          8   qualify as FirstEnergy Corp. corporat e headquarters, 
 
          9   correct? 
 
         10          A.   Correct. 
 
         11          Q.   And do you have any knowl edge as to 
 
         12   whether FirstEnergy Corp. has the lea se for the 
 
         13   office space that currently serves as  its 
 
         14   headquarters in Akron, Ohio? 
 
         15          A.   Yes. 
 
         16          Q.   Okay.  And, yes, you have  knowledge or 
 
         17   yes, you know they do have a lease? 
 
         18          A.   Yes, I have knowledge. 
 
         19          Q.   Okay.  Does FirstEnergy C orp. have a 
 
         20   lease for its office space that curre ntly serves as 
 
         21   its headquarters in Akron, Ohio? 
 
         22          A.   FirstEnergy has a lease f or the office 
 
         23   space for its headquarters in Akron, Ohio, but I am 
 
         24   not familiar with all of the terms, c onditions, and 
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          1   provisions of that lease. 
 
          2          Q.   And just so the record is  clear, when you 
 
          3   said "FirstEnergy," you meant FirstEn ergy Corp.? 
 
          4          A.   Yes. 
 
          5          Q.   Do you know when that lea se is scheduled 
 
          6   to expire? 
 
          7          A.   Again, I'm not familiar w ith all the 
 
          8   specific terms and conditions and pro visions of that 
 
          9   lease. 
 
         10          Q.   Okay.  And you are not --  so you are not 
 
         11   familiar with the expiration date of that lease; is 
 
         12   that correct? 
 
         13          A.   No.  I don't know the exp iration date. 
 
         14          Q.   Okay.  And has anyone emp loyed by the 
 
         15   companies told you that FirstEnergy C orp. might move 
 
         16   its corporate headquarters out of Akr on? 
 
         17               MR. KUTIK:  May I have th e question read, 
 
         18   please. 
 
         19               (Record read.) 
 
         20          A.   No. 
 
         21          Q.   Okay.  Has anybody employ ed by 
 
         22   FirstEnergy Service Company told you that FirstEnergy 
 
         23   Corp. might move its corporate headqu arters out of 
 
         24   Akron? 
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          1          A.   I think that the question  -- I mean, the 
 
          2   company typically would not comment o n the -- 
 
          3   internally or externally, but with me , with respect 
 
          4   to any discussions associated with me rger or 
 
          5   acquisition activities, so I wouldn't  be involved in 
 
          6   any of those discussions. 
 
          7          Q.   Okay.  When you said "the  company," which 
 
          8   entity are you referring to? 
 
          9          A.   Pardon me, FirstEnergy Co rp., thank you. 
 
         10          Q.   Okay.  So -- so did that mean that no one 
 
         11   from FirstEnergy Service Company has told you that 
 
         12   FirstEnergy Corp. might move its corp orate 
 
         13   headquarters out of Akron? 
 
         14               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         15   answered. 
 
         16          A.   Again, the company -- the  FirstEnergy 
 
         17   Corp. does not comment publicly on me rgers or 
 
         18   acquisitions, nor would I expect to b e involved in 
 
         19   those discussions prior to announceme nt. 
 
         20          Q.   Has anyone told you, rega rdless of what 
 
         21   corporate entity they may be from, ha s anyone told 
 
         22   you that FirstEnergy Corp. might move  its corporate 
 
         23   headquarters out of Akron, Ohio? 
 
         24               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
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          1          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
          2   please? 
 
          3          Q.   What -- what do you find confusing? 
 
          4          A.   "Regardless of what entit y they're from." 
 
          5          Q.   Well, take that part out.   Has anyone 
 
          6   told you that FirstEnergy Corp. may m ove its 
 
          7   corporate headquarters out of Akron, Ohio? 
 
          8          A.   No. 
 
          9          Q.   And have you seen any eva luation of 
 
         10   whether FirstEnergy Corp.'s corporate  headquarters 
 
         11   would remain in Akron, Ohio, for the term of the ESP 
 
         12   IV? 
 
         13          A.   No. 
 
         14          Q.   And to your knowledge is there any 
 
         15   expectation of a change -- a change o f control by 
 
         16   FirstEnergy Corp.? 
 
         17          A.   As we've discussed earlie r, as a 
 
         18   company -- company -- pardon me.  As we discussed 
 
         19   earlier, to the extent that FirstEner gy Corp.'s 
 
         20   financial condition deteriorates, tha t, in my 
 
         21   judgment, increases the likelihood or  the risk 
 
         22   associated with a change in control. 
 
         23          Q.   But to your knowledge is there any 
 
         24   expectation that there will be a chan ge of control? 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  Objection.  A nd at this point 
 
          2   I will instruct you not to divulge an y information 
 
          3   that you might have, if you have any,  that would be 
 
          4   nonpublic information. 
 
          5          A.   I stand by my prior answe rs. 
 
          6          Q.   Given your counsel's inst ruction, is this 
 
          7   information that could be discussed o n a confidential 
 
          8   record or are you saying there is no information that 
 
          9   is public or confidential? 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  No.  She is n ot going to do 
 
         11   that, so ask your next question. 
 
         12               MR. FISK:  Well, I am try ing to figure 
 
         13   out. 
 
         14               MR. KUTIK:  And this is t he reason.  I 
 
         15   don't know whether she has or doesn't  have such 
 
         16   information.  If she has such informa tion, it would 
 
         17   be none -- it would be material nonpu blic information 
 
         18   that she could not disclose even on a  confidential 
 
         19   basis. 
 
         20               So for her to talk about whether she has 
 
         21   something or not have something may i ndicate that she 
 
         22   does have something and there have be en such 
 
         23   conversations.  Again, I don't know w hether there 
 
         24   have or there aren't, but I am just n ot going to let 



 
 
 
 
                                                                29 
          1   her go there, so that's why I am maki ng the 
 
          2   instruction she is not going to answe r those 
 
          3   questions. 
 
          4               MR. FISK:  Okay.  Fair en ough. 
 
          5          Q.   Okay.  Ms. Mikkelsen, am I correct that a 
 
          6   purpose of rider DMR is to enable the  company to 
 
          7   provide credit support to FirstEnergy  Corp.? 
 
          8          A.   I think the purpose of ri der DMR is to 
 
          9   provide credit support to the compani es to assist 
 
         10   them in jump-starting SmartGrid -- or  grid 
 
         11   modernization activities across their  service 
 
         12   territories. 
 
         13          Q.   Okay.  And what -- do you  agree that the 
 
         14   companies need credit support? 
 
         15          A.   Yes. 
 
         16          Q.   Okay.  And why do the com panies need 
 
         17   credit support? 
 
         18          A.   In order to enable them t o access the 
 
         19   capital market on favorable terms. 
 
         20          Q.   And to be able to do that , they need to 
 
         21   have an investment grade credit ratin g, correct? 
 
         22          A.   Yes. 
 
         23          Q.   Okay.  And they -- each o f the companies 
 
         24   currently have an investment grade cr edit rating, 
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          1   correct? 
 
          2          A.   Two of the companies are one notch above 
 
          3   non-investment grade, and the third c ompany is three 
 
          4   notches above non-investment grade; a ll of the 
 
          5   companies are in what I would conside r to be the 
 
          6   lowest tranche of investment grade cr edit ratings 
 
          7   from a Moody's perspective. 
 
          8          Q.   Okay.  And separate from any credit 
 
          9   rating changes regarding FirstEnergy Corp., do you 
 
         10   have any reason to believe that the c ompanies are 
 
         11   likely to be downgraded to a non-inve stment grade 
 
         12   credit rating? 
 
         13          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question? 
 
         14          Q.   What do you find confusin g? 
 
         15          A.   Your condition that I sep arate the parent 
 
         16   from the answer. 
 
         17          Q.   Why is that -- what is di fficult about 
 
         18   that? 
 
         19          A.   Standard & Poor's uses a family 
 
         20   methodology. 
 
         21          Q.   Okay.  So for purposes of  Standard & 
 
         22   Poor's, if FirstEnergy Corp. is downg raded to a 
 
         23   non-investment grade credit rating, t hen the 
 
         24   companies would also automatically be  downgraded; is 
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          1   that correct? 
 
          2          A.   Yes. 
 
          3          Q.   Okay.  And could that rel ationship go the 
 
          4   other direction where if the companie s were 
 
          5   downgraded to a non-investment grade credit rating, 
 
          6   FirstEnergy Corp. would also be downg raded? 
 
          7          A.   It is a family rating met hodology, so 
 
          8   that the parent and all of the core e ntities 
 
          9   associated with the parent are rated at the same 
 
         10   level. 
 
         11          Q.   Okay.  And does the credi t support that 
 
         12   it is your opinion the companies need  to be provided, 
 
         13   does that stem from the risk that Fir stEnergy Corp. 
 
         14   will be downgraded to non-investment grade credit 
 
         15   rating by S&P? 
 
         16               MS. WILLIS:  Can I have t hat question 
 
         17   reread, please. 
 
         18               (Record read.) 
 
         19          A.   I think S&P, as I've said , looks at the 
 
         20   family in total to make a determinati on about the 
 
         21   ratings, so that would be part of the ir analysis. 
 
         22          Q.   So if -- if the companies  are provided 
 
         23   credit support through rider DMR, but  FirstEnergy -- 
 
         24   but the S&P decides to downgrade Firs tEnergy Corp. to 
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          1   a non-investment credit grade, then t he companies 
 
          2   would also be downgraded no matter ho w much credit 
 
          3   support they had received through the  rider; is that 
 
          4   correct? 
 
          5               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          6               THE WITNESS:  May I have the question 
 
          7   reread, please? 
 
          8               (Record read.) 
 
          9          A.   No.  A properly construct ed rider DMR, 
 
         10   along with other actions taken within  the FirstEnergy 
 
         11   corporation, I think would be suffici ent to avoid any 
 
         12   negative action from a rating agency.  
 
         13          Q.   Okay.  And why do you thi nk that would be 
 
         14   sufficient to avoid any negative acti on? 
 
         15          A.   I think the companies' cr edit metrics 
 
         16   would improve, which, on a consolidat ed FirstEnergy 
 
         17   Corp. basis, should provide some adva ntage to the 
 
         18   credit metrics of the corp. 
 
         19               I think the rating agenci es look at a 
 
         20   number of factors including, the regu latory 
 
         21   environments that the companies opera te in, and I 
 
         22   think they would view this as support ive and a 
 
         23   positive.  Those things, coupled with  the actions 
 
         24   that are being taken, have been and c ontinue to be 
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          1   taken by all the constituents and the  companies 
 
          2   with -- all of the subsidiaries withi n the 
 
          3   corporation, I think provide enough s upport that the 
 
          4   credit rating agencies would not be d owngraded. 
 
          5          Q.   And when you said "the co mpanies' credit 
 
          6   metrics would improve," which credit metrics are you 
 
          7   referring to? 
 
          8          A.   The credit metrics that M oody's and 
 
          9   Standard & Poor's use for -- include in their 
 
         10   credit-rating judgments. 
 
         11          Q.   Okay.  And which are thos e? 
 
         12          A.   Specific -- and they diff er by Moody's 
 
         13   and S&P, but both look at cash from o perations or 
 
         14   free cash from operations, you know, some sort of 
 
         15   cash from operation measurement again st debt, and so 
 
         16   that would improve.  They look at deb t as a percent 
 
         17   of cap structure and that would -- co uld also improve 
 
         18   depending upon how the dollars were u sed.  So those 
 
         19   are a couple that come to mind. 
 
         20          Q.   Okay.  And those two you just referred 
 
         21   to, those were for Moody's; is that c orrect? 
 
         22          A.   I think that the calculat ions differ for 
 
         23   Moody's and S&P, but I think that the y both look at 
 
         24   some measure of level of debt on your  balance sheet 
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          1   versus your entire capital structure,  and I think 
 
          2   they both look at some measure of you r free cash from 
 
          3   operations or your cash flow from ope rations versus 
 
          4   your level of debt.  The exact calcul ations are 
 
          5   proprietary to those companies. 
 
          6          Q.   Sure.  Okay.  And the cas h flow from 
 
          7   operations, that is the -- that is th e metric you 
 
          8   used in calculating the $558 million in credit 
 
          9   support figure you propose, correct? 
 
         10          A.   I would characterize that  as the metric 
 
         11   Mr. Buckley used, and then I merely s uggested 
 
         12   corrections or improvements to his ca lculation. 
 
         13          Q.   Okay.  Do you believe som e other metric 
 
         14   should have been used? 
 
         15          A.   This is the staff's recom mendation, sir. 
 
         16          Q.   So you are not offering a ny opinion as to 
 
         17   whether it's appropriate to base the credit support 
 
         18   calculation on cash flow from operati ons to debt? 
 
         19               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         20          A.   No.  I think it's -- it i s a reasonable 
 
         21   means to make the calculation.  I was  just suggesting 
 
         22   I hadn't spent time thinking about ho w this 
 
         23   calculation should be made as a separ ate matter 
 
         24   because it was the staff's proposal. 
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          1          Q.   Okay.  And S&P -- 
 
          2               MR. KUTIK:  I'm sorry, wh at did you say? 
 
          3          Q.   S&P, however, uses FFO to  debt, correct? 
 
          4          A.   Yes. 
 
          5          Q.   Okay.  And "FFO" means "f unds from 
 
          6   operation"; is that correct? 
 
          7          A.   Yes. 
 
          8          Q.   Okay.  And can we agree t hat when we're 
 
          9   talking about "cash from operations" that we can 
 
         10   refer to that as "CFO"; is that corre ct? 
 
         11          A.   Yes. 
 
         12          Q.   Okay.  And in your -- in your -- if you 
 
         13   could turn to page 13 of your testimo ny, Figure 1, 
 
         14   that figure is where you calculate th e $558 million 
 
         15   credit support amount; is that correc t? 
 
         16          A.   Yes. 
 
         17          Q.   Okay.  And the -- the fir st three lines 
 
         18   of data, "CFO Pre W/C," "Total Debt,"  "CFO Pre W/C 
 
         19   Over Debt," those are all with regard s to FirstEnergy 
 
         20   Corp., correct? 
 
         21          A.   Yes. 
 
         22          Q.   Okay.  And am I correct y our credit 
 
         23   support amount of 558 million is base d on the amount 
 
         24   of additional CFO that is -- that wou ld have been 
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          1   needed to bring FirstEnergy Corp.'s C FO to debt level 
 
          2   up to 15 percent? 
 
          3          A.   No. 
 
          4          Q.   What was incorrect about that? 
 
          5          A.   In any given year that ma y not have been 
 
          6   the case.  This is an average over a period. 
 
          7          Q.   Okay.  Well, let's take a  step back.  So 
 
          8   you used 15 percent as the level of C FO to debt that 
 
          9   you're targeting for FirstEnergy Corp . in terms of 
 
         10   credit support, correct? 
 
         11               THE WITNESS:  May I ask t o have that 
 
         12   reread, please. 
 
         13               (Record read.) 
 
         14          A.   Figure 1 includes a calcu lation of the 
 
         15   CFO preworking capital to debt at 15 percent for each 
 
         16   year. 
 
         17          Q.   And that 15 percent figur e is based on 
 
         18   Moody's statement that a negative rat ing action could 
 
         19   occur if FirstEnergy Corp. does not m aintain a CFO to 
 
         20   debt ratio of at least 14 to 16 perce nt, correct? 
 
         21          A.   I guess I just want to be  clear when 
 
         22   Figure 1 calculates what the shortfal l is to 
 
         23   15 percent in the CFO preworking capi tal to debt for 
 
         24   each of the annual years.  And then, I'm sorry, with 
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          1   that, I just want to be sure I was cl ear on that and 
 
          2   my prior answer, and then may I have the question 
 
          3   reread, please. 
 
          4               (Record read.) 
 
          5          A.   Yes. 
 
          6          Q.   Okay.  And the line on CF O -- Figure 1 
 
          7   that says "CFO Pre W/C Over Debt" at 15 percent, that 
 
          8   line identifies how much additional C FO would have 
 
          9   been needed to bring the CFO to debt level up to 
 
         10   15 percent, correct? 
 
         11          A.   Correct, in each of the y ears shown. 
 
         12          Q.   Yes.  Okay.  And can we a gree to refer to 
 
         13   that amount as the "credit shortfall" ? 
 
         14          A.   It might be better to ref er to it as the 
 
         15   "CFO to debt shortfall." 
 
         16          Q.   But the amounts identifie d in that CFO 
 
         17   pre W/C to debt of 15 percent, those dollar figures 
 
         18   are -- to collect additional CFO that 's needed, 
 
         19   correct? 
 
         20          A.   Correct. 
 
         21          Q.   So they don't reflect any  changes in the 
 
         22   level of debt, correct? 
 
         23          A.   Correct. 
 
         24          Q.   Okay.  Okay.  And then yo u took those 
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          1   amounts and allocated 40 percent to t he companies to 
 
          2   then get the value in the line that s ays "Ohio 
 
          3   Regulated Distribution Utilities Prop ortion"; is that 
 
          4   correct? 
 
          5          A.   Yes. 
 
          6          Q.   Okay.  And then you avera ged the three 
 
          7   values in the "Ohio Regulated Distrib ution Utilities 
 
          8   Proportion" to get the $357 million f igure that's in 
 
          9   the "Allocated Average Annual CFO Sho rtfall"? 
 
         10          A.   Yes. 
 
         11          Q.   Okay.  And then the $558 million figure 
 
         12   represents that $357 million grossed up for taxes; is 
 
         13   that right? 
 
         14          A.   Yes. 
 
         15          Q.   Okay.  And on page 10, li ne 8, of your 
 
         16   testimony, you have a sentence there,  "While I agree 
 
         17   with the use of historic data to calc ulate the amount 
 
         18   of Rider DMR...."  Do you see that po rtion of the 
 
         19   sentence? 
 
         20          A.   Yes. 
 
         21          Q.   Okay.  Why do you agree w ith the use of 
 
         22   historic data to calculate the amount  of rider DMR? 
 
         23          A.   Because it's the data tha t's available. 
 
         24          Q.   Okay.  Any other reason? 
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          1          A.   No. 
 
          2          Q.   Okay.  And so your testim ony does not 
 
          3   site any projection of FirstEnergy Co rp. of CFO to 
 
          4   debt level without rider DMR for any time period 
 
          5   covered by ESP IV, correct? 
 
          6          A.   Yes. 
 
          7          Q.   Okay.  So we do not know,  from your 
 
          8   testimony, what FirstEnergy Corp.'s p rojected CFO 
 
          9   debt shortfall would be for any year of ESP IV, 
 
         10   correct? 
 
         11          A.   Yes. 
 
         12          Q.   Okay.  And you have -- is  there a reason 
 
         13   you did not provide such a projection  in your 
 
         14   testimony? 
 
         15          A.   My testimony provides imp rovements or 
 
         16   suggested modifications to the staff' s methodology. 
 
         17          Q.   Do you know what FirstEne rgy Corp.'s 
 
         18   projected CFO to debt level without r ider DMR is for 
 
         19   any time period covered by ESP IV? 
 
         20          A.   No. 
 
         21          Q.   Okay.  And did you ever a sk FirstEnergy 
 
         22   Corp. for such information? 
 
         23          A.   It's my understanding tha t that 
 
         24   information is material nonpublic inf ormation. 
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          1          Q.   So that's information tha t you would not 
 
          2   be able to access? 
 
          3          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
          4   please? 
 
          5          Q.   Is it your understanding that you would 
 
          6   not be able to access that informatio n from 
 
          7   FirstEnergy Corp.? 
 
          8          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
          9   please? 
 
         10          Q.   What do you find confusin g? 
 
         11          A.   "Access." 
 
         12          Q.   Is it your understanding you would not be 
 
         13   able to obtain such information from FirstEnergy 
 
         14   Corp.? 
 
         15          A.   I think I'm -- I might be  able to obtain 
 
         16   that information, but it would still be material 
 
         17   nonpublic information if I did. 
 
         18          Q.   Okay.  So it's your under standing that it 
 
         19   is information you would -- even if y ou had obtained 
 
         20   it, you would not be able to provide to the parties 
 
         21   or the Commission in this proceeding.  
 
         22          A.   Correct. 
 
         23               MR. KUTIK:  Let's go off the record for a 
 
         24   minute. 
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          1               (Discussion off the recor d.) 
 
          2          Q.   (By Mr. Fisk) Okay.  Ms. Mikkelsen, am I 
 
          3   correct your testimony does not provi de any provision 
 
          4   of FirstEnergy's corporate CFO to deb t level with 
 
          5   rider DMR for any time period covered  by ESP IV? 
 
          6               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
          7   answered. 
 
          8          A.   Yes. 
 
          9          Q.   Okay.  And is that -- and  have you seen 
 
         10   any such projection? 
 
         11               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         12   answered. 
 
         13               MR. FISK:  Mr. Kutik, the se questions -- 
 
         14   the previous questions were without r ider DMR.  I am 
 
         15   now asking with rider DMR.  So it's a  different set 
 
         16   of questions. 
 
         17               MR. KUTIK:  Same objectio n. 
 
         18          A.   No. 
 
         19          Q.   And did you ever ask Firs tEnergy Corp. 
 
         20   for such projections? 
 
         21          A.   No. 
 
         22          Q.   And so we do not know, fr om your 
 
         23   testimony, whether the rider DMR woul d enable 
 
         24   FirstEnergy Corp. to achieve a CFO to  debt level of 
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          1   15 percent for any year of ESP IV, co rrect? 
 
          2               MR. KUTIK:  May I have th e question read, 
 
          3   please? 
 
          4               (Record read.) 
 
          5          A.   Rider DMR is not designed  to assure a 
 
          6   15 percent CFO to debt ratio. 
 
          7          Q.   Okay.  And your testimony  does not 
 
          8   provide any projection of FirstEnergy  Corp.'s FFO to 
 
          9   debt level with rider DMR for any tim e period covered 
 
         10   by the ESP IV, correct? 
 
         11          A.   Yes. 
 
         12          Q.   And so there are -- there 's no assurance 
 
         13   that rider -- 
 
         14               MR. HAYS:  Shannon. 
 
         15               MR. FISK:  Yeah. 
 
         16               MR. HAYS:  Shannon, this is Tom Hays.  I 
 
         17   just wanted to let you know I joined the phone 
 
         18   conversation. 
 
         19               MR. FISK:  Okay.  Thank y ou. 
 
         20          Q.   (By Mr. Fisk) Let me star t that question 
 
         21   over again. 
 
         22               There is no assurance tha t rider DMR 
 
         23   would enable FirstEnergy Corp. to ach ieve a FFO to 
 
         24   debt level of at least 12 percent for  any year of ESP 
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          1   IV, correct? 
 
          2          A.   Rider DMR is not designed  to allow the 
 
          3   companies to achieve a 12 percent FFO  to debt ratio. 
 
          4          Q.   Okay.  And have you calcu lated the CFO to 
 
          5   debt level for any of the companies f or any of the 
 
          6   years 2012 through 2014? 
 
          7               MS. WILLIS:  May I have t hat question 
 
          8   reread, please. 
 
          9               (Record read.) 
 
         10          A.   No. 
 
         11          Q.   So do you know whether th e companies' CFO 
 
         12   debt level for any of the years 2012 through 2014 was 
 
         13   under 15 percent? 
 
         14          A.   I recall seeing those num bers, but I 
 
         15   don't remember what they were. 
 
         16          Q.   And where do you recall s eeing those 
 
         17   numbers? 
 
         18          A.   In various reports. 
 
         19          Q.   Internal reports or somet hing external to 
 
         20   the company? 
 
         21          A.   External. 
 
         22          Q.   Okay.  And do you know we re these, like, 
 
         23   reports from Moody's or some credit r ating agency? 
 
         24          A.   That's what I have in min d, yes. 
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          1          Q.   Okay.  And your testimony  doesn't provide 
 
          2   any projection of the CFO to debt lev el without rider 
 
          3   DMR for any of the companies for any time period 
 
          4   covered by the ESP IV, correct? 
 
          5               MR. KUTIK:  May I have th e question read, 
 
          6   please. 
 
          7               (Record read.) 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          9          A.   Yes. 
 
         10          Q.   And why -- why didn't you  provide any 
 
         11   such projection? 
 
         12          A.   It would be material nonp ublic 
 
         13   information. 
 
         14          Q.   Okay.  And is that true a lso with regards 
 
         15   to any projections of CFO to debt lev el with rider 
 
         16   DMR for the companies? 
 
         17          A.   I don't know whether that  projection 
 
         18   exists. 
 
         19          Q.   Okay. 
 
         20          A.   But it would -- if it did , it would be 
 
         21   material nonpublic information.  I do n't think it 
 
         22   does. 
 
         23          Q.   Okay.  Okay.  On page 12,  lines 11 
 
         24   through 17, of your testimony, you di scuss your use 
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          1   of net income as the basis for your a llocation factor 
 
          2   in calculating the credit support tha t the companies 
 
          3   would provide under rider DMR; is tha t correct? 
 
          4          A.   Yes. 
 
          5          Q.   Okay.  And what is the pu rpose for -- 
 
          6   strike that. 
 
          7               What is your reason for u sing an 
 
          8   allocation factor in your calculation  to the credit 
 
          9   support portion of rider DMR? 
 
         10          A.   It is the staff's proposa l to use an 
 
         11   allocation. 
 
         12          Q.   Okay.  So are you -- do y ou have no 
 
         13   opinion as to whether an allocation f actor should be 
 
         14   used? 
 
         15          A.   My opinion is that net in come is a more 
 
         16   appropriate allocation factor to use.  
 
         17          Q.   Okay.  But you don't have  an opinion as 
 
         18   to whether there should be an allocat ion factor, 
 
         19   leaving aside what that allocation fa ctor is, you 
 
         20   don't have an opinion as to whether t here should be 
 
         21   an allocation factor used; is that co rrect? 
 
         22          A.   My belief is that the sta ff's methodology 
 
         23   is reasonable and requires modificati ons to 
 
         24   accomplish what their intent is with the calculation, 
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          1   but that the calculation they suggest  is reasonable. 
 
          2          Q.   Okay.  So the use of some  allocation 
 
          3   factor is reasonable, you're just off ering testimony 
 
          4   as to a different type of allocation factor that you 
 
          5   believe should be used; is that corre ct? 
 
          6          A.   I'm suggesting a more app ropriate 
 
          7   allocation factor to use in the calcu lation. 
 
          8          Q.   As -- as a general princi ple, would you 
 
          9   agree that the level of credit suppor t that any 
 
         10   particular subsidiary of FirstEnergy Corp. should be 
 
         11   asked to provide should be consistent  with the 
 
         12   proportion of the credit shortfall th at the 
 
         13   subsidiary is responsible for? 
 
         14               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         15          A.   No. 
 
         16          Q.   Okay.  Why not? 
 
         17          A.   I think a more appropriat e alignment is 
 
         18   with credit support historically prov ided. 
 
         19          Q.   Okay.  And why do you bel ieve that is 
 
         20   more appropriate? 
 
         21          A.   Because it would be consi stent with past 
 
         22   practice. 
 
         23          Q.   And what level of credit support has the 
 
         24   companies historically provided to Fi rstEnergy Corp.? 
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          1          A.   Well, again, I am recomme nding here an 
 
          2   allocation factor of 40 percent based  on the 
 
          3   companies' contribution to net income . 
 
          4          Q.   Okay.  And that -- and so  that 
 
          5   40 percent, based on the companies' c ontribution to 
 
          6   net income, in your opinion, reflects  the level of 
 
          7   credit support that the companies his torically have 
 
          8   provided to FirstEnergy Corp.; is tha t right? 
 
          9               MR. KUTIK:  May I have th e question read, 
 
         10   please. 
 
         11               (Record read.) 
 
         12          A.   I think it represents -- I think it 
 
         13   provides a better representation of t he significance 
 
         14   of the companies to FirstEnergy Corp.  
 
         15          Q.   Okay.  To your knowledge,  do different 
 
         16   subsidiaries of FirstEnergy Corp. hav e different CFO 
 
         17   to debt levels? 
 
         18          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         19   please? 
 
         20          Q.   What do you find confusin g? 
 
         21          A.   I'm not sure what you mea n by "different 
 
         22   CFO levels." 
 
         23          Q.   Well, is the CFO level --  CFO to debt 
 
         24   level for each of the FirstEnergy Cor p.'s 
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          1   subsidiaries the same or do they -- d o they vary 
 
          2   depending on subsidiary? 
 
          3          A.   I would expect them to va ry. 
 
          4          Q.   Okay.  And if you -- if y ou've added up 
 
          5   the CFO to debt levels of the various  subsidiaries of 
 
          6   FirstEnergy Corp. -- strike that. 
 
          7               Do the CFO to debt levels  of the various 
 
          8   subsidiaries of FirstEnergy Corp. pla y a role in 
 
          9   determining what the overall FirstEne rgy Corp. CFO to 
 
         10   debt level is? 
 
         11               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         12               THE WITNESS:  May I ask t o have that 
 
         13   question reread, please. 
 
         14               (Record read.) 
 
         15          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         16   please? 
 
         17          Q.   What do you find confusin g? 
 
         18          A.   "Role." 
 
         19          Q.   In determining -- in dete rmining 
 
         20   FirstEnergy Corp.'s CFO to debt level , is that -- is 
 
         21   the -- do the CFO to debt levels of t he various 
 
         22   subsidiaries -- strike that.  Strike that. 
 
         23               Are the CFO to debt level s of the various 
 
         24   subsidiaries of FirstEnergy Corp. a f actor in the 
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          1   overall CFO to debt level of FirstEne rgy Corp.? 
 
          2               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          3          A.   Yes. 
 
          4          Q.   Are there other factors i n the 
 
          5   FirstEnergy Corp. CFO to debt level b esides the CFO 
 
          6   to debt levels of the various subsidi aries? 
 
          7               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          8          A.   I don't know what the int ricacies are of 
 
          9   the proprietary calculations used by the rating 
 
         10   agencies. 
 
         11          Q.   If you compare the CFO to  debt levels of 
 
         12   the various subsidiaries, would that give you a basis 
 
         13   for determining how much of FirstEner gy Corp.'s 
 
         14   overall CFO to debt shortfall each su bsidiary is 
 
         15   responsible for? 
 
         16               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         17          A.   I don't know. 
 
         18          Q.   What would you need to fi gure that out? 
 
         19          A.   The specifics of the calc ulation. 
 
         20          Q.   And are you referring the re to the 
 
         21   proprietary calculation done by Moody 's? 
 
         22          A.   Yes. 
 
         23          Q.   Anything else you would n eed to know? 
 
         24          A.   I don't know until I know  what the 
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          1   calculation is what else I would need  to know. 
 
          2          Q.   Okay. 
 
          3               MR. FISK:  Karen, do you have the Buckley 
 
          4   testimony? 
 
          5               THE NOTARY:  Yes. 
 
          6               MR. FISK:  Okay.  Could w e -- with the 
 
          7   Attachment 1 on it.  Could we mark th at as Exhibit 2. 
 
          8               (EXHIBIT MARKED FOR IDENT IFICATION.) 
 
          9          Q.   All right.  Ms. Mikkelsen , you've been 
 
         10   handed a document marked Exhibit 2 wh ich is the 
 
         11   rehearing testimony of Joseph Buckley ; is that 
 
         12   correct? 
 
         13          A.   I'm not sure. 
 
         14               THE WITNESS:  Did you say  there were 
 
         15   three attachments, Karen?  Because th e document I 
 
         16   have has only two. 
 
         17               MR. KUTIK:  Over there. 
 
         18          A.   I have the document. 
 
         19          Q.   Okay.  And do you have at  least 
 
         20   Attachment 1 on it? 
 
         21          A.   Yes, sir. 
 
         22          Q.   Okay.  And have you seen the document 
 
         23   before? 
 
         24          A.   Yes. 
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          1          Q.   Okay.  And is Attachment 1 to this 
 
          2   document the same Attachment 1 that y ou cite on page 
 
          3   12, lines 15 to 16, of your testimony ? 
 
          4          A.   Yes. 
 
          5          Q.   Okay.  And on those lines  in your 
 
          6   testimony on page 12, you say that yo u based the 
 
          7   40 percent allocation factor on 2015 net income; is 
 
          8   that correct? 
 
          9          A.   Yes. 
 
         10          Q.   Okay.  And if you look ov er at Attachment 
 
         11   1 to the Buckley testimony, let's jus t use the very 
 
         12   first page of that attachment, "Toled o Edison 
 
         13   Financial Highlights."  Do you see th at? 
 
         14          A.   It reads "Toledo Edison C ompany Financial 
 
         15   Highlights." 
 
         16          Q.   Yes.  Thank you.  And the re's a -- then 
 
         17   there's a header midway down the page  says "Income 
 
         18   Statement Highlights ($000)."  Do you  see that? 
 
         19          A.   Yes. 
 
         20          Q.   Okay.  So in calculating the 40 percent 
 
         21   allocation factor, did you use the ne t income figure 
 
         22   for 2015 that is represented under th e income 
 
         23   statement highlights section? 
 
         24               THE WITNESS:  May I ask t o have the 
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          1   question reread, please. 
 
          2               (Record read.) 
 
          3          A.   Yes. 
 
          4          Q.   Okay.  And why did you us e the net income 
 
          5   figure rather than the reported best operating income 
 
          6   figure? 
 
          7          A.   I felt it was a more appr opriate 
 
          8   allocation. 
 
          9          Q.   And why did you feel that  the net income 
 
         10   was a more appropriate allocation? 
 
         11          A.   Because it reflected the impact of cash 
 
         12   items like taxes and interest that wo uld not be 
 
         13   included in the reported net operatin g income. 
 
         14          Q.   Okay.  Any other reasons?  
 
         15          A.   None that I can think of at this time. 
 
         16          Q.   Okay.  If you could turn to page 17 of 
 
         17   your testimony. 
 
         18               MR. KUTIK:  Are we done w ith the Buckley 
 
         19   testimony? 
 
         20               MR. FISK:  Yes, at least for now. 
 
         21          Q.   (By Mr. Fisk) You are the re, 
 
         22   Ms. Mikkelsen? 
 
         23          A.   Yes. 
 
         24          Q.   Okay.  So starting on lin e 6, you have a 
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          1   section titled "Credit Support Across  FirstEnergy 
 
          2   Corp."  Do you see that? 
 
          3          A.   Yes. 
 
          4          Q.   Okay.  And then you ident ify in the 
 
          5   following discussion on page 17 over to page 18 steps 
 
          6   that other constituents have been tak ing to provide 
 
          7   credit support to FirstEnergy Corp.; is that correct? 
 
          8          A.   Yes. 
 
          9          Q.   Okay.  And specifically o n page 18, 
 
         10   starting at line 1 to line 12, you li st the Public 
 
         11   Utilities Commission proceedings from  other states 
 
         12   served by other FirstEnergy Corp. sub sidiaries, 
 
         13   correct? 
 
         14          A.   Yes. 
 
         15          Q.   Okay.  And let's look at the first one, 
 
         16   New Jersey, the first bullet you have  "Recovery of 
 
         17   2011 and 2012 storm costs totaling $7 36 million."  Do 
 
         18   you see that? 
 
         19          A.   Yes. 
 
         20          Q.   Okay.  And do you know wh at the docket 
 
         21   number is for that proceeding? 
 
         22          A.   No. 
 
         23          Q.   Have you reviewed any fil ings in that 
 
         24   proceeding? 
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          1          A.   I may have and I certainl y would have 
 
          2   been engaged in discussions while the  proceeding was 
 
          3   going on. 
 
          4          Q.   Okay.  And that proceedin g involves the 
 
          5   recovery from customers for funds for  specific 
 
          6   actions that the FirstEnergy Corp.'s subsidiary had 
 
          7   taken, correct? 
 
          8               THE WITNESS:  May I ask t o have the 
 
          9   question reread, please. 
 
         10               (Record read.) 
 
         11          A.   Yes. 
 
         12          Q.   Okay.  So that proceeding  did not involve 
 
         13   a request for customer funds to provi de credit 
 
         14   support to the subsidiary, correct? 
 
         15          A.   The proceeding was to rec over dollars 
 
         16   that had been expended by the company  associated with 
 
         17   storm restoration work in a timely --  to allow timely 
 
         18   and complete recovery of those dollar s. 
 
         19          Q.   Okay.  But the calculatio n of the dollar 
 
         20   amounts that were requested in that p roceeding were 
 
         21   not based on a level of credit suppor t that 
 
         22   FirstEnergy Corp.'s subsidiary may or  may not have 
 
         23   needed, correct? 
 
         24          A.   I think the underlying pr emise was that 
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          1   the companies had expended significan t dollars on 
 
          2   storm restoration, over $700 million,  and were 
 
          3   looking to recover that cash in a tim ely and complete 
 
          4   fashion, recognizing the impact that the cash outlay 
 
          5   had on the companies. 
 
          6          Q.   Okay.  So it was -- that proceeding in 
 
          7   New Jersey was an attempt to recover money that had 
 
          8   been expended providing some sort of service to the 
 
          9   subsidiaries' customers; is that corr ect? 
 
         10          A.   No. 
 
         11          Q.   Why is that not correct? 
 
         12          A.   I am not sure I agree wit h the 
 
         13   characterization of "service."  I mea n, these were 
 
         14   substantial dollars expended for rest oration of 
 
         15   damages arising from a storm.  So I'm  not sure I 
 
         16   would call that a "service."  It was a very capital 
 
         17   intensive process. 
 
         18          Q.   Well, those amounts were seeking to 
 
         19   recover costs that had been expended to ensure that 
 
         20   customers could continue receiving en ergy from the -- 
 
         21   from its subsidiary, correct? 
 
         22          A.   No. 
 
         23          Q.   No?  Okay.  Would -- how did the monies 
 
         24   collected in the recovery of 2011/201 2 storm costs 
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          1   proceeding, that you reference in you r testimony, 
 
          2   provide credit support to FirstEnergy  Corp.? 
 
          3          A.   The companies -- JCP&L ne eded to expend 
 
          4   significant dollars in order to resto re service to 
 
          5   our customers after storms and that t imely and full 
 
          6   or nearly full recovery of those doll ars eliminated 
 
          7   the need to continue to finance those  dollars through 
 
          8   other means. 
 
          9          Q.   In the current proceeding  rider DMR would 
 
         10   not provide the companies with recove ry of any funds 
 
         11   that it has already expended; is that  correct? 
 
         12          A.   Rider DMR would be used t o jump-start the 
 
         13   grid modernization activities for the  companies. 
 
         14          Q.   But it would not be used to provide 
 
         15   recovery for any funds the companies have already 
 
         16   expended on grid modernization, corre ct? 
 
         17          A.   Yes. 
 
         18          Q.   And is not -- the rider D MR revenues 
 
         19   would not be used to provide recovery  for any other 
 
         20   funds that the companies have already  expended, 
 
         21   correct? 
 
         22          A.   Yes. 
 
         23          Q.   And with regards to any o f the other 
 
         24   proceedings listed on page 18, lines 1 to 12, of your 
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          1   testimony, were any of the amounts so ught in those 
 
          2   proceedings proposed in order to prov ide credit 
 
          3   support to FirstEnergy Corp.? 
 
          4          A.   Any additional cash recei ved by the -- 
 
          5   pardon me.  Any additional cash recei ved via any of 
 
          6   these subsidiaries would contribute t o credit support 
 
          7   for FirstEnergy Corp. as well as the individual 
 
          8   subsidiaries. 
 
          9          Q.   But with regards to each of these 
 
         10   proceedings, the cash that would be - - that is being 
 
         11   requested in those proceedings would be spent on 
 
         12   identified projects or services, corr ect? 
 
         13               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         14               THE WITNESS:  May I have the question 
 
         15   reread, please. 
 
         16               (Record read.) 
 
         17          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         18   please? 
 
         19          Q.   What do you find confusin g? 
 
         20          A.   The question, I guess, ma ybe particularly 
 
         21   as it relates to specific projects. 
 
         22          Q.   Okay.  Well, let's take, for example, the 
 
         23   second bullet on your Pennsylvania, " Rate case 
 
         24   pending seeking $439 million annually ."  Do you see 
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          1   that? 
 
          2          A.   Yes. 
 
          3          Q.   Have you reviewed any of the filings in 
 
          4   that proceeding? 
 
          5          A.   Yes. 
 
          6          Q.   And would you know the ba sis for seeking 
 
          7   $439 million in that proceeding? 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          9          A.   The $439 million request is across four 
 
         10   separate proceedings representing fou r separate 
 
         11   utilities' subsidiaries that operate in Pennsylvania. 
 
         12   The composite request is based on a f uture test year, 
 
         13   an expectation of future expenses tha t will be 
 
         14   incurred as well as a future date cer tain. 
 
         15          Q.   Okay.  So the monies soug ht in that 
 
         16   Pennsylvania -- in those four separat e Pennsylvania 
 
         17   proceedings is being requested on the  expectation 
 
         18   that they would be used to cover expe cted future 
 
         19   expenses; is that correct? 
 
         20               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         21          A.   Future expenses as well a s a return of a 
 
         22   non-investment in the utilities. 
 
         23          Q.   And that 430 -- 39 millio n dollars that's 
 
         24   being requested would still provide c redit support to 
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          1   FirstEnergy Corp. even though that mo ney is expected 
 
          2   to be spent on projected future expen ses; is that 
 
          3   correct? 
 
          4               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, mi scharacterizes 
 
          5   her testimony. 
 
          6               THE WITNESS:  May I have the question 
 
          7   reread, please. 
 
          8               (Record read.) 
 
          9          A.   Additional dollars receiv ed pursuant to 
 
         10   this rate -- these pending rate cases  in Pennsylvania 
 
         11   would provide credit support to the f our companies. 
 
         12          Q.   Okay.  So -- so the compa nies -- and in 
 
         13   this case let's go back to the compan ies in our 
 
         14   proceeding, if they are provided reve nues from 
 
         15   customers, that money can provide cre dit support to 
 
         16   FirstEnergy Corp. even if that money also has to be 
 
         17   spent on a particular future activity ; is that 
 
         18   correct? 
 
         19          A.   Not necessarily. 
 
         20          Q.   Okay.  When would that no t be correct? 
 
         21          A.   If the dollars received a re spent on 
 
         22   expense-related matters, I would see those netting 
 
         23   one another out. 
 
         24          Q.   What do you mean by expen se-related 
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          1   matters? 
 
          2          A.   If we receive a dollar in  revenue and 
 
          3   spend a dollar in expense, there is n o incremental 
 
          4   cash from operations that results fro m that dollar. 
 
          5          Q.   Okay.  So then going back  to the four 
 
          6   separate proceedings in Pennsylvania,  if the 439 
 
          7   million is for future projected expen ses, how did 
 
          8   that amount provide credit support to  FirstEnergy 
 
          9   Corp.? 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, mi scharacterizes 
 
         11   her testimony. 
 
         12          A.   The companies project tod ay that those 
 
         13   expenses will be incurred.  The addit ion -- 
 
         14   additional revenue is what is increme ntal which would 
 
         15   improve, all else equal, the companie s' funds from 
 
         16   operation. 
 
         17          Q.   So the additional revenue  -- are you 
 
         18   referring there to the return that yo u would be 
 
         19   getting as part of the 439 million? 
 
         20          A.   In part. 
 
         21          Q.   Or are you referring to t he full -- in 
 
         22   part, sorry.  Are you referring to an y other portion 
 
         23   of the 439 million? 
 
         24          A.   To the extent -- yes. 
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          1          Q.   Okay.  What other portion s? 
 
          2          A.   Again, if the company pro jects it's going 
 
          3   to incur a certain level of expense, then all the 
 
          4   additional cash that comes in from th e rate cases is 
 
          5   an improvement to the cash from opera tions.  It's not 
 
          6   as though the companies can say we ar en't going to 
 
          7   incur this expense to provide service  to our 
 
          8   customers, so the notion is those exp enses will be 
 
          9   there.  The cash is what's accretive to the credit 
 
         10   metrics. 
 
         11          Q.   Okay, okay.  I think I un derstand.  Okay. 
 
         12   So in -- well, is that answer that yo u just -- that 
 
         13   explanation you just gave true with r egards to all of 
 
         14   the proceedings you identify on lines  1 through 12 on 
 
         15   page 18 of your testimony? 
 
         16          A.   I think there would be di scretion with 
 
         17   respect to the capital spent on the L TIIP and DSIC 
 
         18   programs. 
 
         19          Q.   I'm sorry. 
 
         20          A.   And I think that the asse t transfer of 
 
         21   Harrison to Monongahela Power would b e considered a 
 
         22   separate matter. 
 
         23          Q.   Okay.  But other than tho se two, the 
 
         24   other proceedings you identify, lines  1 through 12 on 
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          1   page 18, would be consistent with the  explanation you 
 
          2   gave? 
 
          3          A.   Yes, timely cash recovery  of expenses 
 
          4   being incurred by the companies. 
 
          5          Q.   Okay.  And when you say t here is 
 
          6   discretion with regards to the capita l recovery 
 
          7   filings, the LTIIP, DSIC, what did yo u mean? 
 
          8          A.   That those are filings th at are made by 
 
          9   the companies suggesting future capit al programs 
 
         10   pending approval prior to implementin g the programs. 
 
         11          Q.   Okay.  And how do those p rovide credit 
 
         12   support to the FirstEnergy Corp.? 
 
         13          A.   By allowing the companies  to earn a 
 
         14   timely return of and on those investm ents. 
 
         15          Q.   Okay.  So in this proceed ing, our current 
 
         16   proceeding, if the companies were to propose a 
 
         17   capital investment to -- strike that.  
 
         18               In our present proceeding  if the 
 
         19   companies were to propose capital rec overy for 
 
         20   investments in future capital project s and were to 
 
         21   timely receive that recovery, that wo uld also provide 
 
         22   credit support for FirstEnergy Corp.;  is that 
 
         23   correct? 
 
         24               THE WITNESS:  May I have that question 
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          1   reread, please. 
 
          2               (Record read.) 
 
          3               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          4          A.   That's not the companies'  proposal in 
 
          5   this proceeding. 
 
          6          Q.   Well, I understand that's  not the 
 
          7   companies' proposal.  I am trying to figure out if -- 
 
          8   you've identified a capital recovery filing in 
 
          9   Pennsylvania as providing credit supp ort to 
 
         10   FirstEnergy Corp.  And my question is  is there any 
 
         11   reason why a similar capital recovery  filing by the 
 
         12   companies in Ohio would not also prov ide credit 
 
         13   support to FirstEnergy Corp.? 
 
         14               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         15          A.   I don't know. 
 
         16          Q.   Why do you not know? 
 
         17          A.   I don't know what the pro posal would be. 
 
         18   I don't know what the terms of the pr oposal would be. 
 
         19   You know, I just -- I have no idea ho w to respond. 
 
         20          Q.   Well, as a general matter , would timely 
 
         21   recovery of future capital investment s by the 
 
         22   companies provide credit support to F irstEnergy 
 
         23   Corp.? 
 
         24               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
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          1          A.   I don't know without more  specifics. 
 
          2          Q.   What would you need to kn ow? 
 
          3               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
          4   answered. 
 
          5          A.   What the proposal is, wha t the terms of 
 
          6   the proposal are, what the expenditur es, what the 
 
          7   recovery mechanism and time frame is,  any number of 
 
          8   things.  There's a -- that's it. 
 
          9          Q.   If the companies were to submit the exact 
 
         10   same type of proposal you've identifi ed in the third 
 
         11   bullet point under Pennsylvania on pa ge 18 of your 
 
         12   testimony in Ohio, would that type of  proposal 
 
         13   provide credit support to FirstEnergy  Corp.? 
 
         14               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         15          A.   It may. 
 
         16          Q.   And why -- why may it? 
 
         17          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         18   please? 
 
         19          Q.   What's your -- what's you r basis for 
 
         20   saying that it may provide credit sup port? 
 
         21          A.   Again, it would be depend ent upon the 
 
         22   specific recovery allowed by the Comm ission. 
 
         23          Q.   Okay.  So if the companie s submitted the 
 
         24   same proposal that you are -- that yo u are 
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          1   referencing in the third bullet point  under 
 
          2   Pennsylvania on page 18 and the Commi ssion were to 
 
          3   grant them that request for recovery,  that would 
 
          4   provide credit support to FirstEnergy  Corp.? 
 
          5               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          6          A.   It would provide credit s upport to the 
 
          7   requesting companies or company. 
 
          8          Q.   And that, in turn, would provide credit 
 
          9   support to FirstEnergy Corp., correct ? 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         11          A.   Yes. 
 
         12          Q.   Okay.  If you could turn to page 6, line 
 
         13   13, of your testimony, you -- you ref er there to 
 
         14   "cash needs for debt redemption requi rements, which 
 
         15   exceed one billion dollars through 20 24."  Do you see 
 
         16   that? 
 
         17          A.   Yes. 
 
         18          Q.   Okay.  And the one billio n dollars, is 
 
         19   that -- is that an annual amount, or is that the 
 
         20   total amount over the time period fro m now through 
 
         21   2024? 
 
         22          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         23   please? 
 
         24          Q.   What do you find confusin g? 
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          1          A.   The reference to "one bil lion dollars." 
 
          2          Q.   Well, I am referring to t he one billion 
 
          3   dollars that you reference on line 13 . 
 
          4          A.   My line 13 says "exceed o ne billion 
 
          5   dollars."  It doesn't refer to "one b illion dollars." 
 
          6          Q.   Okay.  The "exceed one bi llion dollars" 
 
          7   figure that you refer to on line 13, page 6, of your 
 
          8   testimony, is that an annual amount, or is that the 
 
          9   total amount through 2024, from today  through 2024? 
 
         10          A.   It is a total amount. 
 
         11          Q.   Okay.  And -- and is the "exceed one 
 
         12   billion dollars, is that referring to  the -- is that 
 
         13   the amount of cash that is needed thr ough that time 
 
         14   period? 
 
         15               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         16          A.   It is the debt that is ma turing through 
 
         17   that time period. 
 
         18          Q.   Okay.  And do you know wh at the cash 
 
         19   needs for that debt that is maturing are? 
 
         20               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         21          A.   I would expect it to equa l the value of 
 
         22   the maturities. 
 
         23          Q.   And do you know what the value of the 
 
         24   maturity is? 
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          1          A.   It exceeds one billion do llars. 
 
          2          Q.   Okay.  So the -- so that -- so you would 
 
          3   expect the cash needs themselves to b e exceeding one 
 
          4   billion dollars, correct? 
 
          5          A.   As it relates to maturing  debt, yes. 
 
          6          Q.   Okay.  And if the Commiss ion were to 
 
          7   approve rider DMR as the companies' p roposed in terms 
 
          8   of the amount, could the revenues rec eived through 
 
          9   rider DMR be used to satisfy those ca sh needs? 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         11          A.   It could. 
 
         12          Q.   And you refer -- if you c ould turn to 
 
         13   page 5, lines 6 through 9, of your te stimony, you -- 
 
         14   there is a sentence there that starts  "As 
 
         15   Dr. Choueiki explains."  Do you see t hat? 
 
         16          A.   Yes. 
 
         17          Q.   Okay.  There is a discuss ion there that 
 
         18   "Rider DMR is intended to provide cre dit support to 
 
         19   the Companies to put them in a positi on to jump-start 
 
         20   distribution grid modernization initi atives."  Do you 
 
         21   see that? 
 
         22          A.   Yes. 
 
         23          Q.   Okay.  Are the companies willing to 
 
         24   commit to spend the revenues received  under rider DMR 
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          1   on distribution grid modernization in itiatives? 
 
          2          A.   No. 
 
          3          Q.   Are the companies willing  to make any 
 
          4   commitments regarding how the revenue s received under 
 
          5   rider DMR would be spent? 
 
          6          A.   The companies' intention to use those 
 
          7   dollars within the companies for thin gs like grid 
 
          8   modernization or preparatory work for  grid 
 
          9   modernization or potentially for serv icing maturing 
 
         10   debt among other possibilities. 
 
         11          Q.   Okay.  Are the companies willing to 
 
         12   commit to using all of the rider DMR revenues in the 
 
         13   companies? 
 
         14          A.   That is the companies' in tention. 
 
         15          Q.   But am I correct the comp anies are not 
 
         16   willing to commit that is the only wa y they would use 
 
         17   those revenues under rider DMR; is th at correct? 
 
         18               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         19   answered. 
 
         20          A.   Yes. 
 
         21          Q.   And would the companies b e able to 
 
         22   include revenues received under rider  DMR in 
 
         23   dividends up to FirstEnergy Corp.? 
 
         24               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
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          1          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
          2   please? 
 
          3          Q.   What do you find confusin g? 
 
          4          A.   Your use of "revenues." 
 
          5          Q.   The monies that the compa nies would 
 
          6   receive under rider DMR, would the co mpanies in any 
 
          7   way be restricted from including thos e monies in 
 
          8   dividends that are sent to FirstEnerg y Corp.? 
 
          9               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         10          A.   Dividends to FirstEnergy Corp. would come 
 
         11   from the equity of the companies. 
 
         12          Q.   Did you -- I'm sorry.  Di d you say 
 
         13   "companies" or "company"? 
 
         14          A.   The proper word is "compa nies." 
 
         15               MR. KUTIK:  Which I think  is what you 
 
         16   said. 
 
         17               MR. FISK:  I'm sorry.  I missed that. 
 
         18               MR. KUTIK:  That's what s he said.  She 
 
         19   said the word "companies." 
 
         20               MR. FISK:  Okay.  I just wanted to 
 
         21   clarify.  I didn't hear her correctly , I guess. 
 
         22          Q.   But the revenues received  -- strike that. 
 
         23               The monies received under  rider DMR would 
 
         24   contribute to the equity of the compa nies, correct? 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          2          A.   It's possible. 
 
          3          Q.   And the companies' propos als regarding 
 
          4   rider DMR do not in any way restrict the companies' 
 
          5   ability to provide dividends for Firs tEnergy Corp., 
 
          6   correct? 
 
          7               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          8          A.   Yes. 
 
          9          Q.   And are the companies pro posing that the 
 
         10   Commission would be able to in any wa y review how any 
 
         11   revenues collected from customers und er rider DMR 
 
         12   would be spent? 
 
         13               THE WITNESS:  May I ask t o have that 
 
         14   question reread, please. 
 
         15               (Record read.) 
 
         16          A.   That was not an element o f the staff's 
 
         17   proposal and I'm offering modificatio ns to more 
 
         18   properly construct rider DMR under th e staff's 
 
         19   proposal. 
 
         20          Q.   Okay.  Is it your underst anding that the 
 
         21   staff's proposal does not include any  Commission 
 
         22   review of how any monies collected fr om customers 
 
         23   under rider DMR would be spent? 
 
         24          A.   I did not see any such pr ovision in the 
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          1   staff testimony. 
 
          2          Q.   Okay.  And the companies are not 
 
          3   proposing to add any such provision t o rider DMR, 
 
          4   correct? 
 
          5          A.   The companies are recomme nding 
 
          6   modifications to rider DMR to more pr operly construct 
 
          7   rider DMR. 
 
          8          Q.   But am I correct that tho se modifications 
 
          9   that the companies are proposing does  not include any 
 
         10   provision for the Commission to be ab le to review how 
 
         11   revenues collected under rider DMR wo uld be spent? 
 
         12               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         13   answered. 
 
         14          A.   The companies aren't maki ng any such 
 
         15   recommendation because, again, we're simply 
 
         16   recommending modifications to more pr operly construct 
 
         17   rider DMR.  Having said that, the Com mission at any 
 
         18   time can look at whatever it chooses to look at. 
 
         19          Q.   Okay.  And on -- in your testimony, page 
 
         20   5, starting at line 13, going over to  page 6, line 9, 
 
         21   you discuss a number of investments t hat could be 
 
         22   made to modernize the distribution sy stem; is that 
 
         23   correct? 
 
         24          A.   Yes. 
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          1          Q.   Okay.  And are you aware of the companies 
 
          2   filing in a separate docket a distrib ution grid 
 
          3   modernization plan? 
 
          4          A.   Yes. 
 
          5          Q.   And outside of that plan,  are there any 
 
          6   other -- do the companies have any ot her written 
 
          7   plans for modernizing the distributio n grid? 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          9               THE WITNESS:  May I ask t o have that 
 
         10   question reread, please. 
 
         11               (Record read.) 
 
         12          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         13   please? 
 
         14          Q.   What do you find confusin g? 
 
         15          A.   Your use of "modernizing the distribution 
 
         16   grid." 
 
         17          Q.   Well, I'm -- I'm referrin g to the sorts 
 
         18   of activity you discuss on page 5, li ne 13, through 
 
         19   page 6, line 9, where you discuss dis tribution grid 
 
         20   modernization initiatives.  Are there  any other 
 
         21   written plans regarding distribution grid 
 
         22   modernization initiatives outside of the distribution 
 
         23   grid modernization filing in the sepa rate Commission 
 
         24   docket we were just discussing? 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          2          A.   There may have been work done under the 
 
          3   direction of counsel some years ago r elated to 
 
          4   modernizing some elements of the dist ribution system. 
 
          5          Q.   Okay.  Beyond that there' s nothing else; 
 
          6   is that correct? 
 
          7          A.   Not that I'm aware of. 
 
          8          Q.   Okay.  And does your test imony in this 
 
          9   proceeding in any way modify what the  companies are 
 
         10   proposing in the separate grid modern ization docket 
 
         11   that has been filed at the Commission ? 
 
         12          A.   No. 
 
         13          Q.   So in this -- in the pres ent proceeding, 
 
         14   are you making any commitments with r egards -- with 
 
         15   regards to distribution grid moderniz ation beyond 
 
         16   what is included in that filing in th e separate 
 
         17   Commission docket? 
 
         18               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         19          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         20   please? 
 
         21          Q.   What do you find confusin g? 
 
         22          A.   "Commitment." 
 
         23          Q.   Are you stating in this - - in the present 
 
         24   proceeding that the companies are goi ng to do 
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          1   anything on distribution grid moderni zation beyond 
 
          2   what is proposed in the separate Comm ission grid 
 
          3   modernization proceeding? 
 
          4          A.   This testimony talks abou t the potential 
 
          5   for integration of battery technology  as well as 
 
          6   other investments to modernize the di stribution 
 
          7   system such as the rehabilitation of the urban area 
 
          8   network systems or the replacement of  underground 
 
          9   cable that were not elements of the g rid 
 
         10   modernization plan that was filed wit h the 
 
         11   Commission. 
 
         12          Q.   Okay.  And beyond the ref erences to 
 
         13   those -- those initiatives that you j ust mentioned on 
 
         14   page 5, line 13, through page 6, line  9, of your 
 
         15   testimony, is there any other written  detail 
 
         16   regarding those initiatives? 
 
         17               THE WITNESS:  May I ask t o have that 
 
         18   question reread, please. 
 
         19               (Record read.) 
 
         20               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         21   answered. 
 
         22          A.   I mentioned a prior study  that would have 
 
         23   been done under the direction of coun sel a few years 
 
         24   ago, and I think beyond that I'm not aware of any 
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          1   other written study. 
 
          2          Q.   And if the Commission wer e to approve 
 
          3   distribution grid modernization initi atives in the 
 
          4   separate Commission proceeding, would  the companies 
 
          5   be seeking recovery of the costs of t hose initiatives 
 
          6   in that separate proceeding? 
 
          7               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          8          A.   The stipulation, the thir d supplemental 
 
          9   stipulation, filed in ESP IV lays out  the provisions 
 
         10   associated with cost recovery for pro grams that are 
 
         11   authorized in that proceeding. 
 
         12          Q.   Okay.  If the Commission were to approve 
 
         13   rider DMR, would that in any way impa ct the 
 
         14   companies' request for cost recovery for distribution 
 
         15   grid modernization initiatives? 
 
         16               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         17          A.   By improving the access t o the capital 
 
         18   markets under more favorable terms, i t could or would 
 
         19   serve to reduce the dollars needed to  be recovered 
 
         20   through the rider. 
 
         21          Q.   Which rider are you refer ring to there? 
 
         22          A.   The rider for the recover y of the grid 
 
         23   modernization dollars. 
 
         24          Q.   Okay.  But outside of tha t, the potential 
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          1   reduction in borrowing costs, would t he cash received 
 
          2   under rider DMR in any other way redu ce the amounts 
 
          3   that the -- or that the companies wou ld seek to 
 
          4   recover through the rider for distrib ution grid 
 
          5   modernization initiatives? 
 
          6               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          7               THE WITNESS:  May I ask t hat you reread 
 
          8   the question, please. 
 
          9               (Record read.) 
 
         10          A.   No. 
 
         11          Q.   Okay.  You on page 7 of y our testimony, 
 
         12   starting at line 6, you have a discus sion there about 
 
         13   "negative consequences of a rating do wngrade to a 
 
         14   non-investment grade."  Do you see th at? 
 
         15          A.   Yes. 
 
         16          Q.   And one of the negative c onsequences of a 
 
         17   rating downgrade to a non-investment grade would be a 
 
         18   potential increase in borrowing costs ; is that 
 
         19   correct? 
 
         20          A.   Yes. 
 
         21          Q.   And have you in any way q uantified the 
 
         22   impact to customers of increased borr owing costs that 
 
         23   would result from a rating downgrade to 
 
         24   non-investment grade? 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  I am going to  object as asked 
 
          2   and answered in the July 8 deposition .  Go ahead. 
 
          3          A.   I don't think we can make  that estimate 
 
          4   today without having knowledge about many things in 
 
          5   the future that would require us to s peculate about 
 
          6   things in the future. 
 
          7          Q.   Have you in any way quant ified how a 
 
          8   credit downgrade would impact the cos t of the 
 
          9   distribution modernization initiative s? 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  I'll also obj ect, same 
 
         11   grounds. 
 
         12          A.   No -- 
 
         13          Q.   Okay. 
 
         14          A.   -- for the same reasons. 
 
         15               MR. FISK:  Okay.  Could w e go off for a 
 
         16   second? 
 
         17               MR. KUTIK:  Certainly. 
 
         18               (Discussion off the recor d.) 
 
         19               MR. FISK:  I just had a c ouple more 
 
         20   questions.  Are we back on the record ? 
 
         21               THE NOTARY:  Yes. 
 
         22               MR. FISK:  Okay. 
 
         23          Q.   (By Mr. Fisk) Ms. Mikkels en, do the 
 
         24   companies have any written plan of ho w they would 
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          1   spend any cash received through rider  DMR? 
 
          2               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
          3   answered. 
 
          4          A.   No. 
 
          5          Q.   And have you seen any wri tten plan from 
 
          6   FirstEnergy Corp. on how it would get  to a 15 percent 
 
          7   CFO to debt level? 
 
          8          A.   No. 
 
          9               MR. FISK:  Okay.  That's all the 
 
         10   questions I have. 
 
         11               MR. KUTIK:  Okay.  Let's go off the 
 
         12   record. 
 
         13               (Discussion off the recor d.) 
 
         14               MR. KUTIK:  Let's go back  on the record. 
 
         15                           - - - 
 
         16                     CROSS-EXAMINATION 
 
         17   By Ms. Willis: 
 
         18          Q.   Good afternoon, Ms. Mikke lsen -- or good 
 
         19   morning, Ms. Mikkelsen. 
 
         20          A.   Good morning. 
 
         21          Q.   Now, going to page 14 of your testimony, 
 
         22   line 7, you state that "the Companies  recommend that 
 
         23   the value the PUCO approves for Rider  DMR should be 
 
         24   increased to recognize the value of t he condition 
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          1   Mr. Buckley is recommending be impose d on FirstEnergy 
 
          2   Corp. regarding its headquarters."  D o you see that? 
 
          3          A.   It reads in total "regard ing its 
 
          4   headquarters and the nexus of operati ons." 
 
          5          Q.   Yes.  Let me ask you this , what do you 
 
          6   mean by "nexus of operations"? 
 
          7          A.   That was a term from Mr. Buckley's 
 
          8   testimony but I take the nexus of ope rations to be 
 
          9   where the majority of the Service Com pany operations 
 
         10   reside. 
 
         11          Q.   And how is that different  than the 
 
         12   headquarters, the condition relating to the 
 
         13   headquarters? 
 
         14          A.   I think you could registe r a headquarters 
 
         15   in one geography and have the nexus o f operations in 
 
         16   a different geography. 
 
         17          Q.   Can you tell me what your  understanding 
 
         18   of the condition that Mr. Buckley is recommending be 
 
         19   imposed on FE Corp. with regard to th e headquarters 
 
         20   and the nexus of operations? 
 
         21          A.   In Exhibit 2 that we disc ussed earlier 
 
         22   today, it describes Mr. Buckley's con dition. 
 
         23          Q.   Ms. Mikkelsen, is the com mitment that 
 
         24   Mr. Buckley refers to in Exhibit 2 di fferent than the 



 
 
 
 
                                                                80 
          1   commitment that was made in the third  supplemental 
 
          2   stipulation, if you know? 
 
          3               THE WITNESS:  May I ask t o have that 
 
          4   question reread, please. 
 
          5               (Record read.) 
 
          6               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          7          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
          8   please? 
 
          9          Q.   What is it that you don't  understand 
 
         10   about my question, Ms. Mikkelsen? 
 
         11          A.   Your reference to Mr. Buc kley's 
 
         12   "commitment." 
 
         13          Q.   Perhaps I'm a little slow  this morning, I 
 
         14   haven't had enough coffee, but I thin k you referred 
 
         15   me to Exhibit 2, and you said that's where 
 
         16   Mr. Buckley's recommendation is as to  the condition 
 
         17   for rider DMR.  Are you disputing tha t that's where 
 
         18   he puts forth the condition -- 
 
         19               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         20          Q.   -- for rider DMR? 
 
         21               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, ar gumentative. 
 
         22          A.   No. 
 
         23          Q.   Again, I'm not understand ing why -- why 
 
         24   there is -- why you are unable to ans wer my question. 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  So what is yo ur question? 
 
          2          Q.   My question is is the com mitment that 
 
          3   Mr. Buckley refers to on Exhibit 2 th at -- Deposition 
 
          4   Exhibit 2 that was discussed earlier this morning, is 
 
          5   that commitment different than the co mmitment that 
 
          6   was made in the third supplemental st ipulation filed 
 
          7   in this proceeding? 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          9          A.   I don't see Mr. Buckley m aking a 
 
         10   commitment which your question implie s in Exhibit 2. 
 
         11          Q.   Mr. Buckley's recommendin g a commitment, 
 
         12   correct?  He is recommending that Fir stEnergy 
 
         13   Corporation be required to maintain i ts headquarters 
 
         14   and nexus of operations in Akron; is that correct? 
 
         15          A.   Not entirely, no. 
 
         16          Q.   And why is that not corre ct? 
 
         17          A.   He is merely stating a co ndition that has 
 
         18   to exist in order for rider DMR to co ntinue. 
 
         19          Q.   Ms. Mikkelsen, is the con dition that 
 
         20   Mr. Buckley testified that must exist  for the company 
 
         21   to continue to receive rider DMR diff erent than the 
 
         22   commitment that the company made in t he third 
 
         23   supplemental stipulation related to i ts headquarters 
 
         24   and its nexus of operations in Akron?  
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          1          A.   Yes. 
 
          2          Q.   Can you tell me how that is different? 
 
          3          A.   There was no rider DMR as  a provision of 
 
          4   the stipulation. 
 
          5          Q.   Apart from the fact that there was no 
 
          6   rider DMR as part of the stipulation,  can you tell me 
 
          7   if there is -- the condition that Mr.  Buckley 
 
          8   testifies to is any different than th e commitment 
 
          9   made in the third supplemental stipul ation by the 
 
         10   company? 
 
         11          A.   It's different. 
 
         12          Q.   And we already talked abo ut one 
 
         13   difference being that the third suppl emental 
 
         14   stipulation had no rider DMR.  What i s the other 
 
         15   differences? 
 
         16          A.   Mr. -- the staff's condit ion for rider 
 
         17   DMR makes the entirety of the dollars  collected under 
 
         18   rider DMR subject to refund. 
 
         19          Q.   And are you saying that t hat was not a 
 
         20   condition of the commitment contained  in the third 
 
         21   supplemental stipulation? 
 
         22          A.   Yes. 
 
         23          Q.   Is there any other differ ence between the 
 
         24   commitment made in the third suppleme ntal stipulation 
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          1   and the condition that Mr. Buckley te stifies to 
 
          2   regarding maintaining the headquarter s in Akron and 
 
          3   the nexus of operations? 
 
          4          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
          5   please? 
 
          6          Q.   Sure.  We talked about tw o differences 
 
          7   between Mr. Buckley's condition and t he companies' 
 
          8   commitment in the third supplemental stipulation. 
 
          9   The first was that the supplemental s tipulation had 
 
         10   no rider DMR attached to the commitme nt.  The second 
 
         11   item you mentioned is that the third supplemental 
 
         12   stipulation commitment did not have a  condition 
 
         13   making the -- for rider DMR making th e entirety of 
 
         14   the dollars collected subject to refu nd.  Are there 
 
         15   any other differences between the com panies' 
 
         16   commitment in the third supplemental stipulation and 
 
         17   the condition that Mr. Buckley speaks  of related to 
 
         18   rider DMR? 
 
         19          A.   Yes. 
 
         20          Q.   Can you tell me what thos e differences 
 
         21   are beyond those we've already discus sed? 
 
         22          A.   The commitment in the thi rd supplemental 
 
         23   stipulation was tied directly to ride r RRS.  The 
 
         24   condition in Mr. Buckley's testimony is not tied to 
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          1   rider RRS. 
 
          2          Q.   Okay.  Is there any other  condition that 
 
          3   is -- or any other difference that yo u can identify? 
 
          4          A.   None that I can think of at this time. 
 
          5          Q.   Thank you.  Now, is the c ondition that 
 
          6   was recommended by Mr. Buckley differ ent than the 
 
          7   commitment the PUCO spoke of in its o pinion and order 
 
          8   adopting the third supplemental stipu lation? 
 
          9          A.   It would be helpful to me  to see the 
 
         10   reference in the opinion and order yo u're referring 
 
         11   to. 
 
         12               MS. WILLIS:  Karen, do yo u have -- I am 
 
         13   not clear that you do.  Do you have a  copy of the 
 
         14   opinion and order in this proceeding?  
 
         15               THE NOTARY:  No. 
 
         16               MS. WILLIS:  Okay. 
 
         17          Q.   (By Ms. Willis) Ms. Mikke lsen, let me 
 
         18   read from that opinion and order and see if that 
 
         19   refreshes your recollection.  "The Co mmission also 
 
         20   notes that" -- 
 
         21               MR. KUTIK:  Excuse me.  E xcuse me.  Could 
 
         22   you tell me what page you are reading  from, please? 
 
         23               MS. WILLIS:  Yes.  If you  give me a 
 
         24   moment, I will find it. 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  Just for purp oses of the 
 
          2   record, it would help. 
 
          3               MS. WILLIS:  Absolutely.  That would be 
 
          4   page 97 of the opinion and order in t his proceeding 
 
          5   on March 31, 2016. 
 
          6          Q.   And the -- I'm reading th is to refresh 
 
          7   your recollection about the commitmen t the PUCO spoke 
 
          8   of.  "The Commission also notes that as the 
 
          9   stipulations provide that FirstEnergy  will retain its 
 
         10   corporate headquarters and nexus of o perations in 
 
         11   Akron, Ohio, for the duration of ride r RRS, the 
 
         12   stipulation ESP IV should be clarifie d such that if 
 
         13   FirstEnergy Corp. should move its hea dquarters" -- 
 
         14   "corporate headquarters in or nexus o f operations 
 
         15   from Akron, Ohio, during the period o f rider RRS, the 
 
         16   Commission may determine in its full discretion to 
 
         17   terminate rider RRS." 
 
         18               Now, given the excerpt th at I read you 
 
         19   from the Commission's opinion and ord er, can you tell 
 
         20   me how the PUCO's adopted commitment is different 
 
         21   than the condition that Mr. Buckley t estified should 
 
         22   be imposed associated with rider DMR?  
 
         23          A.   So these might have been better questions 
 
         24   addressed to Mr. Buckley regarding hi s proposal.  I 
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          1   can give my interpretation of his pro posal. 
 
          2          Q.   And I would appreciate th at.  Thank you. 
 
          3   If you could give me that. 
 
          4          A.   The Commission's order di d not in any way 
 
          5   rely upon a rider DMR.  The Commissio n's order was 
 
          6   tied to the -- the Commission's order  related to the 
 
          7   headquarters and the nexus of operati ons was tied to 
 
          8   the rider RRS.  And the Commission's order does not 
 
          9   contain a provision related to return ing all of the 
 
         10   rider RRS dollars like Mr. Buckley's proposal or 
 
         11   condition does with respect to rider DMR. 
 
         12          Q.   Is there any other differ ences that -- if 
 
         13   you know? 
 
         14          A.   Again, I don't have the d ocument in front 
 
         15   of me, so based on your read of the d ocument, that's 
 
         16   what comes to mind right now. 
 
         17          Q.   Thank you.  Now, can you tell me, 
 
         18   Ms. Mikkelsen, with respect to the co mpanies' 
 
         19   proposal what the companies' commitme nt is -- let me 
 
         20   strike that. 
 
         21               The company has also made  a commitment in 
 
         22   its proposal to maintaining the headq uarters of 
 
         23   FirstEnergy and nexus of operations i n Akron, 
 
         24   correct? 



 
 
 
 
                                                                87 
          1               MR. KUTIK:  Well, let me stop it there. 
 
          2   We have been talking through this cas e, at least this 
 
          3   rehearing, the proposal relating to r ider RRS and the 
 
          4   calculation of rider RRS.  Is that wh at you mean? 
 
          5               MS. WILLIS:  Yes.  I'm so rry.  I didn't 
 
          6   make that clear in the beginning of m y cross. 
 
          7          Q.   When I refer to "the prop osal," I am 
 
          8   talking about modified rider RRS, and  just wanted to 
 
          9   make sure you understand that, Ms. Mi kkelsen.  So my 
 
         10   question is with respect to the propo sal for modified 
 
         11   rider RRS, the company also makes a - - has made a 
 
         12   commitment to maintain its operations  and -- nexus of 
 
         13   operations and headquarters in Akron,  Ohio; is that 
 
         14   correct? 
 
         15               MR. KUTIK:  Objection.  G o ahead. 
 
         16          A.   My rehearing and surrebut tal testimony 
 
         17   does not address that provision of ri der RRS. 
 
         18          Q.   Is that provision of ride r RRS contained 
 
         19   in the proposed modified rider RRS? 
 
         20               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         21          A.   Yes. 
 
         22          Q.   And can you tell me if th at commitment is 
 
         23   any different from the condition test ified to by 
 
         24   Mr. Buckley for rider DMR? 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          2          A.   Again, that provision is not a topic I 
 
          3   address in my rehearing rebuttal or s urrebuttal 
 
          4   testimony. 
 
          5          Q.   Understanding that you do  not, you are 
 
          6   still testifying, are you not, in you r rebuttal 
 
          7   testimony that it is the companies' p osition that the 
 
          8   proposal and not a modified rider DMR  be adopted; is 
 
          9   that correct? 
 
         10          A.   Yes. 
 
         11          Q.   So with respect to the pr oposal, is the 
 
         12   commitment within the proposal to mai ntain 
 
         13   operation -- nexus of operations and headquarters in 
 
         14   Akron different than the commitment t hat Mr. Buckley 
 
         15   testified -- or different than the co ndition that 
 
         16   Mr. Buckley testifies to associated w ith rider DMR, 
 
         17   if you know? 
 
         18          A.   Yes. 
 
         19          Q.   And can you tell me how i t is 
 
         20   different -- would you tell me how it 's different, 
 
         21   Ms. Mikkelsen? 
 
         22          A.   In the companies' proposa l, that 
 
         23   commitment is tied to rider RRS.  Mr.  Buckley's 
 
         24   condition is tied to rider DMR.  And Mr. Buckley's 
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          1   condition includes the potential to r efund all of the 
 
          2   dollars collected under rider DMR if the headquarters 
 
          3   and nexus of operations should move.  There was no 
 
          4   provision like that in the company's proposal. 
 
          5          Q.   Thank you. 
 
          6          A.   Just to clarify, the comp anies' proposal 
 
          7   did not address this condition at all , that the 
 
          8   companies' proposal addressed changes  to the rider 
 
          9   RRS calculation.  It in no way addres sed this 
 
         10   provision that existed and was approv ed by the 
 
         11   Commission in the prior portion of th e hearings. 
 
         12          Q.   So are you saying, Ms. Mi kkelsen, that 
 
         13   the companies' proposal -- you are sa ying, 
 
         14   Ms. Mikkelsen, that the commitment th at was approved 
 
         15   by the Commission and is in the opini on and order 
 
         16   related to rider RRS would continue t o be the 
 
         17   commitment associated with the propos al in this 
 
         18   proceeding? 
 
         19          A.   Yes. 
 
         20          Q.   Thank you.  Now, with res pect to the 
 
         21   commitment for the companies' proposa l in this 
 
         22   proceeding related to maintaining the  headquarters 
 
         23   and nexus of operations in Akron, can  you tell me, is 
 
         24   that a commitment to retain a certain  number of jobs 
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          1   at the headquarters? 
 
          2               THE WITNESS:  May I ask t o have that 
 
          3   question reread, please. 
 
          4               (Record read.) 
 
          5          A.   The companies' address Mr . Buckley's 
 
          6   proposal by recommending that rider D MR would remain 
 
          7   in effect over the entire time of ESP  IV as long as 
 
          8   the FirstEnergy headquarters and nexu s of operations 
 
          9   remain in Akron, Ohio. 
 
         10          Q.   So -- so the commitment t o maintain the 
 
         11   headquarters in Akron, Ohio, and main tain the nexus 
 
         12   of operations is not a commitment to retain a certain 
 
         13   number of jobs; is that correct? 
 
         14               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         15          A.   I think the point I was t rying to make is 
 
         16   that the companies are recommending t hat DMR would 
 
         17   only remain in effect as long as the headquarters and 
 
         18   nexus of operations remain in Akron, Ohio. 
 
         19          Q.   And I guess my question i s could the 
 
         20   headquarters and nexus of operations remain in Akron, 
 
         21   Ohio, even if the number of employees  was reduced 
 
         22   to -- was reduced beyond the current level of 
 
         23   employees? 
 
         24               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
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          1          A.   Yes. 
 
          2          Q.   Would you agree with me t hat if the 
 
          3   number of employees is decreased from  the level 
 
          4   included in Ms. Murley's study, that that would 
 
          5   affect the value of the economic deve lopment that 
 
          6   Ms. Murley testifies to? 
 
          7               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, es pecially to the 
 
          8   extent it calls for speculation.  Go ahead. 
 
          9               MS. WILLIS:  I'm sorry.  I didn't hear 
 
         10   your objection, Mr. Kutik. 
 
         11               MR. KUTIK:  It's based on  speculation. 
 
         12   Go ahead then. 
 
         13          A.   I would say to the extent  that the 
 
         14   employment levels are higher than the  level included 
 
         15   in Ms. Murley's study, the economic b enefits would be 
 
         16   greater.  To the extent that they are  lower, then all 
 
         17   else equal, the benefits would be low er, but other 
 
         18   facts and circumstances may exist at the time that 
 
         19   would impact the number as well. 
 
         20          Q.   Now, the commitment to ke ep the 
 
         21   headquarters in Akron and nexus of op erations in 
 
         22   Akron is not a commitment to retain, for instance, 
 
         23   management employees at the office on  a full-time 
 
         24   basis; is that correct? 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          2          Q.   And I am talking about th e commitment 
 
          3   with respect to the proposal. 
 
          4          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question as 
 
          5   it relates to "commitment"? 
 
          6          Q.   Is the condition to keep the headquarters 
 
          7   in Akron associated and the nexus of operations in 
 
          8   Akron that's associated with the prop osal as approved 
 
          9   by the Commission -- let me strike th at. 
 
         10               Is the commitment or the condition to 
 
         11   keep the headquarters in Akron associ ated with the 
 
         12   proposal a commitment to retain certa in employees, 
 
         13   for instance, management employees, a t the office -- 
 
         14   headquarters on a full-time basis? 
 
         15          A.   So is your question now g oing back to the 
 
         16   rider RRS proposal that's been approv ed by the 
 
         17   Commission already? 
 
         18          Q.   Yes. 
 
         19          A.   So may I ask you to -- 
 
         20          Q.   But -- I'm sorry.  Go ahe ad. 
 
         21          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question in 
 
         22   that specific context? 
 
         23          Q.   Okay.  And perhaps -- I a ppreciate 
 
         24   your -- I can see you are trying to r espond.  I guess 
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          1   really my question is going to the pr oposal which is 
 
          2   the modified rider RRS proposal.  So with respect to 
 
          3   the modified rider RRS proposal which  is what the -- 
 
          4   what the company is recommending at t his point, is 
 
          5   that commitment that relates back to rider RRS, is 
 
          6   that a commitment to retain certain e mployees, 
 
          7   management employees, at the office o n a full-time 
 
          8   basis for any period of time? 
 
          9               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         10          A.   There is nothing in the m odification -- 
 
         11   the proposal to modify the rider RRS calculation that 
 
         12   addresses the headquarters and nexus of operations 
 
         13   condition that was agreed to in the s tipulation and 
 
         14   approved by the Commission. 
 
         15          Q.   Is it your understanding -- I'm sorry. 
 
         16   Were you finished? 
 
         17          A.   Yes. 
 
         18          Q.   Is it your understanding that the 
 
         19   condition that was agreed to by the C ommission 
 
         20   associated with the third supplementa l stipulation 
 
         21   and rider RRS was not a commitment to  keep the 
 
         22   headquarters in Akron and the nexus o f operations in 
 
         23   Akron, that was not a commitment to r etain certain 
 
         24   employees, management employees, at t he office on a 
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          1   full-time basis? 
 
          2               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          3          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
          4   please? 
 
          5          Q.   What part of the question , Ms. Mikkelsen, 
 
          6   are you having trouble with? 
 
          7          A.   Perhaps it's the length a nd the -- it 
 
          8   touches on a number of different thin gs, and then 
 
          9   it's difficult for me to answer.  It' s almost 
 
         10   compound in the conditions that are b uilt into it to 
 
         11   come to the answer so that's my troub le. 
 
         12               MR. KUTIK:  Also seemed l ike you changed 
 
         13   it mid-question to me.  Go ahead. 
 
         14          Q.   Okay.  The condition rela ted to modified 
 
         15   rider RRS pertaining to keeping the h eadquarters in 
 
         16   Akron and the nexus of operations in Akron, is that a 
 
         17   condition that would require the comp anies or 
 
         18   FirstEnergy Corp. to retain certain m anagement 
 
         19   employees at the office on a full-tim e basis? 
 
         20          A.   I think so, yes. 
 
         21          Q.   And can you explain what management 
 
         22   employees -- can you further explain how you -- can 
 
         23   you further explain your answer why y ou believe that 
 
         24   is a commitment to retain management employees at the 
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          1   office on a full-time basis? 
 
          2               MR. KUTIK:  Well, I'll ob ject.  That's 
 
          3   compound.  You can answer the last qu estion. 
 
          4               THE WITNESS:  May I ask y ou to repeat the 
 
          5   question, please. 
 
          6               MR. KUTIK:  Do you want K aren to read it? 
 
          7               THE WITNESS:  Please.  Ma y I have it 
 
          8   reread, please. 
 
          9               (Record read.) 
 
         10          A.   The tie to the nexus of o perations, I 
 
         11   think, suggests that. 
 
         12          Q.   Okay.  Ms. Mikkelsen, let 's move to page 
 
         13   2 of your testimony, specifically lin es 6 through 8, 
 
         14   you state that "The Staff's alternati ve to the 
 
         15   Proposal is a Distribution Modernizat ion Rider under 
 
         16   RC 4928.143(B)(2)(h) to enable the Co mpanies to 
 
         17   jump-start grid modernization initiat ives."  Can you 
 
         18   tell me what you mean by that when yo u refer to the 
 
         19   statute? 
 
         20          A.   I'm referring here to the  staff's 
 
         21   testimony that refers to the statute.  
 
         22          Q.   So you are accepting the staff's 
 
         23   representation that their alternative  to the proposal 
 
         24   is a distribution modernization rider  under RC 
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          1   4928.143(B)(2)(h). 
 
          2          A.   Yes. 
 
          3          Q.   Is there any other basis for your 
 
          4   statement that the staff's alternativ e to the 
 
          5   proposal is a distribution modernizat ion rider under 
 
          6   that specific statute? 
 
          7          A.   Again, I'm referring here  to the staff's 
 
          8   reference to this statute, not my bel ief. 
 
          9               MR. KUTIK:  Excuse me. 
 
         10          Q.   I'm sorry. 
 
         11               MR. KUTIK:  I think we ha ve her answer on 
 
         12   the record.  Go ahead. 
 
         13               MS. WILLIS:  Can we have the answer 
 
         14   reread because I didn't mean to inter rupt.  It's a 
 
         15   little difficult here, but if we coul d have her 
 
         16   answer reread -- the question and her  answer reread, 
 
         17   that would be great.  Thank you. 
 
         18               (Record read.) 
 
         19          Q.   Ms. Mikkelsen, do you hav e a belief that 
 
         20   the Staff's alternative to the propos al is a 
 
         21   distribution modernization rider unde r that statute? 
 
         22          A.   Yes. 
 
         23          Q.   And what is that belief b ased on? 
 
         24          A.   I believe that rider DMR is a 
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          1   distribution infrastructure moderniza tion rider under 
 
          2   4928.143(B)(2)(h).  I believe it also  is a rider -- 
 
          3   pardon me.  I believe it also satisfi es the provision 
 
          4   of single-issue ratemaking and incent ive ratemaking 
 
          5   as it relates to -- or as it's design ed to propose 
 
          6   credit support to the companies. 
 
          7               And, further, I think it has economic 
 
          8   development and job-retention benefit s under a 
 
          9   separate provision under 4928.143(B)( 2).  I believe 
 
         10   the provision is (i). 
 
         11          Q.   Let's go back for a momen t, specifically 
 
         12   to the first belief, and your belief -- I think you 
 
         13   referred to your belief that the staf f's alternative 
 
         14   is a distribution modernization rider  under 
 
         15   4928.143(B)(2)(h).  Is that your own independent 
 
         16   opinion, Ms. Mikkelsen? 
 
         17               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         18          A.   Yes. 
 
         19          Q.   Is that opinion based in any part on 
 
         20   advice of counsel? 
 
         21               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, in struct you not 
 
         22   to answer. 
 
         23               MS. WILLIS:  Mr. Kutik, I  would note if 
 
         24   it is based on advice of counsel, by putting that 
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          1   opinion in her testimony, she has wai ved the right to 
 
          2   claim attorney-client privilege. 
 
          3               MR. KUTIK:  She never cla imed it was 
 
          4   based upon advice of counsel and does n't say so in 
 
          5   her testimony.  And you just asked he r whether it was 
 
          6   her independent opinion, and she said  "yes."  Whether 
 
          7   she had any discussions with counsel on the subject 
 
          8   is seeking information that relates t o 
 
          9   attorney-client privilege, and I will  continue to 
 
         10   instruct her not to answer questions on that subject. 
 
         11          Q.   (By Ms. Willis) Ms. Mikke lsen, did you 
 
         12   rely on anything other than your own regulatory 
 
         13   experience in determining that the st aff's proposal 
 
         14   is a distribution modernization rider  under 
 
         15   4928.143(B)(2)? 
 
         16          A.   I'm giving you my opinion  as a 
 
         17   non-attorney. 
 
         18          Q.   Now, you also indicated t hat you believe 
 
         19   that the staff's proposed distributio n -- or staff's 
 
         20   proposed rider DMR is a -- satisfies a single-issue 
 
         21   ratemaking provision under the statut e.  Can you tell 
 
         22   me what the basis of that opinion is?  
 
         23          A.   The basis of that opinion , as I said 
 
         24   earlier, really relates to the credit  support, 
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          1   attributes of rider DMR. 
 
          2          Q.   And can you explain to me  how a credit 
 
          3   support attribute of rider DMR makes it a 
 
          4   single-issue ratemaking issue under t he law? 
 
          5          A.   I'm not an attorney, so f rom a 
 
          6   non-attorney perspective, my view is the rider is 
 
          7   designed to do one thing, provide cre dit support so 
 
          8   that is a single issue from a ratemak ing perspective. 
 
          9          Q.   Do you consider providing  credit support 
 
         10   to be a ratemaking -- to be ratemakin g? 
 
         11          A.   I think approval of rider  DMR is 
 
         12   ratemaking. 
 
         13          Q.   Now, you also mentioned t hat you believe 
 
         14   rider DMR is incentive ratemaking und er the statute. 
 
         15   Can you tell me what that -- what the  basis of your 
 
         16   statement is there? 
 
         17          A.   Again, rider DMR is desig ned to provide 
 
         18   credit support to jump-start grid mod ernization, so I 
 
         19   consider that to be incentive ratemak ing. 
 
         20          Q.   And that is your opinion as a 
 
         21   non-attorney; is that correct? 
 
         22               MR. KUTIK:  We'll stipula te to that. 
 
         23   What's your next question? 
 
         24          Q.   So you are not providing a legal opinion 
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          1   that -- that the rider DMR fits as a provision under 
 
          2   the statute; is that correct? 
 
          3               MR. KUTIK:  We'll stipula te to that, too. 
 
          4               MS. WILLIS:  Okay. 
 
          5          Q.   And will you also stipula te that with 
 
          6   respect to rider DMR being -- qualify ing as economic 
 
          7   development and job retention under t he law? 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  Yeah.  She is  not giving any 
 
          9   opinion as an attorney.  She is givin g her opinion as 
 
         10   a regulatory expert in this area for decades. 
 
         11               MS. WILLIS:  Thank you. 
 
         12          Q.   Now, let's go to page 3, line 15 through 
 
         13   18, and there you state that "Rider R RS as originally 
 
         14   approved and as modified by the Propo sal is not a 
 
         15   subsidy to stabilize the Companies an d protect them 
 
         16   from financial harm as they transitio n SSO service to 
 
         17   market-based pricing and separate the ir generation 
 
         18   assets."  Do you see that reference? 
 
         19          A.   I do. 
 
         20          Q.   Can you tell me what the basis of this 
 
         21   conclusion is? 
 
         22          A.   Yes. 
 
         23          Q.   Would you tell me what is  the basis of 
 
         24   this conclusion? 
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          1          A.   Rider RRS, as designed an d approved, was 
 
          2   to protect customers against retail r ate volatility 
 
          3   and increasing prices through a hedge  mechanism. 
 
          4          Q.   And there you are giving your nonlegal 
 
          5   opinion that rider RRS is not a trans ition charge 
 
          6   under Ohio law? 
 
          7          A.   Yes.  Rider RRS is not a transition 
 
          8   charge. 
 
          9          Q.   And, again, that is your nonlegal 
 
         10   opinion, correct? 
 
         11          A.   I'm not offering you a le gal opinion, 
 
         12   correct. 
 
         13          Q.   And when you say that rid er RRS, and I am 
 
         14   parsing out your answer in page 3, li ne 15 through 
 
         15   18, is not a subsidy, can you tell me  the basis of 
 
         16   that statement? 
 
         17               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         18          A.   What that statement reads  in total is 
 
         19   "Rider RRS as originally approved and  as modified by 
 
         20   the Proposal is not a subsidy to stab ilize the 
 
         21   Companies and protect them from finan cial harm as 
 
         22   they transition SSO service to market -based pricing 
 
         23   and separate their generation assets. " 
 
         24          Q.   Is rider RRS a subsidy? 
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          1          A.   No. 
 
          2          Q.   Is modified -- is rider R RS as modified 
 
          3   by the proposal a subsidy? 
 
          4          A.   No. 
 
          5          Q.   And on what basis did you  determine 
 
          6   that -- that neither rider RRS or the  proposed 
 
          7   modified rider RRS is not a subsidy? 
 
          8          A.   Rider RRS as originally a pproved and as 
 
          9   modified by the proposal is a retail rate hedge 
 
         10   provided to the companies' customers in order to 
 
         11   provide them rate stability and prote ct them against 
 
         12   increasing prices and price volatilit y. 
 
         13          Q.   Can you tell me, when you  use the term 
 
         14   "subsidy" on page 3, lines 15 through  18, what you 
 
         15   mean there?  Actually, it's line 16.  But let me 
 
         16   rephrase that.  When you testify on p age 3, line 16, 
 
         17   and you use the term "subsidy," can y ou tell me how 
 
         18   you define "subsidy"? 
 
         19          A.   The word -- what I'm sayi ng there is that 
 
         20   rider RRS, as approved and modified b y the proposal, 
 
         21   is not a subsidy to stabilize the com panies and 
 
         22   protect them from financial harm as t hey transition 
 
         23   SSO to market-based pricing and separ ate their 
 
         24   generation assets.  So I'm saying -- I am saying what 
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          1   it is not.  It is not a subsidy desig ned to do those 
 
          2   things; rather, rider RRS, as origina lly approved and 
 
          3   modified by the proposal, is a retail  rate stability 
 
          4   mechanism for our customers. 
 
          5          Q.   I understand, and I am as king you, 
 
          6   Ms. Mikkelsen, how, when you say it " is not a 
 
          7   subsidy," how you define the term "su bsidy." 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
          9   answered.  She referred you to her te stimony. 
 
         10               MS. WILLIS:  I don't thin k she's 
 
         11   answered. 
 
         12               MR. KUTIK:  She has.  So you want to tell 
 
         13   her again. 
 
         14               MS. WILLIS:  I am not goi ng to debate. 
 
         15   I'm going to ask the question again. 
 
         16               MR. KUTIK:  I am telling the witness if 
 
         17   she wants to restate her answer again  or stand on her 
 
         18   answer, she can do that. 
 
         19          A.   I'll stand on my answer.  Thank you. 
 
         20          Q.   So as we sit here today, you cannot 
 
         21   define what -- when you use the term "subsidy," you 
 
         22   cannot define it; is that what you ar e telling me? 
 
         23               MR. KUTIK:  Well, that mi scharacterizes 
 
         24   her testimony.  It's also argumentati ve. 
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          1          Q.   Can you tell me what the attributes of a 
 
          2   subsidy are, Ms. Mikkelsen?  How you determine 
 
          3   something is a subsidy or is not a su bsidy? 
 
          4               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
          5   answered, and beyond the scope of her  rebuttal 
 
          6   testimony. 
 
          7          A.   I'll stand on my answers.   Thank you. 
 
          8          Q.   Is your testimony that if  value is given, 
 
          9   there is not a subsidy?  Is that your  testimony? 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         11          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         12   please? 
 
         13          Q.   In determining whether so mething is a 
 
         14   subsidy or not, if value is given for  the charge or 
 
         15   the -- let me strike that.  Let's sta rt with a 
 
         16   hypothetical. 
 
         17               Let's say we have a charg e and that 
 
         18   charge provides a hedge to customers.   Is it your 
 
         19   testimony that because customers are getting some 
 
         20   value, the hedge value for the amount  they are 
 
         21   paying, that means there is no subsid y? 
 
         22               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, in complete 
 
         23   hypothetical. 
 
         24               THE WITNESS:  May I have the question 
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          1   reread, please? 
 
          2               (Record read.) 
 
          3          A.   Yes. 
 
          4          Q.   So does it determine -- d oes whether or 
 
          5   not it is a subsidy depend upon the a mount of value 
 
          6   that is given in exchange for the cha rge? 
 
          7               MR. KUTIK:  Objection.  I  don't know 
 
          8   where we are in the record in terms o f a hypothetical 
 
          9   so. 
 
         10          A.   Yeah.  I'm having difficu lty as well. 
 
         11   Perhaps you could rephrase the questi on. 
 
         12          Q.   When you use the term "su bsidy" on 
 
         13   page 3, line 16, are you referring to  any term used 
 
         14   in a statute in Ohio law?  Is that a reference to a 
 
         15   statute -- statutory term in Ohio law ? 
 
         16          A.   My use of the word "subsi dy" on page 3 is 
 
         17   really addressing Dr. Choueiki's conc ern that the 
 
         18   company's proposal might be construed  as a transition 
 
         19   charge.  It is not in specific refere nce to anything 
 
         20   other than that. 
 
         21          Q.   Thank you. 
 
         22               Now, on page 4, line 2, y ou say "There is 
 
         23   no 'transition' for which the Compani es would be 
 
         24   collecting transition costs through R ider RRS as 
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          1   originally approved or as modified by  the Proposal." 
 
          2   Now, can you tell me why you are plac ing the word 
 
          3   "transition" in quotes? 
 
          4          A.   Again, Dr. Choueiki has e xpressed concern 
 
          5   that the proposal could be construed as a transition 
 
          6   charge, so I am addressing his concer n by saying 
 
          7   there is no transition. 
 
          8          Q.   Are you making -- you are  giving an 
 
          9   opinion, Ms. Mikkelsen, as to whether  or not rider 
 
         10   RRS, as originally approved or as mod ified by the 
 
         11   proposal, is a transition charge unde r Ohio law? 
 
         12          A.   Yeah, I am saying it is n ot a transition 
 
         13   charge because there is no transition .  The 
 
         14   companies -- there is no transition g oing on at this 
 
         15   time.  The companies began procuring their SSO supply 
 
         16   competitively in 2009, and no longer have any 
 
         17   generation assets, so there is no -- the companies 
 
         18   are not in a transition, so this cann ot be a 
 
         19   transition charge. 
 
         20          Q.   And when you use the term  "transition" in 
 
         21   "transition charge," you are not refe rring to those 
 
         22   charge -- the language that's used in  the Ohio 
 
         23   statutes; is that correct? 
 
         24          A.   I think I am being defere ntial to those 
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          1   terms in the statute. 
 
          2          Q.   And is that -- are you gi ving a legal 
 
          3   opinion that the rider is not a trans ition charge 
 
          4   under Ohio law? 
 
          5          A.   No. 
 
          6          Q.   Is your opinion based on your regulatory 
 
          7   experience with transition charges? 
 
          8          A.   It is based on my regulat ory experience, 
 
          9   yes. 
 
         10          Q.   And can you tell me what your regulatory 
 
         11   experience has been with transition c harges? 
 
         12          A.   I'm thinking of when the -- well, I think 
 
         13   there's a lot of -- I have a lot of a wareness about 
 
         14   proceedings over the last several yea rs, many years, 
 
         15   with respect to transition charges, b oth for the 
 
         16   companies and others. 
 
         17          Q.   Okay.  Can you tell me wh at proceedings 
 
         18   that you are aware of with respect to  transition 
 
         19   charges for -- that you just referenc ed for the 
 
         20   companies as well as other utilities,  and we can 
 
         21   limit that to Ohio? 
 
         22          A.   Yeah.  I think I would be  thinking of the 
 
         23   AEP case and the Dayton case. 
 
         24          Q.   Are there any other cases  that come to 
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          1   mind that you are aware of relating t o transition 
 
          2   charges? 
 
          3          A.   I think there would have been a number of 
 
          4   cases back in the 2000 -- mid-2000 ti me frame. 
 
          5          Q.   And were you familiar wit h the 
 
          6   transition -- the -- any cases involv ing the 
 
          7   FirstEnergy utilities and transition charges, if you 
 
          8   know? 
 
          9          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         10   please? 
 
         11          Q.   You indicated that you we re aware of 
 
         12   proceedings that have dealt with tran sition charges. 
 
         13   I'm asking you whether or not you are  aware of, or 
 
         14   are familiar with, proceedings involv ing the 
 
         15   FirstEnergy utilities that related to  transition 
 
         16   charges? 
 
         17          A.   I -- 
 
         18               MR. KUTIK:  I will just o bject.  We are 
 
         19   getting pretty far afield.  Go ahead.  
 
         20          A.   I was not working in a re gulatory 
 
         21   capacity during that time frame. 
 
         22          Q.   And the time frame that y ou're speaking 
 
         23   of is what? 
 
         24          A.   Well, it was the time fra me you were 
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          1   speaking of. 
 
          2          Q.   2000, mid-2000?  Is that the time frame? 
 
          3          A.   I thought -- yes. 
 
          4          Q.   Okay.  Now, when you said  -- I'm sorry. 
 
          5   I didn't mean to cut you off.  Are yo u finished? 
 
          6          A.   Yes. 
 
          7          Q.   Now, when you said you ha ve an awareness 
 
          8   of proceedings regarding transition c harges, would 
 
          9   your awareness extend to Supreme Cour t holdings on 
 
         10   transition charges? 
 
         11          A.   Yes. 
 
         12          Q.   Now, on page 4 -- 
 
         13               MR. KUTIK:  Before you co ntinue, let's go 
 
         14   off the record. 
 
         15               (Discussion off the recor d.) 
 
         16               (Thereupon, at 12:29 p.m. , a lunch recess 
 
         17   was taken.) 
 
         18                           - - - 
 
         19 
 
         20 
 
         21 
 
         22 
 
         23 
 
         24 
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          1                            Wednesday Af ternoon Session, 
 
          2                            July 27, 201 6. 
 
          3                           - - - 
 
          4                    EILEEN M. MIKKELSEN 
 
          5   being previously duly sworn, as herei nafter 
 
          6   certified, deposes and says further a s follows: 
 
          7               CROSS-EXAMINATION (Contin ued) 
 
          8   By Ms. Willis: 
 
          9          Q.   Good afternoon, Ms. Mikke lsen. 
 
         10          A.   Good afternoon. 
 
         11          Q.   Let's go to page 4, line 5, of your 
 
         12   testimony and there you testify that rider R -- that 
 
         13   "Since Rider RRS as originally approv ed and" -- "and 
 
         14   as modified by the Proposal is projec ted to be a net 
 
         15   credit over the term of the ESP IV, i t could not be 
 
         16   considered a transition charge."  Wha t do you mean 
 
         17   there by the -- when you use the term  "transition 
 
         18   charge"? 
 
         19          A.   Again, this testimony is addressing 
 
         20   staff's concern that the proposal cou ld be construed 
 
         21   as a transition charge. 
 
         22          Q.   Now, is the reason that - - are you making 
 
         23   the distinction between a credit and a charge by that 
 
         24   statement? 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          2          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
          3   please? 
 
          4          Q.   Sure.  You're testifying at page 4, line 
 
          5   5, that rider RRS is not a transition  charge because 
 
          6   it would be -- it's projected to be a  net credit, 
 
          7   correct? 
 
          8          A.   Yes. 
 
          9          Q.   So you are saying that if  customers 
 
         10   receive a credit and are not paying, then it cannot 
 
         11   be a charge, correct? 
 
         12          A.   Yes. 
 
         13          Q.   If customers pay in any o ne year, for 
 
         14   instance, would that be -- let me str ike that. 
 
         15               In this -- in making this  statement that 
 
         16   since it's the rider as approved and modified by the 
 
         17   proposal is a net credit and, therefo re, cannot be a 
 
         18   transition charge, are you giving a l egal opinion 
 
         19   that it is not a transition charge un der Ohio law? 
 
         20               MR. KUTIK:  Well, again, I don't know how 
 
         21   many times we have to say this, she i s not a lawyer. 
 
         22   She is not giving legal opinions anyw here in her 
 
         23   testimony.  We can stipulate to that.  
 
         24          Q.   So what is the basis of y our conclusion 
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          1   that if it's not -- because customers  are receiving a 
 
          2   net credit, it is not a transition ch arge?  What's 
 
          3   the basis of that conclusion? 
 
          4          A.   That it is a net credit. 
 
          5          Q.   And that's based on -- in  your opinion 
 
          6   it's based on a reading -- of a nonla wyer's reading 
 
          7   of the law, correct? 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          9          A.   I think it's just based o n the fact if 
 
         10   it's a credit, a net credit, it would  be difficult -- 
 
         11   you couldn't consider it a charge.  I  don't know -- 
 
         12          Q.   Isn't it.  I'm sorry. 
 
         13               MR. KUTIK:  Had you finis hed your answer? 
 
         14               THE WITNESS:  I had.  Tha nk you. 
 
         15          Q.   Is it a charge in any yea r during the ESP 
 
         16   term according to the companies?  And  I am talking 
 
         17   about the rider RRS as originally app roved or as 
 
         18   modified.  Is there any years that it  would be a 
 
         19   charge? 
 
         20          A.   It is projected to be a c harge in some 
 
         21   years, yes. 
 
         22          Q.   So in those years that it  is projected to 
 
         23   be a charge, it could be potentially a transition 
 
         24   charge; is that correct? 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          2          A.   No. 
 
          3          Q.   And why is that? 
 
          4          A.   For all the reasons liste d here in my 
 
          5   testimony starting on page 3 at 13 an d continuing 
 
          6   through page 4 at 10. 
 
          7          Q.   For purposes of your test imony on line -- 
 
          8   on page 4, line 5, if we isolate that  reasoning, the 
 
          9   reasoning being that the proposal is projected to be 
 
         10   a net credit, therefore it cannot be a transition 
 
         11   charge, if we are limiting ourselves to that 
 
         12   reasoning, would you agree with me th at if the 
 
         13   proposal results in a charge in any y ear, that it 
 
         14   could be considered a transition char ge? 
 
         15               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, th at 
 
         16   mischaracterizes her testimony.  It's  argumentative. 
 
         17          A.   No. 
 
         18          Q.   And why is that? 
 
         19          A.   Again, for all the reason s listed here, 
 
         20   you know, as I said, starting on page  3 at 13 and 
 
         21   continuing through page 4 at 10. 
 
         22          Q.   And perhaps you were misu nderstanding my 
 
         23   question.  I was saying let's -- let' s limit our -- 
 
         24   our inquiry to the rationale that you  provide on 
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          1   page 4, lines 5, and not consider any  other rationale 
 
          2   that you have stated as to why you be lieve this is 
 
          3   not a transition charge.  Limiting it  to that 
 
          4   rationale that if it's a -- if it's a  credit, it is 
 
          5   not a charge, then my question is if there are years 
 
          6   where it is a charge and not a credit , could it be 
 
          7   considered a transition charge limiti ng that to the 
 
          8   rationale you set forth on page 4, li ne 5? 
 
          9               MR. KUTIK:  I'll object o n the same 
 
         10   grounds and I'll also add asked and a nswered. 
 
         11          A.   No. 
 
         12          Q.   And is that because you c annot accept 
 
         13   that -- you cannot limit the conditio n to that which 
 
         14   you describe on page 4, line 5? 
 
         15          A.   I think the answer needs to be considered 
 
         16   in totality as it addresses the staff 's concern. 
 
         17          Q.   Now, on page 5, lines 9 t hrough 12 -- 
 
         18   lines 9 through 12, you state that "R ider DMR is 
 
         19   appropriate for consideration in an E SP because it is 
 
         20   a provision regarding the Companies' distribution 
 
         21   service, single issue ratemaking, inc entive 
 
         22   ratemaking, and because Rider DMR fun ctions as 
 
         23   economic development and job retentio n program."  Do 
 
         24   you see that? 
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          1          A.   I do. 
 
          2          Q.   And when you use those te rms, you are 
 
          3   using those terms -- you are using th ose terms as 
 
          4   defined in the statute? 
 
          5          A.   I don't have a copy of th e statute in 
 
          6   front of me to look at to see if thos e terms are, in 
 
          7   fact, defined in the statute.  They a re certainly 
 
          8   referred to or included in the statut e.  I don't 
 
          9   recall there being a definition as yo u suggest for 
 
         10   those terms. 
 
         11          Q.   When you used those terms , are you using 
 
         12   them synonymously with the terms that  are referred to 
 
         13   in the statute? 
 
         14          A.   Yes. 
 
         15          Q.   Now, on page 22, lines 6 through 8, you 
 
         16   testified that the exclusion of rider  DMR revenues is 
 
         17   consistent with the SEET statute, amo ng other things. 
 
         18   Do you see that? 
 
         19          A.   Yes. 
 
         20          Q.   And can you tell me what statute you are 
 
         21   referring to there? 
 
         22          A.   4928.143; the specific pr ovisions that 
 
         23   relate to the significantly excessive  earnings test. 
 
         24          Q.   And what is the basis of your conclusion 
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          1   that exclusion of rider DMR revenues is consistent 
 
          2   with the SEET statute? 
 
          3          A.   The statute requires that  the earned ROE 
 
          4   of the companies be compared to the e arned ROE of 
 
          5   comparable companies that face the sa me financial and 
 
          6   business risks. 
 
          7          Q.   Is there anything else yo u are basing 
 
          8   your conclusion on? 
 
          9          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         10   please? 
 
         11          Q.   You conclude, Ms. Mikkels en, that the 
 
         12   excluding of rider DMR revenues is co nsistent with 
 
         13   the SEET statute, and I asked you wha t the basis of 
 
         14   that conclusion was, and your respons e was that -- 
 
         15   that the statute refers to return on equity being 
 
         16   compared to earned return of companie s or entities 
 
         17   with comparable earnings.  Is that a fair 
 
         18   characterization? 
 
         19          A.   No. 
 
         20          Q.   Okay.  Why don't you tell  me why, again 
 
         21   why you believe or the basis for your  belief that 
 
         22   including or excluding DMR revenues i s consistent 
 
         23   with the SEET statute? 
 
         24               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
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          1   answered. 
 
          2          A.   The SEET statute requires  that the earned 
 
          3   return on equity of the companies be compared to the 
 
          4   earned return on equity of comparable  companies that 
 
          5   face comparable business and financia l risk. 
 
          6          Q.   Is there any other basis for your 
 
          7   conclusion that exclusion of rider DM R revenues is 
 
          8   consistent with the SEET statute? 
 
          9          A.   None that come to mind at  this time. 
 
         10          Q.   Ms. Mikkelsen, are you --  do you have a 
 
         11   familiarity with cases where the sign ificantly 
 
         12   excessive earnings test is applied to  the annual 
 
         13   earnings of Ohio utilities? 
 
         14          A.   Yes. 
 
         15          Q.   And can you tell me how f amiliar you are 
 
         16   with SEET proceedings that occur in t he -- in Ohio? 
 
         17               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         18          A.   I'm somewhat familiar. 
 
         19          Q.   Would you be familiar wit h SEET 
 
         20   proceedings that have occurred with r espect to AEP, 
 
         21   for instance? 
 
         22          A.   Much less so than I would  be for the SEET 
 
         23   proceedings for the companies. 
 
         24          Q.   And does your familiarity  with SEET 
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          1   proceedings extend to familiarity wit h respect to the 
 
          2   Ohio Supreme Court holdings on SEET? 
 
          3          A.   I don't -- I don't recall .  I don't 
 
          4   remember. 
 
          5          Q.   You don't remember whethe r or not there 
 
          6   are Supreme Court holdings; is that w hat your 
 
          7   testimony is on SEET? 
 
          8          A.   As it relates to AEP spec ifically is what 
 
          9   I am not recalling. 
 
         10          Q.   Are you aware of any othe r Supreme Court 
 
         11   holdings related to SEET that would - - would be apart 
 
         12   from an AEP proceeding? 
 
         13          A.   No. 
 
         14          Q.   Now, let's go to page 24,  lines 9 through 
 
         15   10.  And there you testify that "Dr. Duane's 
 
         16   recommendation would require the Comm ission to engage 
 
         17   in retroactive ratemaking."  Do you s ee that 
 
         18   reference? 
 
         19          A.   May I have just a moment,  please? 
 
         20          Q.   Sure. 
 
         21          A.   With -- I would like to a ppend my prior 
 
         22   answer with respect to the SEET statu te. 
 
         23          Q.   Yes. 
 
         24          A.   I think additionally the statute 
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          1   requires, as I mentioned, that the SE ET testimony 
 
          2   prefiled is a comparison of the earne d return on 
 
          3   equity and the Commission, in its gen eric proceeding, 
 
          4   has defined certain parameters with r espect to that 
 
          5   as it applies to that definition in t he statute, so I 
 
          6   would amend my answer to include that  as well. 
 
          7          Q.   And when you refer to the  PUCO as 
 
          8   defining parameters, can you be more specific? 
 
          9   Where -- 
 
         10          A.   I'm thinking of exclusion s associated 
 
         11   with special, extraordinary, or nonre curring 
 
         12   activities. 
 
         13          Q.   And can you tell me speci fically what -- 
 
         14   what occasions the -- you are referri ng to where the 
 
         15   PUCO has defined parameters for exclu sions associated 
 
         16   with extraordinary events? 
 
         17          A.   I was talking about the g eneric SEET 
 
         18   proceeding. 
 
         19          Q.   Is there any other procee ding that you 
 
         20   are aware of where the PUCO has defin ed parameters 
 
         21   with respect to exclusions associated  with 
 
         22   extraordinary events? 
 
         23          A.   I mean, I'm aware of adju stments that 
 
         24   have been made in SEET cases -- 
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          1          Q.   And what -- I'm sorry. 
 
          2               MR. KUTIK:  Go ahead.  Ha ve her read the 
 
          3   answer. 
 
          4               (Record read.) 
 
          5          A.   Arising from the guidance  provided in the 
 
          6   generic SEET cases that have been app roved by the 
 
          7   Commission. 
 
          8          Q.   And can you tell me what specific 
 
          9   adjustments you are referring to ther e and what 
 
         10   proceedings those would be associated  with? 
 
         11               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         12          A.   I'm thinking of the exclu sion of 
 
         13   mark-to-market adjustments and their impacts on the 
 
         14   earnings of a company being excluded for purposes of 
 
         15   SEET. 
 
         16          Q.   And can you tell me where  that would have 
 
         17   been done, if you recall? 
 
         18          A.   I think it has been done in SEET cases 
 
         19   for the companies as well as another utility in Ohio. 
 
         20          Q.   Are there any other proce edings that you 
 
         21   can -- that come to mind where the Co mmission has 
 
         22   made adjustments to SEET associated w ith excluding 
 
         23   extraordinary events? 
 
         24               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
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          1          A.   The exclusions relate to special, 
 
          2   nonrecurring, and extraordinary event s.  That's the 
 
          3   example that comes to mind as I sit h ere now. 
 
          4          Q.   So you are not aware of a ny -- any other 
 
          5   issues where -- you are not aware of any other 
 
          6   rulings, as you sit here today, that the Commission 
 
          7   has made with respect to excluding, f or purposes of 
 
          8   SEET, extraordinary events from the t est? 
 
          9          A.   To provide additional spe cifics I would 
 
         10   have to review the specific filings.  I'm certain 
 
         11   there are other examples, but I don't  have the 
 
         12   filings in front of me. 
 
         13          Q.   Now, we were back on page  24, and I was 
 
         14   drawing your attention to lines 9 thr ough 10.  And 
 
         15   specifically there you testify that " Dr. Duann's 
 
         16   recommendation would require the Comm ission to engage 
 
         17   in retroactive ratemaking."  Do you s ee that 
 
         18   reference? 
 
         19          A.   Yes. 
 
         20          Q.   Can you explain to me wha t you mean by 
 
         21   "retroactive ratemaking" there? 
 
         22          A.   A decision that is made a t a point in 
 
         23   time which would go back and undo or change 
 
         24   ratemaking in preceding periods. 
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          1          Q.   And when you refer to "re troactive 
 
          2   ratemaking," you are referring to a n onlegal opinion 
 
          3   as to what is retroactive ratemaking;  is that 
 
          4   correct? 
 
          5          A.   Yes. 
 
          6          Q.   Is it your understanding,  Ms. Mikkelsen, 
 
          7   that any time the Commission orders a  rate collection 
 
          8   subject to refunds, that the Commissi on is engaging 
 
          9   in retroactive ratemaking? 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         11               THE WITNESS:  May I have the question 
 
         12   reread, please. 
 
         13               (Record read.) 
 
         14          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         15   please? 
 
         16          Q.   Sure.  What is it that yo u -- that you 
 
         17   don't understand about my question? 
 
         18          A.   The entirety of the hypot hetical. 
 
         19          Q.   Okay.  You indicate in yo ur testimony 
 
         20   that -- and I am looking at page 24, line 9, that 
 
         21   "Dollars collected under the Proposal  should not be 
 
         22   subject to refund."  And that's on li ne 9.  And the 
 
         23   very next sentence you say "Dr. Duann 's 
 
         24   recommendation would require the Comm ission to engage 
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          1   in retroactive ratemaking."  Are you -- are you 
 
          2   testifying that because the proposal is made subject 
 
          3   to refund, it is retroactive ratemaki ng? 
 
          4          A.   May I ask you to restate the question, 
 
          5   please? 
 
          6          Q.   What is it you don't unde rstand about my 
 
          7   question? 
 
          8          A.   The notion that the propo sal was made 
 
          9   subject to refund. 
 
         10          Q.   I'm just using your words , Ms. Mikkelsen, 
 
         11   that are contained in your testimony on line 9.  You 
 
         12   say -- you state "Dollars collected u nder the 
 
         13   Proposal should not be subject to ref und."  I'm 
 
         14   asking you if dollars are collected s ubject to 
 
         15   refund, is -- and the Commission orde rs that, is the 
 
         16   Commission engaging in retroactive ra temaking? 
 
         17               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         18          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         19   please? 
 
         20          Q.   What is it you don't unde rstand about my 
 
         21   question? 
 
         22          A.   You think -- if you could  just rephrase 
 
         23   the question without the front part o f the 
 
         24   restatement.  I see what my testimony  says.  And it 
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          1   would be helpful to me to just ask th e question. 
 
          2          Q.   Okay.  I will try.  If do llars are 
 
          3   collected under -- under the proposal  and required to 
 
          4   be collected subject to refund, is it  your opinion 
 
          5   that this would be retroactive ratema king, as you 
 
          6   have used the term in your testimony at page 24, 
 
          7   line 10? 
 
          8          A.   Yes, if the dollars are c ollected under 
 
          9   the proposal, they should not be subj ect to refund. 
 
         10          Q.   And is the reason you bel ieve they should 
 
         11   not be collected subject to refund be cause you 
 
         12   believe that if they are collected su bject to refund, 
 
         13   that will be retroactive ratemaking? 
 
         14               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         15          A.   Yes. 
 
         16          Q.   Now, Ms. Mikkelsen, are y ou aware of any 
 
         17   Commission orders where rates have be en collected 
 
         18   subject to refund? 
 
         19          A.   Not consistent with Dr. D uann's proposal, 
 
         20   no. 
 
         21          Q.   Let's take Dr. Duann's pr oposal, put that 
 
         22   aside.  Are you aware of any PUCO ord er where rates 
 
         23   were collected subject to refund? 
 
         24               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
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          1   answered. 
 
          2          A.   I am not. 
 
          3          Q.   Would it surprise you to find out that 
 
          4   there are PUCO orders where rates hav e been collected 
 
          5   subject to refund? 
 
          6          A.   Without knowing the speci fic terms that 
 
          7   you are referring to when you say "su bject to 
 
          8   refund," I can't answer your question . 
 
          9          Q.   What is it about Dr. Duan n's proposal 
 
         10   that makes the collection of rates su bject to refund 
 
         11   a retroactive ratemaking proposal? 
 
         12          A.   His suggestion is if the Commission 
 
         13   approves the collection of the rates,  and it is 
 
         14   subsequently determined by the Suprem e Court that 
 
         15   that not be the case, that all of the  dollars be 
 
         16   subject to refund that have been coll ected; and, to 
 
         17   me, that represents retroactive ratem aking. 
 
         18          Q.   Do you believe, Ms. Mikke lsen, that if 
 
         19   the Commission initially approves rid er DMR with the 
 
         20   condition that they be -- the conditi on that the DMR 
 
         21   rates be collected subject to refund,  that that would 
 
         22   be engaging in retroactive ratemaking ? 
 
         23               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, in complete 
 
         24   hypothetical. 
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          1          A.   Dr. Duann's recommendatio n went to the 
 
          2   company's proposal. 
 
          3          Q.   Let's go then to the comp anies' proposal. 
 
          4   Do you believe that if the companies'  proposal was 
 
          5   adopted by the Commission, and the Co mmission 
 
          6   determined, when it adopted that prop osal, that it 
 
          7   would modify the proposal to approve the rate 
 
          8   subject -- approve that the rates be collected 
 
          9   subject to refund, do you believe tha t would be 
 
         10   retroactive ratemaking? 
 
         11               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         12   answered. 
 
         13          A.   Yes. 
 
         14          Q.   So is it your general bel ief that -- let 
 
         15   me strike that. 
 
         16               Is it your belief that an y time the PUCO 
 
         17   approves rates and orders the rates b e collected 
 
         18   subject to refund, that that would be  engaging in 
 
         19   retroactive ratemaking? 
 
         20               MR. KUTIK:  I'll object, asked and 
 
         21   answered.  Now this is the third time  at least. 
 
         22          A.   I would need to see the s pecific order 
 
         23   and conditions around that provision,  to the extent 
 
         24   that one existed, to be able to respo nd to your 
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          1   question. 
 
          2          Q.   Do you consider, Ms. Mikk elsen, the SEET 
 
          3   refund to be retroactive ratemaking? 
 
          4          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
          5   please? 
 
          6          Q.   Sure.  If the Commission orders a SEET 
 
          7   refund in one of the annual SEET proc eedings, would 
 
          8   you consider the refund, the ordering  of the refund 
 
          9   to be engaging in retroactive ratemak ing? 
 
         10          A.   I would have to think abo ut that.  I 
 
         11   haven't thought about that in that co ntext, so I need 
 
         12   some more time to think that one thro ugh. 
 
         13          Q.   Okay. 
 
         14          A.   Meaning, I think I would need some more 
 
         15   time than just sitting here answering  off the top of 
 
         16   my head.  It seems as though it's an answer that 
 
         17   warrants more thought on my part than  I am able to 
 
         18   give it now. 
 
         19          Q.   Okay. 
 
         20          A.   So I don't know, I guess,  as I sit here 
 
         21   today. 
 
         22          Q.   Thank you.  Thank you. 
 
         23               With respect to retroacti ve ratemaking, 
 
         24   will you generally -- are you familia r with 
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          1   Commission orders on retroactive rate making? 
 
          2          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
          3   please? 
 
          4          Q.   In your regulatory experi ence, are you 
 
          5   familiar with PUCO orders that have a ddressed 
 
          6   retroactive ratemaking issues? 
 
          7          A.   It would be helpful to me  if you could 
 
          8   point me to an order and then I could  tell you if I 
 
          9   was familiar with it or not. 
 
         10          Q.   Well, let me try it this way, are you 
 
         11   generally aware of any PUCO Commissio n orders in the 
 
         12   past five years that have dealt with retroactive 
 
         13   ratemaking? 
 
         14          A.   I'm not sure I understand  the question, 
 
         15   but nothing comes to mind. 
 
         16          Q.   You are aware of retroact ive ratemaking 
 
         17   decisions by the Ohio Supreme Court? 
 
         18          A.   Yes. 
 
         19          Q.   Would you consider yourse lf familiar with 
 
         20   Ohio Supreme Court decisions on retro active 
 
         21   ratemaking? 
 
         22               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         23          A.   Not in any legal sense. 
 
         24          Q.   Now, you testified earlie r to -- let me 
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          1   strike that. 
 
          2               Earlier we discussed excl uding rider DMR 
 
          3   revenues from the SEET calculation.  Do you recall 
 
          4   that? 
 
          5          A.   Yes. 
 
          6          Q.   And you indicated that --  that you were 
 
          7   familiar with exclusion of mark-to-ma rket adjustments 
 
          8   in the SEET proceedings, correct? 
 
          9          A.   Yes. 
 
         10          Q.   Can you tell me what your  understanding 
 
         11   is of the mark-to-market accounting i mpacts? 
 
         12          A.   There are impacts to the net income of 
 
         13   the companies either positive or nega tive that arise 
 
         14   from mark-to-market accounting. 
 
         15          Q.   And can you tell me what mark-to-market 
 
         16   accounting is in laymen's terms? 
 
         17               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         18          A.   It is marking certain obl igations of the 
 
         19   company to whatever the prevailing ma rket is. 
 
         20          Q.   Would you agree with me t hat the 
 
         21   mark-to-market accounting impacts tha t adjustments -- 
 
         22   the exclusion of mark-to-market adjus tments is not 
 
         23   related to any rider? 
 
         24               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
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          1               THE WITNESS:  May I have the question 
 
          2   reread, please. 
 
          3               (Record read.) 
 
          4          A.   It may be related to capi tal dollars 
 
          5   recovered in rider DCR. 
 
          6          Q.   Can you tell me if the ma rk-to-market 
 
          7   adjustments necessarily collect money  each month from 
 
          8   customers like the rider DMR would do ? 
 
          9               MR. KUTIK:  May I have th e question read, 
 
         10   please. 
 
         11               (Record read.) 
 
         12               MR. KUTIK:  I'll object.  That question 
 
         13   makes no sense to me, but if it does to you, you may 
 
         14   answer. 
 
         15          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         16   please. 
 
         17          Q.   Sure.  The mark-to-market  adjustments 
 
         18   that you refer to as an exclusion of revenues from 
 
         19   SEET, would not involve the collectio n of money each 
 
         20   month from customers as a rider such as DMR would do; 
 
         21   is that correct? 
 
         22               MR. KUTIK:  Same objectio n. 
 
         23               THE WITNESS:  May I ask y ou to reread the 
 
         24   question, please, ma'am. 
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          1               (Record read.) 
 
          2          A.   I don't think I character ized the 
 
          3   mark-to-market adjustments as revenue  adjustments. 
 
          4          Q.   And would you -- would yo u characterize 
 
          5   rider DMR as a revenue adjustment? 
 
          6               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          7          A.   I am going to ask you to rephrase the 
 
          8   question. 
 
          9          Q.   I guess I was just keying  in on your 
 
         10   saying the mark-to-market adjustment is not a revenue 
 
         11   adjustment.  I thought you were makin g a distinction 
 
         12   between the mark-to-market adjustment  and the DMR 
 
         13   revenue on the basis of DMR revenue i s a revenue 
 
         14   adjustment. 
 
         15          A.   No, I wasn't. 
 
         16          Q.   Now, on page 22, line 22,  you refer to 
 
         17   SEET exclusions already approved by t he Commission in 
 
         18   the ESP IV.  Do you see that? 
 
         19          A.   I'm sorry, may I have tha t reread, 
 
         20   please. 
 
         21          Q.   Let me -- let me withdraw  that -- let me 
 
         22   withdraw that and try to rephrase it.  
 
         23               Now, on your testimony at  page 4, 
 
         24   line 15, you state that rider DMR "pr omotes economic 
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          1   development and job retention...."  D o you see that 
 
          2   reference? 
 
          3          A.   Yes. 
 
          4          Q.   Is that testimony tied to  anything other 
 
          5   than Ms. Murley's analysis?  Is it ba sed -- let me 
 
          6   strike that. 
 
          7               Is that testimony based s olely on 
 
          8   Ms. Murley's analysis? 
 
          9          A.   No. 
 
         10          Q.   And what is the basis, ot her than 
 
         11   Ms. Murley's analysis, for your state ment that rider 
 
         12   DMR promotes economic development and  job retention? 
 
         13          A.   Rider DMR is designed to jump-start grid 
 
         14   modernization to the extent that the companies move 
 
         15   forward with investment in grid moder nization.  There 
 
         16   are positive economic development att ributes that 
 
         17   flow from that as people would be emp loyed to work on 
 
         18   that grid modernization; as, you know , equipment 
 
         19   would be purchased in order to suppor t that grid 
 
         20   modernization; and, in addition to th at, as the grid 
 
         21   transitions to -- or becomes one of t he most 
 
         22   intelligent grids in the nation, it w ill provide 
 
         23   economic development benefits to our customers as 
 
         24   they're better able to utilize this t echnology to 
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          1   manage and control their costs, and a lso benefit from 
 
          2   an economic development perspective f rom improved 
 
          3   reliability that would allow them to operate at a 
 
          4   higher level than they would have bef ore. 
 
          5          Q.   Now, Ms. Mikkelsen, you i ndicate that 
 
          6   rider DMR allows a jump-start to the grid 
 
          7   modernization, and because of that ju mp-start to grid 
 
          8   modernization you believe there are a dditional 
 
          9   economic development and job-retentio n benefits 
 
         10   beyond what Ms. Murley testified to; is that correct? 
 
         11               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         12   answered. 
 
         13          A.   Yes. 
 
         14          Q.   And you mentioned that pe ople will be 
 
         15   employed to work on grid modernizatio n as one of the 
 
         16   explanations, correct? 
 
         17          A.   Yes. 
 
         18          Q.   Are you talking about new  employees being 
 
         19   employed to work on grid modernizatio n or are you 
 
         20   talking about existing employees? 
 
         21          A.   I'm just speaking more ge nerally about 
 
         22   additional human resources would be n ecessary in 
 
         23   order to complete the grid modernizat ion. 
 
         24          Q.   And do you -- have you qu antified how 
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          1   many additional human resources would  be needed to 
 
          2   complete the grid modernization? 
 
          3          A.   I think that's a function  of what grid 
 
          4   modernization work ultimately ends up  moving forward. 
 
          5          Q.   And so because you do not  have a specific 
 
          6   grid modernization -- let me strike t hat. 
 
          7               Is part of the difficulty  that the 
 
          8   company does not have an approved gri d modernization 
 
          9   program in order to judge whether or not there will 
 
         10   be additional human resources needed to complete the 
 
         11   project? 
 
         12               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         13          A.   No. 
 
         14          Q.   So you have not quantifie d, have you, the 
 
         15   additional employees that would be ne eded to complete 
 
         16   the grid modernization project; is th at correct? 
 
         17               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         18   answered. 
 
         19          A.   When I talk about the eco nomic 
 
         20   development, I think of it in terms o f additional 
 
         21   human resources.  They may be employe es.  They may 
 
         22   not be. 
 
         23          Q.   But you haven't quantifie d what those 
 
         24   additional resources would be to comp lete the grid 
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          1   modernization project, correct? 
 
          2               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
          3   answered. 
 
          4          A.   No.  I don't think we cou ld at this time. 
 
          5          Q.   And you haven't quantifie d the economic 
 
          6   development effects of purchasing equ ipment 
 
          7   associated with the grid modernizatio n program; is 
 
          8   that correct? 
 
          9               MR. KUTIK:  Same objectio n. 
 
         10          A.   Right.  The actual progra m is not none at 
 
         11   this time, so we could not quantify i t with precision 
 
         12   at this time. 
 
         13          Q.   And you cannot quantify t he economic 
 
         14   development benefits that you referre d to that are 
 
         15   associated with customers utilizing a nd controlling 
 
         16   their -- their bills from an economic -development 
 
         17   perspective and permitting improved r eliability; is 
 
         18   that correct? 
 
         19          A.   I have not performed that  quantification. 
 
         20          Q.   Now, do you believe that the PUCO staff 
 
         21   did not recognize the benefits of the  headquarters 
 
         22   and the nexus remaining, or do you be lieve merely 
 
         23   that the staff did not quantify that benefit and 
 
         24   propose to give the company more mone y for it? 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as sumes facts. 
 
          2          A.   Yeah.  May I ask you to r ephrase the 
 
          3   question, please? 
 
          4          Q.   Sure.  I can try -- I can  try to break it 
 
          5   down.  Is your testimony that the sta ff did not 
 
          6   recognize the benefits of the headqua rters and the 
 
          7   nexus remaining in Akron? 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          9          A.   I think the staff did rec ognize the 
 
         10   benefits which is why they propose th e condition that 
 
         11   they did. 
 
         12          Q.   Is it your testimony that  the staff did 
 
         13   not quantify the benefit of the econo mic development 
 
         14   associated with the headquarters rema ining? 
 
         15          A.   I don't know whether staf f performed that 
 
         16   quantification or not. 
 
         17          Q.   Is it possible that the s taff's analysis 
 
         18   included a quantification of the bene fit related to 
 
         19   the headquarters remaining and you ju st don't know? 
 
         20               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         21          A.   I don't think so. 
 
         22          Q.   And on what basis do you not think that 
 
         23   that could have occurred? 
 
         24          A.   Because I looked at -- I mean I 
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          1   understand Mr. Buckley's calculation and that 
 
          2   calculation does not include any adju stment 
 
          3   associated with retention of the head quarters and 
 
          4   nexus of the operations in Akron, Ohi o. 
 
          5          Q.   And on what basis do you believe that the 
 
          6   staff recognized the benefits of the headquarters 
 
          7   remaining in Akron, Ohio? 
 
          8          A.   By making it a condition of rider DMR. 
 
          9          Q.   Now, on page 5, lines 5 t hrough 6, you 
 
         10   state that "a properly designed Rider  DMR would 
 
         11   benefit the public."  Do you see that ? 
 
         12          A.   Yes. 
 
         13          Q.   Can you tell me what are the reasons for 
 
         14   your belief? 
 
         15          A.   May I ask you to restate the question, 
 
         16   please? 
 
         17          Q.   What is the basis -- sure .  What is the 
 
         18   basis for your statement that "a prop erly designed 
 
         19   Rider DMR would benefit the public"? 
 
         20          A.   That rider DMR would prov ide credit 
 
         21   support to the companies to put them in a position to 
 
         22   jump-start distribution grid moderniz ation 
 
         23   initiatives. 
 
         24          Q.   Is there any other basis that -- on which 
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          1   you relied to -- is there any other b asis on which 
 
          2   you conclude that a properly designed  rider DMR would 
 
          3   benefit the public? 
 
          4          A.   Well, as a result of that , the public 
 
          5   would benefit from the grid moderniza tion initiatives 
 
          6   and all of the benefits that would fl ow to them 
 
          7   associated with that. 
 
          8          Q.   Now, on page 5, line 13, you discuss how 
 
          9   rider DMR helps to jump-start grid mo dernization 
 
         10   initiatives.  Do you see that? 
 
         11          A.   I see the question and my  testimony on 
 
         12   lines 13 and 14 at page 5. 
 
         13          Q.   Yes.  When you are respon ding to that 
 
         14   question that's posed on 13 and 14, w hen you are -- 
 
         15   when you are responding, you are refe rring to rider 
 
         16   DMR as proposed by the staff, or ride r DMR as 
 
         17   modified by the companies? 
 
         18          A.   A properly-constructed ri der DMR. 
 
         19          Q.   And so by "properly-const ructed," you 
 
         20   would mean the companies' proposed DM R as opposed to 
 
         21   the staff's proposed DMR; is that cor rect? 
 
         22          A.   I think the companies are  not proposing a 
 
         23   separate DMR.  Rather, they are propo sing 
 
         24   modifications to the calculation of t he value to be 
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          1   included in rider DMR in order to ass ure its proper 
 
          2   design. 
 
          3          Q.   And it is your opinion th at the staff's 
 
          4   proposed rider DMR is not properly co nstructed? 
 
          5          A.   I think the -- there are four specific 
 
          6   modifications that need to be made to  the staff's 
 
          7   calculation which, in concept, I beli eve to be 
 
          8   reasonable. 
 
          9          Q.   Do you believe that rider  DMR, as 
 
         10   proposed by the staff, helps to jump- start 
 
         11   distribution grid modernization initi atives? 
 
         12               MR. KUTIK:  Can we have t he question 
 
         13   reread, please? 
 
         14               (Record read.) 
 
         15          A.   I think a properly-design ed rider DMR 
 
         16   would help to jump-start distribution  grid 
 
         17   modernization initiatives. 
 
         18          Q.   And I understand your res ponse, but I'm 
 
         19   asking you whether or not rider DMR, as proposed by 
 
         20   the staff, helps to jump-start distri bution grid 
 
         21   modernization initiatives. 
 
         22          A.   I think modifications to the calculation 
 
         23   of rider DMR are necessary. 
 
         24          Q.   So is your testimony that  you do not 
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          1   believe rider DMR, as proposed by the  staff, helps to 
 
          2   jump-start distribution grid moderniz ation 
 
          3   initiatives because it is not properl y designed 
 
          4   without your suggested modifications?  
 
          5               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
          6   answered. 
 
          7          A.   I think there are necessa ry modifications 
 
          8   to the staff's calculation. 
 
          9          Q.   Now, would you agree with  me that you 
 
         10   testified that there are two reasons that rider DMR 
 
         11   will help jump-start the distribution  grid 
 
         12   modernization initiatives.  One, it w ill provide 
 
         13   capital support; and, two, it will pr ovide access to 
 
         14   capital markets under more favorable terms.  And I am 
 
         15   referring to your testimony on page 5 , lines 15 
 
         16   through 16. 
 
         17          A.   May I ask to have the que stion reread, 
 
         18   please. 
 
         19               (Record read.) 
 
         20          A.   I think of rider DMR as p roviding credit 
 
         21   support to the companies that will al low them to 
 
         22   jump-start distribution grid moderniz ation, either 
 
         23   through capital support or through ac cess to the 
 
         24   capital markets under more favorable terms. 
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          1          Q.   So you are drawing a dist inction between 
 
          2   capital support and credit support; i s that correct? 
 
          3          A.   I'm using the "credit sup port" term more 
 
          4   broadly. 
 
          5          Q.   So credit support can tak e more -- or the 
 
          6   credit support can include more than capital support; 
 
          7   is that correct? 
 
          8          A.   Correct. 
 
          9          Q.   And would you define -- l et me strike 
 
         10   that.  When you say "credit support,"  is there any 
 
         11   other terms that you believe provide credit support? 
 
         12               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         13          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question? 
 
         14          Q.   Yes.  I think you indicat ed that when you 
 
         15   use the term "credit support," you ar e talking more 
 
         16   generally than capital support.  So I  was wanting you 
 
         17   to define what you mean by "credit su pport." 
 
         18          A.   The credit support provid ed by rider DMR 
 
         19   will allow the companies to fund eith er, through 
 
         20   capital support or through access to the capital 
 
         21   markets, under more favorable terms, investments 
 
         22   associated with modernizing the distr ibution grid. 
 
         23          Q.   Can you think of any othe r reasons why 
 
         24   rider DMR will help jump-start distri bution grid 
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          1   modernization initiatives beyond prov iding credit 
 
          2   support through capital support and a ccess to capital 
 
          3   markets under more favorable terms? 
 
          4          A.   Nothing comes to mind at this time. 
 
          5          Q.   Now, on page 6, lines 10 through 11, you 
 
          6   indicate that -- it actually goes bey ond 11.  You 
 
          7   indicate that it is important for com panies to have 
 
          8   access to capital markets under favor able terms and 
 
          9   conditions.  Do you see that? 
 
         10          A.   I see a question on page 6, at lines 10 
 
         11   to 11, that includes words like that.  
 
         12          Q.   And do you believe it's i mportant for the 
 
         13   companies to have access to capital m arkets under 
 
         14   favorable terms and conditions? 
 
         15          A.   Yes. 
 
         16          Q.   Ms. Mikkelsen, do you bel ieve that any 
 
         17   witness that has testified in this re hearing portion 
 
         18   of this hearing disputes that it is i mportant for the 
 
         19   companies to have access to capital m arkets under 
 
         20   favorable terms and conditions? 
 
         21               THE WITNESS:  May I have that question 
 
         22   reread, please. 
 
         23               (Record read.) 
 
         24          A.   It's difficult, as I sit here today, for 
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          1   me to characterize the views of the i ntervenors in 
 
          2   this proceeding particularly as it re lates to 
 
          3   testimony that was stricken and not s tricken, so I'm 
 
          4   not sure I can answer that question. 
 
          5          Q.   Could you point -- as we sit here today, 
 
          6   could you point to any witness testim ony in the 
 
          7   rehearing portion of this proceeding that disputes 
 
          8   that it's important for the companies  to have access 
 
          9   to capital markets under favorable te rms and 
 
         10   conditions? 
 
         11          A.   No. 
 
         12          Q.   Now, on page 7, lines 1 t hrough 5, you 
 
         13   indicate that "If the Companies, or F irstEnergy 
 
         14   Corp., cannot maintain financial metr ics adequate for 
 
         15   investment grade ratings, a negative rating action 
 
         16   may follow, causing the Companies to fall below 
 
         17   investment grade...."  Do you see tha t reference? 
 
         18          A.   I'm sorry, may I have the  reference 
 
         19   again, please. 
 
         20          Q.   That would be page 7, lin es 1 through 5. 
 
         21          A.   And, I'm sorry, what was the question? 
 
         22          Q.   The question is, do you s ee your 
 
         23   testimony on page 7, lines 1 through 5, where you 
 
         24   indicate that "If the Companies, or F irstEnergy 
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          1   Corp., cannot maintain financial metr ics adequate for 
 
          2   investment grade ratings, a negative rating action 
 
          3   may follow, causing the companies to fall below 
 
          4   investment grade...."? 
 
          5          A.   I see that testimony. 
 
          6          Q.   Do you believe any witnes s in the 
 
          7   rehearing portion of this proceeding disputes this? 
 
          8          A.   There has certainly been discussion by 
 
          9   other witnesses in this phase of the hearing about 
 
         10   the financial need of the company and  actions that 
 
         11   should or shouldn't -- should be take n with respect 
 
         12   to that need.  That suggests to me th at they may not 
 
         13   view this as necessarily a significan t risk. 
 
         14          Q.   Perhaps you misunderstood  my question. 
 
         15   I'm specifically asking you with resp ect to your 
 
         16   testimony whether or not you believe any witness 
 
         17   disputes that if the companies or Fir stEnergy Corp. 
 
         18   cannot maintain financial metrics ade quate for 
 
         19   investment grade ratings, that a nega tive rating 
 
         20   action may follow, causing the compan ies to fall 
 
         21   below investment grade? 
 
         22               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         23   answered. 
 
         24          A.   I think I stand on my pri or answer. 
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          1          Q.   Now, you testify on page 7, lines 4 
 
          2   through 5 -- 
 
          3               MR. KUTIK:  Before you go  there, let's go 
 
          4   off the record. 
 
          5               (Discussion off the recor d.) 
 
          6          Q.   (By Ms. Willis) Now, Ms. Mikkelsen, you 
 
          7   testify at page 7, lines 4 through 5,  that falling 
 
          8   below investment grade would subject the companies 
 
          9   and customers to negative consequence s.  Do you see 
 
         10   that reference? 
 
         11          A.   Yes. 
 
         12          Q.   Do you believe any witnes s in the 
 
         13   rehearing portion of this proceeding disputes this? 
 
         14          A.   I think they may insomuch  as -- or they 
 
         15   may not deem it a real intangible ris k because they 
 
         16   haven't expressed their support for r ider DMR, so 
 
         17   they must not view these as valid con cerns or risks 
 
         18   facing the companies. 
 
         19          Q.   Okay.  Ms. Mikkelsen, whe n you say 
 
         20   "they," can you tell me who "they" wo uld be? 
 
         21          A.   I think the witnesses -- the intervenor 
 
         22   witnesses that sponsored testimony wi th respect to 
 
         23   the staff proposal. 
 
         24          Q.   And can you identify whic h witnesses you 
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          1   are speaking of? 
 
          2          A.   I'm thinking of Kalt, Kah al, and Lause. 
 
          3          Q.   Thank you. 
 
          4               Now, you indicated that y ou believe that 
 
          5   the witnesses may dispute this becaus e you are saying 
 
          6   they have not supported rider DMR and  that's the 
 
          7   basis for your conclusion that they d ispute this 
 
          8   statement that falling below investme nt grade would 
 
          9   subject the companies and customers t o negative 
 
         10   consequences? 
 
         11          A.   What I said was I don't - - they may not 
 
         12   view this risk as real. 
 
         13          Q.   It's your understanding t hat -- that the 
 
         14   intervenor witnesses have not propose d alternatives 
 
         15   to rider DMR? 
 
         16               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         17          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         18   please? 
 
         19          Q.   Well, you indicate that - - that -- that 
 
         20   the intervenor witnesses may or may n ot deem falling 
 
         21   below investment grade to subject the  companies and 
 
         22   the customers to negative consequence s, and you 
 
         23   indicated that that -- you conclude t hat because they 
 
         24   have not supported the DMR.  Are -- i s it your 
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          1   understanding, for instance, that OCC  Witness Kahal 
 
          2   presented an alternative or recommend ation instead of 
 
          3   supporting rider DMR? 
 
          4               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          5          A.   May I ask you to be more specific with 
 
          6   respect to the recommendation? 
 
          7          Q.   Are you aware of whether witness -- OCC 
 
          8   Witness Kahal recommended ring fencin g in this 
 
          9   proceeding? 
 
         10          A.   My recollection he did no t recommend ring 
 
         11   fencing. 
 
         12          Q.   And what is -- what is yo ur understanding 
 
         13   of what he recommended with regard to  ring fencing? 
 
         14          A.   My recollection is he rec ommended a 
 
         15   study. 
 
         16          Q.   Now, on page 7, you testi fy to the 
 
         17   negative consequences of a rating dow ngrade to 
 
         18   non-investment grade.  Do you see tha t?  Go ahead. 
 
         19               MR. KUTIK:  Have a line r eference, I 
 
         20   think. 
 
         21          Q.   Sure.  The line reference  would be 
 
         22   starting on line 15, concluding on pa ge 16, line 3 -- 
 
         23   I'm sorry.  I misspoke.  It's -- we a re talking 
 
         24   about -- excuse me, page 7, line -- c an I have a 
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          1   moment?  I am getting all choked up o ver this stuff. 
 
          2               MR. KUTIK:  Apparently. 
 
          3          Q.   It's the sour apple candy  I have in my 
 
          4   mouth.  Let me try again. 
 
          5               Starting on page 7, line 15, carrying 
 
          6   over to page 8, line 16, you testify to the negative 
 
          7   consequences of a rating downgrade to  non-investment 
 
          8   grade.  Do you see that testimony? 
 
          9          A.   I apologize.  I am still a little turned 
 
         10   around on the reference.  Could you c heck your 
 
         11   references again? 
 
         12          Q.   Well, you begin on line 1 5 by saying "A 
 
         13   downgrade to non-investment grade lim its a company's 
 
         14   access to capital to more restrictive  terms and 
 
         15   conditions...."  That's the first sta tement.  So 
 
         16   let's just focus on that statement. 
 
         17               Is it your belief that an y witness in 
 
         18   this rehearing process disputes that a downgrade to 
 
         19   non-investment grade limits the compa nies' access to 
 
         20   capital to more restrictive terms and  conditions? 
 
         21          A.   I think the witnesses' te stimonies go 
 
         22   more to the acknowledgment of the ris k of these 
 
         23   actions occurring. 
 
         24          Q.   And so you're saying that  it's your 
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          1   understanding that the witnesses do n ot dispute that 
 
          2   a non-investment grade rating can -- let me strike 
 
          3   that. 
 
          4               Now, you also make a stat ement that "A 
 
          5   non-investment grade rating can...dis qualify a 
 
          6   company from competing for some inves tors' dollars." 
 
          7   Do you see that?  That is further on up on page 7, 
 
          8   lines 8 through 10. 
 
          9          A.   I see that. 
 
         10          Q.   Do you believe that any w itness in this 
 
         11   rehearing portion of the proceedings disputes that 
 
         12   statement? 
 
         13          A.   Again, and I think it goe s for all of the 
 
         14   elements of this particular answer yo u are pointing 
 
         15   to, I think the dispute goes more tow ards the 
 
         16   acceptance or acknowledgment of the r isk that the 
 
         17   companies and FirstEnergy Corp. are f acing these 
 
         18   negative consequences. 
 
         19          Q.   So are you saying that yo u view the 
 
         20   dispute as one in which the interveno rs -- let me 
 
         21   strike that.  May I have her answer r eread, please. 
 
         22               (Record read.) 
 
         23          Q.   So are you testifying, Ms . Mikkelsen, 
 
         24   that the intervenors, it is your unde rstanding that 
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          1   the intervenors have acknowledged tha t there is this 
 
          2   risk? 
 
          3               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, mi scharacterizes 
 
          4   her testimony. 
 
          5          A.   No. 
 
          6          Q.   When you refer to accepta nce or 
 
          7   acknowledgment of risk, what are you referring to? 
 
          8          A.   That the intervenors were  not supportive 
 
          9   of the staff's proposal to provide cr edit support. 
 
         10          Q.   Now, you testify that "In  addition, a 
 
         11   downgrade may have negative impacts o n existing 
 
         12   borrowings and other contracts," and I am looking at 
 
         13   page 8, line 4.  Do you see that test imony? 
 
         14          A.   Yes. 
 
         15          Q.   And you say a downgrade m ay "give rise to 
 
         16   a collateral requirement."  Do you se e that? 
 
         17          A.   Yes. 
 
         18          Q.   Do you believe any witnes s in this 
 
         19   rehearing stage disputes that a downg rade may give 
 
         20   rise to a collateral requirement? 
 
         21               MR. KUTIK:  Objection.  T he witness never 
 
         22   said anywhere that any witness would dispute it 
 
         23   anyway, so it mischaracterizes her te stimony.  It's 
 
         24   also irrelevant.  Go ahead. 
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          1          A.   The same answer for this is the answer I 
 
          2   gave to the prior question. 
 
          3          Q.   Which is that the interve nors were not 
 
          4   supportive of the staff's proposal to  produce -- or 
 
          5   to support -- for the credit support rider; is that 
 
          6   right? 
 
          7          A.   Well, that they -- 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  Well, I'll ob ject to the 
 
          9   characterization of the rider.  Go ah ead. 
 
         10          A.   The intervenors have a --  appear to have 
 
         11   a different view on how real the risk  is of these 
 
         12   consequences to the companies and Fir stEnergy Corp., 
 
         13   a very different view perhaps than th e companies and 
 
         14   staff as demonstrated, I guess, by th eir lack of 
 
         15   support for the staff's proposal. 
 
         16          Q.   And the basis for your --  your conclusion 
 
         17   that the intervenors dispute how real  the risk is is 
 
         18   that they did not support rider DMR a s proposed by 
 
         19   the staff; is that correct? 
 
         20               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         21   answered. 
 
         22          A.   I think that's generally correct, yes. 
 
         23          Q.   Now, on page 8, you state  that rider DMR 
 
         24   addresses these challenges in a numbe r of ways, and I 
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          1   am looking at page 8, line 12.  Do yo u see that? 
 
          2          A.   I do. 
 
          3          Q.   Are you talking -- in tha t response are 
 
          4   you talking about rider DMR as propos ed by the 
 
          5   company? 
 
          6          A.   Again, I think rider DMR is proposed by 
 
          7   the staff.  The companies are proposi ng modifications 
 
          8   to the calculation of the dollars tha t would be 
 
          9   included in rider DMR. 
 
         10          Q.   So when you say "Rider DM R" in your 
 
         11   question on page 8, lines 10 and 11, and in your 
 
         12   response on line 12, are you referrin g to what you 
 
         13   have previously testified to as a pro perly 
 
         14   constructed rider DMR? 
 
         15          A.   Yeah, properly designed o r properly 
 
         16   constructed rider DMR, yes. 
 
         17          Q.   Do you believe that the s taff's proposed 
 
         18   DMR addresses these challenges? 
 
         19               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         20   answered. 
 
         21          A.   I think the staff propose d rider DMR was 
 
         22   designed to address these challenges.   I think in 
 
         23   order to do so successfully, there ne eds to be a few 
 
         24   modifications to their calculation. 
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          1          Q.   Now, on page 3, lines 15 through 16, we 
 
          2   are going to go back to that, you tal k about "Rider 
 
          3   RRS as originally approved and as mod ified by the 
 
          4   Proposal is not a subsidy" -- "is not  a subsidy to 
 
          5   stabilize the Companies and protect t hem from 
 
          6   financial harm."  Do you see that? 
 
          7          A.   I see that. 
 
          8          Q.   Okay.  Would you agree wi th me that rider 
 
          9   RRS as originally pro -- approved is a subsidy? 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  Well, I'm goi ng to object, 
 
         11   asked and answered.  We've been throu gh this already. 
 
         12          A.   No. 
 
         13          Q.   And would you agree that rider RRS as 
 
         14   modified is a subsidy? 
 
         15               MR. KUTIK:  Same objectio n.  Now, we are 
 
         16   wasting time.  Go ahead. 
 
         17          A.   No. 
 
         18          Q.   Will rider RRS originally  approved 
 
         19   protect -- as originally approved pro tect the 
 
         20   companies from financial harm? 
 
         21               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         22               THE WITNESS:  May I have the question 
 
         23   reread, please. 
 
         24               (Record read.) 
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          1          A.   No. 
 
          2          Q.   And will rider RRS as mod ified protect 
 
          3   the companies from financial harm? 
 
          4          A.   No. 
 
          5          Q.   And why not? 
 
          6          A.   Because it doesn't. 
 
          7          Q.   Can you explain to me the n, 
 
          8   Ms. Mikkelsen, if rider -- rider RRS as modified does 
 
          9   not protect the companies from financ ial harm and 
 
         10   modified DMR does -- let me strike th at. 
 
         11               Is it your testimony that  modified rider 
 
         12   DMR protects the companies from finan cial harm? 
 
         13               MR. KUTIK:  Objection.  I  am not sure 
 
         14   what modified rider DMR means. 
 
         15          Q.   DMR as modified -- I'm so rry.  As 
 
         16   modified -- let me strike that. 
 
         17               Would you agree with me t hat DMR -- rider 
 
         18   DMR with the modifications that you h ave made in your 
 
         19   testimony to that rider protects the companies from 
 
         20   financial harm? 
 
         21          A.   Rider DMR reflecting the modifications 
 
         22   proposed in my testimony provides cre dit support to 
 
         23   the companies to allow them to jump-s tart grid 
 
         24   modernization activities. 
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          1          Q.   And will that -- I'm sorr y.  You are 
 
          2   done? 
 
          3          A.   Yes. 
 
          4          Q.   And will that credit supp ort protect the 
 
          5   companies from financial harm? 
 
          6          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question? 
 
          7          Q.   What is it about my quest ion you don't 
 
          8   understand? 
 
          9          A.   Specifically what you mea n by "financial 
 
         10   harm" in that context. 
 
         11          Q.   I'm specifically looking at your phrase 
 
         12   on page 3, line 17, where you use the  term "protect 
 
         13   them from financial harm."  Using it the same way 
 
         14   that you have used it in that part of  your 
 
         15   proceeding -- in that part of your te stimony, I am 
 
         16   asking you does rider DMR as modified  protect the 
 
         17   companies from financial harm? 
 
         18          A.   I can't use that phrase i n the context of 
 
         19   the question you are asking me becaus e this phrase is 
 
         20   very specific to financial harm that may accrue to a 
 
         21   company as they transition SSO servic e to 
 
         22   market-based pricing and separate the ir generation 
 
         23   assets and there would be no such fin ancial harm 
 
         24   opportunity to the companies because they've already 
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          1   completed the transition and already separated their 
 
          2   generating assets so I can't -- I can 't make that -- 
 
          3   I can't answer the question as you've  posed it. 
 
          4          Q.   If I define "financial ha rm" as falling 
 
          5   below investment grade, would you agr ee with me that 
 
          6   rider DMR as modified by the companie s protects the 
 
          7   companies from financial harm? 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
          9   answered. 
 
         10          A.   I think rider DMR along w ith the other 
 
         11   actions that are being taken by the c ompany and the 
 
         12   other entities within the FirstEnergy  Corporation 
 
         13   collectively avoid that financial har m, as you've 
 
         14   described financial harm in that cont ext. 
 
         15          Q.   Can you explain to me, Ms . Mikkelsen -- 
 
         16   let me strike that. 
 
         17               In your testimony you tes tify that 
 
         18   "Although a properly" -- and I am loo king at page 4, 
 
         19   "Although a properly designed DMR can  significantly 
 
         20   benefit customers, the proposal is mo re beneficial to 
 
         21   customers."  Do you see that referenc e? 
 
         22          A.   I do. 
 
         23          Q.   Is it your understanding that the 
 
         24   proposal is more beneficial to the co mpanies rather 
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          1   than a properly designed rider DMR? 
 
          2          A.   My testimony is the propo sal is more 
 
          3   beneficial to customers. 
 
          4          Q.   I understand what your te stimony is.  I 
 
          5   am asking your opinion on whether the  proposal is 
 
          6   more beneficial to the companies than  -- than a 
 
          7   properly designed rider DMR. 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          9          A.   I think the proposal take n in totality 
 
         10   with all of the elements of the ESP I V is more 
 
         11   beneficial to the companies -- the cu stomers in the 
 
         12   state. 
 
         13          Q.   And in providing that tes timony, are you 
 
         14   taking into account the credit that t he company 
 
         15   projects will be paid to customers un der the 
 
         16   proposal? 
 
         17          A.   Yes. 
 
         18          Q.   Now, on page 4, lines 17 through 18, you 
 
         19   state that "The Proposal should be ma intained to 
 
         20   ensure these benefits of the PUCO-app roved Stipulated 
 
         21   ESP IV remain intact."  Do you see th at? 
 
         22          A.   Yes. 
 
         23          Q.   By that testimony are you  saying that if 
 
         24   the PUCO adopts the staff's proposed DMR, that the 
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          1   stipulation commitments associated wi th the proposal 
 
          2   will not apply? 
 
          3               THE WITNESS:  May I ask t o have that 
 
          4   question reread, please. 
 
          5          Q.   Let me rephrase that.  I' m sorry.  I 
 
          6   think I misspoke.  Are you saying by your testimony 
 
          7   on page 4, lines 17 through 18, that if the PUCO 
 
          8   adopts the staff's proposed DMR, that  the stipulation 
 
          9   commitments associated with the third  supplemental 
 
         10   stipulation will not apply? 
 
         11               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         12          A.   Not necessarily. 
 
         13          Q.   And can you explain what you mean by "not 
 
         14   necessarily"? 
 
         15          A.   I would need to understan d fully what the 
 
         16   Commission was approving with what co nditions, if 
 
         17   any.  And I think based on that knowl edge, the 
 
         18   company would need to make a determin ation -- pardon 
 
         19   me.  The companies would need to make  a determination 
 
         20   at that time whether or not to accept  the modified 
 
         21   ESP IV. 
 
         22          Q.   If we assume that the PUC O adopt the 
 
         23   staff's -- staff's proposed DMR with no modification, 
 
         24   is it your testimony that the stipula tion commitments 
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          1   associated with the third supplementa l stipulation 
 
          2   will not apply? 
 
          3               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
          4   answered. 
 
          5          A.   I think the companies wou ld make a 
 
          6   judgment at that time whether to acce pt the ESP as 
 
          7   modified or not. 
 
          8          Q.   Ms. Mikkelsen, are you te stifying that if 
 
          9   the PUCO adopts the modifications to the DMR that you 
 
         10   present in your testimony, that the s tipulation 
 
         11   commitments associated with the third  supplemental 
 
         12   stipulation will continue to apply? 
 
         13               MR. KUTIK:  Well, I'll ob ject.  Now I 
 
         14   will instruct her not to answer.  You  have asked that 
 
         15   question three times.  She's given yo u answers.  Move 
 
         16   on. 
 
         17               MS. WILLIS:  This has to do with the 
 
         18   DMR -- 
 
         19               MR. KUTIK:  I'm sorry.  I 'm sorry.  I 
 
         20   have given my instruction.  Ask your next question. 
 
         21          Q.   (By Ms. Willis) Are you t estifying, 
 
         22   Ms. Mikkelsen, that if the PUCO adopt s the DMR with 
 
         23   your proposed modifications, not the staff's proposed 
 
         24   DMR, that the stipulation commitments  associated with 
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          1   the third supplemental stipulation wi ll not apply? 
 
          2               MR. KUTIK:  I'll object.  I am not sure 
 
          3   what that means.  Go ahead. 
 
          4          A.   That's not my testimony. 
 
          5          Q.   Now, on page 5, lines 3 a nd 4, you are -- 
 
          6   the question is posed "Are the Compan ies opposed to 
 
          7   Staff's recommended Rider DMR?"  Do y ou see that 
 
          8   question? 
 
          9          A.   Yes. 
 
         10          Q.   Can you tell me whether o r not the 
 
         11   companies are proposed to the staff's  recommended -- 
 
         12   are opposed to the staff's recommende d rider? 
 
         13          A.   The companies believe a p roperly designed 
 
         14   rider DMR would benefit the public, b ut that the 
 
         15   proposal of the companies provides th e greatest 
 
         16   benefit to customers. 
 
         17          Q.   Are the companies opposed  to the staff's 
 
         18   recommended rider? 
 
         19               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         20   answered. 
 
         21               You can stand on your ans wer, if you 
 
         22   wish. 
 
         23          A.   I'll stand on my answer, thank you. 
 
         24          Q.   Are the companies -- is i t your testimony 
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          1   the companies are not opposed to the concept of a DMR 
 
          2   but are opposed to how the staff desi gned the DMR? 
 
          3          A.   My testimony is that the companies' 
 
          4   proposal is and remains the companies ' recommendation 
 
          5   but that a properly designed rider DM R would benefit 
 
          6   the public. 
 
          7          Q.   Now, on page 5, line 16, you testify that 
 
          8   the credit support provided by rider DMR will allow 
 
          9   the companies to fund investments to begin 
 
         10   modernizing the distribution system, preparing it for 
 
         11   integration with smart grid technolog ies, or for 
 
         12   evaluation and possible integration o f battery 
 
         13   technology.  Can you tell me what you  mean there by 
 
         14   "capital support"? 
 
         15               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         16   answered. 
 
         17          A.   Capital support there is use of the 
 
         18   dollars received through the rider, r ider DMR, to 
 
         19   fund grid modernization-related activ ities. 
 
         20          Q.   So you are referring to t he actual 
 
         21   funding of grid modernization investm ent before rider 
 
         22   AMR begins? 
 
         23          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         24   please? 
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          1          Q.   When you refer to the cre dit support, are 
 
          2   you referring to the actual funding o f grid 
 
          3   modernization investment? 
 
          4          A.   It could be used that way . 
 
          5          Q.   But it does not necessari ly have to be 
 
          6   used that way? 
 
          7          A.   Correct. 
 
          8          Q.   Is it your understanding that under the 
 
          9   staff's proposal the capital support would be used to 
 
         10   actually fund investments? 
 
         11          A.   No. 
 
         12          Q.   Is it your understanding that rider AMI 
 
         13   allows the company to collect a retur n on and a 
 
         14   return of its grid modernization inve stment? 
 
         15          A.   I think rider AMI is in p lace to allow 
 
         16   recovery of dollars associated with g rid 
 
         17   modernization. 
 
         18          Q.   Is it appropriate to char acterize the 
 
         19   monies associated with grid moderniza tion as a return 
 
         20   on and a return of grid modernization  investment? 
 
         21               THE WITNESS:  May I have that question 
 
         22   reread, please. 
 
         23               (Record read.) 
 
         24               MS. WILLIS:  I'm sorry, K aren.  Let me 
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          1   rephrase.  If that's what I said, I m isspoke. 
 
          2          Q.   Is it your testimony that  rider AMI is 
 
          3   designed to allow a collection -- is designed to 
 
          4   allow the companies to collect a retu rn on and a 
 
          5   return of its investments in grid mod ernization? 
 
          6          A.   Yes. 
 
          7          Q.   Now, earlier this morning  you -- you 
 
          8   testified on your -- about your testi mony on page 5, 
 
          9   lines 19 through 21, and specifically  you were 
 
         10   addressing questions with regard to t he 
 
         11   rehabilitation of urban area network systems, the 
 
         12   replacement of underground cable, and  upgrade of 
 
         13   overhead circuits and substation equi pment.  Do you 
 
         14   recall those questions? 
 
         15          A.   Yes. 
 
         16          Q.   Can you tell me if there are any efforts 
 
         17   currently underway for any of these i tems? 
 
         18          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         19   please? 
 
         20          Q.   Can you tell me, Ms. Mikk elsen, whether 
 
         21   or not the company is currently inves ting in items 
 
         22   that would rehabilitate the urban are a network 
 
         23   system? 
 
         24          A.   The companies do not -- a re not currently 
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          1   implementing a program aimed at rehab ilitating the 
 
          2   urban area network systems. 
 
          3          Q.   Are the companies current ly investing in 
 
          4   a program that is aimed at the replac ement of 
 
          5   underground cable? 
 
          6          A.   No. 
 
          7          Q.   And are the companies cur rently investing 
 
          8   in a program that is aimed at upgradi ng overhead 
 
          9   circuits and substation equipment? 
 
         10          A.   No. 
 
         11          Q.   Now, would the credit sup port through 
 
         12   rider DMR that you speak of in this r esponse to the 
 
         13   question and answer posed on page 5, lines 13 through 
 
         14   23, be a fund -- would it be directed  to funding a 
 
         15   revenue requirement for the items you  mentioned, or 
 
         16   would it be directed to financing the  investment in 
 
         17   those items? 
 
         18               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         19          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         20   please? 
 
         21          Q.   You indicate that -- that  -- and I am 
 
         22   looking at lines 19 through 21 that " Significant 
 
         23   investments to modernize distribution  system could 
 
         24   focus on," and then you indicate a nu mber of items 
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          1   that we have been discussing.  And ea rlier in that 
 
          2   same answer you are talking about the  credit support 
 
          3   allowing this type of significant inv estment, and so 
 
          4   my question is would the credit suppo rt that you are 
 
          5   talking about that would allow signif icant 
 
          6   investments, would that be credit sup port that's 
 
          7   related to funding the revenue requir ements for these 
 
          8   items? 
 
          9               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         10          A.   No. 
 
         11          Q.   Would the credit support rather be 
 
         12   directed at financing the investment for these items? 
 
         13          A.   I mean the credit support  would be 
 
         14   provided by rider DMR either through capital support 
 
         15   or through access to the capital mark ets under more 
 
         16   favorable terms. 
 
         17          Q.   And is it your testimony,  Ms. Mikkelsen, 
 
         18   that the activities described on line s 20 through 22 
 
         19   is different from the activities list ed on the top of 
 
         20   page 6 and lines 1 through 3? 
 
         21          A.   Yes. 
 
         22          Q.   And would you say that th e activities 
 
         23   that you list on page 5, lines 19 thr ough 22, are 
 
         24   related to distribution reliability a nd safety as 
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          1   opposed to modernization? 
 
          2          A.   No.  I think they relate to modernizing 
 
          3   the distribution system which would b enefit the 
 
          4   customers in terms of reliability, sa fety, and 
 
          5   customer satisfaction. 
 
          6          Q.   Are you distinguishing th e customer 
 
          7   benefits derived from those types of investment from 
 
          8   the customer benefits that would be d erived from the 
 
          9   investments listed on the top of page  6, lines 1 
 
         10   through 5? 
 
         11               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         12          A.   Yes. 
 
         13          Q.   And can you -- let me str ike that. 
 
         14               Now, on page 5, line 19, you use the term 
 
         15   "significant investment."  Can you de fine what you 
 
         16   mean there by "significant investment "? 
 
         17          A.   I think there are signifi cant dollars 
 
         18   that could be spent to modernize the companies' 
 
         19   distribution system. 
 
         20          Q.   And by significant dollar s, can you tell 
 
         21   me the range of dollars that you're t hinking of when 
 
         22   you call them significant? 
 
         23          A.   I'm thinking that could r ange between 
 
         24   500 million and a billion dollars. 
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          1          Q.   And with regard to the si gnificant 
 
          2   investments that you are referring to  on page 5, 
 
          3   lines 20 through 22, is there an appr oved plan for 
 
          4   FirstEnergy utilities to engage in th ose activities? 
 
          5               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
          6   answered. 
 
          7          A.   No. 
 
          8          Q.   Now, on page 6, lines 6 t hrough 8, you 
 
          9   state that "Ultimately, grid moderniz ation will 
 
         10   benefit customers...by enabling an ar ray of 
 
         11   innovative products and services."  D o you see that 
 
         12   statement? 
 
         13          A.   I mean, the statement in totality reads 
 
         14   "Ultimately, grid modernization will benefit 
 
         15   customers and competitive suppliers b y enabling an 
 
         16   array of innovative products and serv ices." 
 
         17          Q.   Yes.  And I want to focus  on how 
 
         18   ultimately grid modernization will be nefit customers, 
 
         19   leaving out the competitive suppliers  at the moment. 
 
         20   Can you tell me what the basis of the  statement is 
 
         21   that "Ultimately, grid modernization will benefit 
 
         22   customers...by enabling an array of i nnovative 
 
         23   products and services"? 
 
         24          A.   That customers will be be nefited by 
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          1   having an array of innovative product s and services. 
 
          2          Q.   And is it your understand ing that 
 
          3   customers are seeking an array of inn ovative products 
 
          4   and services?  And when I say "custom ers," I am 
 
          5   talking about FirstEnergy utility cus tomers. 
 
          6          A.   I think there are custome rs who are 
 
          7   seeking more innovative products and services. 
 
          8          Q.   And what's the basis of y our statement 
 
          9   that you think that there are custome rs that are 
 
         10   "seeking more innovative products and  services"? 
 
         11          A.   Conversations with the su pplier community 
 
         12   that communicates interest the custom ers have in 
 
         13   products that they are not currently able to offer, 
 
         14   discussions with customers who have n et metering or 
 
         15   are considering distributed generatio n, things of 
 
         16   that nature, conversations of that na ture. 
 
         17          Q.   And how many conversation s would you say 
 
         18   you've had with the supplier communit y about 
 
         19   customers wanting an array of more in novative 
 
         20   products and services over the past, let's say, year? 
 
         21          A.   Maybe "conversations" is not the right 
 
         22   word.  I certainly have heard much di scussion in the 
 
         23   retail market investigation in differ ent ESP 
 
         24   proceedings over time in separate sup plier 
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          1   collaborative meetings that we've had  over the last 
 
          2   several years, that kind of combinati on of 
 
          3   discussions. 
 
          4          Q.   And you mentioned discuss ions with the 
 
          5   customers with respect to net meterin g or that net. 
 
          6   Can you tell me how many discussions over the last 
 
          7   year you've had with customers over n et metering 
 
          8   where they have indicated that they w ould like an 
 
          9   array of more innovative products and  services? 
 
         10          A.   I don't have an exact cou nt for you. 
 
         11          Q.   Can you give me a rough e stimate of how 
 
         12   many discussions you had with custome rs that have net 
 
         13   metering with respect to their desire  to have an 
 
         14   array of more innovative products and  services than 
 
         15   currently offered? 
 
         16          A.   I've had conversation -- a number of 
 
         17   conversations, either directly with c ustomers or with 
 
         18   folks from our company, who are deali ng with 
 
         19   customers as it relates to metering t echnologies 
 
         20   associated with distributed generatio n, whether it be 
 
         21   net metering or just stand-alone dist ributed 
 
         22   generation. 
 
         23          Q.   And can you tell me with respect to the 
 
         24   discussions you've had with people wi thin your cus -- 
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          1   within your company how many conversa tions those 
 
          2   would have been over the past year? 
 
          3          A.   I don't have an estimate for you. 
 
          4          Q.   And do you have an estima te for me how 
 
          5   many conversations you would have had  directly with 
 
          6   customers over net metering that have  net metering 
 
          7   about their desire to have an array o f more 
 
          8   innovative products and services? 
 
          9          A.   I don't have a number for  you. 
 
         10          Q.   Have you -- have you -- w hen I say "you," 
 
         11   I am talking about you or any others within the 
 
         12   FirstEnergy utilities surveyed custom ers on whether 
 
         13   or not they desired to have an array of more 
 
         14   innovative products and services that  are -- than are 
 
         15   currently offered by the company? 
 
         16          A.   I can't think of a survey  that 
 
         17   specifically fits that criteria. 
 
         18          Q.   Can you think of any surv eys that would 
 
         19   generally give you an indication of w hether or not 
 
         20   there are customers who desire to hav e an array of 
 
         21   more innovative products and services  than are 
 
         22   currently offered by the companies? 
 
         23          A.   Well, we have certainly i n the past 
 
         24   surveyed our customers who participat ed in our 
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          1   SmartGrid pilot.  And we have offered  on a pilot 
 
          2   basis time-differentiated products to  those customers 
 
          3   so that would inform my thinking as w ell. 
 
          4          Q.   Now, you said you had sur veyed customers 
 
          5   in the SmartGrid pilot.  Can you tell  me how many 
 
          6   customers are in the SmartGrid pilot that you might 
 
          7   have surveyed to determine whether or  not they were 
 
          8   interested in obtaining an array -- m ore innovative 
 
          9   products and services? 
 
         10          A.   Again, I think what I sai d is I don't 
 
         11   recall a survey that specifically add ressed the 
 
         12   criteria that you are laying out but that more 
 
         13   generally we have surveyed customers as part of our 
 
         14   SmartGrid pilot, so I want to be clea r that I don't 
 
         15   think you're quite properly -- 
 
         16          Q.   I appreciate -- I'm sorry .  I do 
 
         17   appreciate that.  I don't mean to cut  you off either. 
 
         18   Can you tell me how many customers we re surveyed in 
 
         19   the SmartGrid pilot, if you know? 
 
         20          A.   I don't remember the numb er. 
 
         21          Q.   Do you know how many cust omers there are 
 
         22   in the SmartGrid pilot? 
 
         23          A.   Approximately 36,000. 
 
         24          Q.   And you also indicated th at I believe you 
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          1   said there were customers that had th e opportunity to 
 
          2   participate in a pilot offering time- differentiated 
 
          3   rates; is that correct? 
 
          4          A.   Yes. 
 
          5          Q.   And can you tell me in th at pilot how 
 
          6   many customers opted to participate i n the pilot 
 
          7   program for time-differentiated rates ? 
 
          8          A.   I don't recall.  I don't remember the 
 
          9   number. 
 
         10          Q.   Would you believe that th at number would 
 
         11   be relatively small given the total n umber of 
 
         12   customers?  And keep it with resident ial customers. 
 
         13          A.   Yeah.  I don't remember.  There were a 
 
         14   couple of time-differentiated product s that were 
 
         15   offered, so I would have to -- and it  was, you know, 
 
         16   a couple of years ago.  I would have to go back and 
 
         17   look.  I don't remember the numbers. 
 
         18          Q.   You don't remember whethe r or not the 
 
         19   number was small or large; is that co rrect? 
 
         20               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         21   answered. 
 
         22          A.   I stand by my prior answe r. 
 
         23          Q.   Can you tell me how compe titive suppliers 
 
         24   would benefit by having grid moderniz ation that will 
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          1   enable an array of more innovative pr oducts and 
 
          2   services? 
 
          3          A.   I think competitive suppl iers would be 
 
          4   able to differentiate their product o ffering. 
 
          5          Q.   And is it your understand ing that if they 
 
          6   are able to differentiate their produ ct offering, 
 
          7   they may increase their sales? 
 
          8          A.   They may. 
 
          9          Q.   They may get a larger mar ket share of 
 
         10   customers, correct? 
 
         11          A.   They may. 
 
         12          Q.   Is there any other benefi t that you can 
 
         13   identify that grid modernization will  provide to 
 
         14   competitive suppliers by enabling an array of more 
 
         15   innovative products and services? 
 
         16          A.   None that come to mind at  this time. 
 
         17          Q.   Now, earlier this morning  you spoke of 
 
         18   the statement on page 6, lines 12 thr ough 13, where 
 
         19   you were testifying on the "debt rede mption 
 
         20   requirements, which exceed one billio n dollars 
 
         21   through 2024."  Do you recall that? 
 
         22          A.   Yes. 
 
         23          Q.   Can you specifically iden tify what those 
 
         24   "debt redemption requirements" are? 



 
 
 
 
                                                               174 
          1               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
          2   answered. 
 
          3          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question? 
 
          4          Q.   Can you tell me, Ms. Mikk elsen, what debt 
 
          5   instrument the one billion dollars --  over one 
 
          6   billion -- the over one billion debt redemption 
 
          7   refers to? 
 
          8          A.   I know that there are $1. 1 billion of 
 
          9   maturing debt across the three Ohio c ompanies through 
 
         10   2024. 
 
         11          Q.   Now, you testify that the re is a need for 
 
         12   cash to fund the capital expenditure program such as 
 
         13   the distribution grid modernization i nitiatives, 
 
         14   correct? 
 
         15          A.   I mean, the testimony tha t I think you 
 
         16   are referring to says specifically th at "The 
 
         17   Companies need access to capital mark ets for a 
 
         18   variety of reasons."  Then it lists s ome of those 
 
         19   reasons. 
 
         20          Q.   Right.  So one of those r easons to access 
 
         21   the capital markets is that they need  cash to fund 
 
         22   capital expenditure programs such as the distribution 
 
         23   grid modernization initiative? 
 
         24          A.   Yes. 
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          1          Q.   Would you describe that a s a short-term 
 
          2   or long-term need? 
 
          3               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          4          A.   I think that's yet to be determined. 
 
          5          Q.   And what factors will be determinative as 
 
          6   to whether or not it will be a short- term or a 
 
          7   long-term need? 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          9          A.   I think in part the ultim ate disposition 
 
         10   of the grid modernization business pl an case pending 
 
         11   before the Commission. 
 
         12          Q.   Is it your understanding that any of the 
 
         13   three -- let me strike that. 
 
         14               There are three scenarios  proposed in the 
 
         15   grid modernization filing; is that co rrect? 
 
         16          A.   Not entirely. 
 
         17          Q.   And why is that not corre ct? 
 
         18          A.   I think there were three scenarios 
 
         19   included in the grid modernization bu siness plan 
 
         20   filing, but the companies were clear in their filing 
 
         21   that those were provided to facilitat e a 
 
         22   collaborative discussion among the ma ny, many 
 
         23   stakeholders to grid modernization, m any of whom have 
 
         24   significant experience.  So they were  provided in 



 
 
 
 
                                                               176 
          1   that spirit to initiate that collabor ative 
 
          2   discussion. 
 
          3          Q.   Could rider AMI provide c ash to fund 
 
          4   capital expenditures associated with the grid 
 
          5   modernization initiative? 
 
          6          A.   Yes, if the Commission we re to approve 
 
          7   cash to be provided under rider AMI f or that purpose. 
 
          8          Q.   And does the company have  a proposal in 
 
          9   the grid modernization proceeding to use rider AMI to 
 
         10   fund capital expenditures associated with the grid 
 
         11   modernization initiative? 
 
         12          A.   No. 
 
         13          Q.   Is your response that the  company has 
 
         14   only filed a plan and not determined what that plan 
 
         15   will ultimately be because of the col laborative 
 
         16   process suggested? 
 
         17          A.   No. 
 
         18          Q.   Can you tell me why it's been -- you were 
 
         19   saying that the capital -- that the r ider AMI is not 
 
         20   involved? 
 
         21          A.   I didn't say that. 
 
         22          Q.   Can you clarify then what  the role of 
 
         23   rider AMI is with respect to the grid  modernization 
 
         24   initiative proposal at -- filed at th e Commission? 
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          1          A.   Rider AMI would be the ri der where costs 
 
          2   associated with grid modernization ar e covered. 
 
          3          Q.   Is it your testimony -- s trike that. 
 
          4               Now, on page 7, footnote 7, you indicate 
 
          5   that S&P's "credit rating for FirstEn ergy Corp. and 
 
          6   its rated subsidiaries is BBB-."  Do you see that? 
 
          7          A.   Yes. 
 
          8          Q.   Can you tell me what -- w ho you are 
 
          9   referring to by the "rated subsidiari es"? 
 
         10          A.   All of the subsidiaries o f FirstEnergy 
 
         11   Corp. 
 
         12          Q.   So that would include Fir stEnergy 
 
         13   Solutions and the other subsidiaries who own 
 
         14   generation? 
 
         15          A.   Yes. 
 
         16          Q.   Can you tell me if any of  the regulated 
 
         17   utilities in FirstEnergy Corp. are ra ted BBB- by S&P? 
 
         18          A.   All of the subsidiaries o f FirstEnergy 
 
         19   Corp. are rated BBB- by S&P. 
 
         20          Q.   Ms. Mikkelsen, are you --  do you 
 
         21   generally keep abreast of recent rate  -- of ratings 
 
         22   reports issued by entities such as St andard & Poor's 
 
         23   and Moody's? 
 
         24          A.   Yes. 
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          1          Q.   And are you familiar with  the term 
 
          2   "CreditWatch Negative"? 
 
          3          A.   Yes. 
 
          4               MS. WILLIS:  Karen, at th is time I would 
 
          5   ask you to distribute to Ms. Mikkelse n the -- and 
 
          6   mark as Deposition Exhibit No. 3 the credit rating -- 
 
          7   the credit report provided to you. 
 
          8               I'm sorry.  To be precise , what I am 
 
          9   referring to is the single-page docum ent from SNL 
 
         10   Financial dated Monday, July 25, 2016 , with the title 
 
         11   "S&P Ratings places FirstEnergy Solut ions, affiliates 
 
         12   on CreditWatch negative." 
 
         13               (EXHIBIT MARKED FOR IDENT IFICATION.) 
 
         14          Q.   Do you have that before y ou, 
 
         15   Ms. Mikkelsen? 
 
         16          A.   I do. 
 
         17          Q.   And have you seen this re port? 
 
         18          A.   No. 
 
         19          Q.   Are you aware of the fact  that S&P 
 
         20   Ratings placed FirstEnergy Solutions and affiliates 
 
         21   on a CreditWatch Negative? 
 
         22          A.   Yes. 
 
         23          Q.   Can you take a moment to review this 
 
         24   document. 
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          1          A.   Okay.  I have reviewed th e document. 
 
          2          Q.   Now, is it -- in the docu ment there is a 
 
          3   reference to a 1.51 billion pretax im pairment charge. 
 
          4   Do you see that reference? 
 
          5               MR. KUTIK:  Note my objec tion with 
 
          6   respect to this document.  She hasn't  seen it before. 
 
          7          A.   I see the reference. 
 
          8          Q.   Do you know what is being  referred to as 
 
          9   a 1.51 -- $1.51 billion pretax impair ment charge? 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  Same objectio n. 
 
         11               THE WITNESS:  May I have the question 
 
         12   reread, please. 
 
         13               (Record read.) 
 
         14          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question? 
 
         15   I am not sure I understand the questi on. 
 
         16          Q.   Ms. Mikkelsen, do you hav e an 
 
         17   understanding that FirstEnergy Corp. announced on 
 
         18   July 22 that it would retire certain units at Sammis 
 
         19   and Bay Shore? 
 
         20          A.   I think more precisely th e announcement 
 
         21   was that they would retire the units at Sammis and 
 
         22   seek to sell or deactivate the unit a t Bay Shore. 
 
         23          Q.   Thank you.  So you are fa miliar with that 
 
         24   activity, are you not? 
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          1          A.   I'm reading the line righ t out of this, 
 
          2   but yes. 
 
          3          Q.   But apart from -- separat e and apart from 
 
          4   this document, do you have an underst anding and 
 
          5   knowledge of the fact that FirstEnerg y Corp. made an 
 
          6   announcement with respect to its deci sion to 
 
          7   deactivate certain units and sell or deactivate other 
 
          8   units? 
 
          9          A.   Yes. 
 
         10          Q.   And you have familiarity with what 
 
         11   FirstEnergy proposed on its books rel ating to taking 
 
         12   an impairment charge for that action.  
 
         13          A.   Yes. 
 
         14          Q.   And can you tell me what an "impairment 
 
         15   charge" means and what the effect of an impairment 
 
         16   charge is on the financial -- let me strike that. 
 
         17               Can you tell me what a "p retax impairment 
 
         18   charge" is? 
 
         19          A.   I think it in laymen's te rms amounts to 
 
         20   the writing down of the value of cert ain assets 
 
         21   carried on the balance sheet. 
 
         22          Q.   And it's your understandi ng that 
 
         23   associated with the FirstEnergy's ann ouncement that 
 
         24   it was writing down the value of asse ts that were 
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          1   related to generation? 
 
          2          A.   Yes. 
 
          3          Q.   And that it was writing d own the value of 
 
          4   assets related to generation owned by  unregulated 
 
          5   subsidiaries of FirstEnergy Corp.? 
 
          6               THE WITNESS:  May I have that question 
 
          7   reread, please. 
 
          8               (Record read.) 
 
          9          A.   The write-downs would hav e been related 
 
         10   to unregulated subsidiaries' activiti es. 
 
         11          Q.   And so you would agree wi th -- let me 
 
         12   strike that. 
 
         13               Now, the document that ha s been marked as 
 
         14   Deposition Exhibit 3 states that that  impairment 
 
         15   action affects $3.6 million in debt a t FES and its 
 
         16   affiliates.  Do you see that? 
 
         17               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as king her to read 
 
         18   a document she has never seen before.   Go ahead. 
 
         19          A.   I see the reference in th e document. 
 
         20          Q.   Is it your understanding that the pretax 
 
         21   impairment charge affects $3.6 millio n -- billion 
 
         22   dollars in debt at FES and its affili ates? 
 
         23               MR. KUTIK:  May I have th e question read, 
 
         24   please. 



 
 
 
 
                                                               182 
          1               (Record read.) 
 
          2          Q.   I am going to withdraw th at question. 
 
          3   Now, in this document, there is a ref erence to the 
 
          4   FFO to debt ratio as declining due to  milder weather, 
 
          5   combined lower natural gas prices, we aker economics 
 
          6   for the companies' fossil and nuclear  fleet, and a 
 
          7   downward revision from projected reta il sales.  Do 
 
          8   you see that? 
 
          9               MR. KUTIK:  Objection to the reference to 
 
         10   a double hearsay statement that this witness has 
 
         11   never seen before. 
 
         12          A.   I see the statement you a re referring to 
 
         13   in the document. 
 
         14          Q.   Ms. Mikkelsen, do you hav e an 
 
         15   understanding that the FFO to debt ra tio for 
 
         16   FirstEnergy Corp. has been declining due to milder 
 
         17   weather, combined lower natural gas p rices, weaker 
 
         18   economics of the companies' fossil an d nuclear fleet, 
 
         19   and downward revision in projected re tail sales as -- 
 
         20   and when I say the "FFO to debt ratio ," I am speaking 
 
         21   of Standard & Poor's calculation of F FO to debt 
 
         22   ratio. 
 
         23               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         24          A.   My read of this document suggests that 
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          1   the reference here is to the FES and Allegheny Energy 
 
          2   Supply business on a stand-alone basi s, not 
 
          3   FirstEnergy Corp. 
 
          4          Q.   And so are the conditions  that -- are the 
 
          5   conditions -- those conditions leadin g to an FFO to 
 
          6   debt ratio declining related to -- as  you understand 
 
          7   it, related to the regulated utilitie s' subsidiary 
 
          8   operations? 
 
          9               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as king her to 
 
         10   review a double hearsay statement abo ut a document 
 
         11   she has not seen and interpret it. 
 
         12          A.   I would ask to rephrase t he question.  I 
 
         13   didn't understand the question. 
 
         14          Q.   Are you generally aware o f S&P's FFO to 
 
         15   debt ratio as pertaining to FES and A ES on a 
 
         16   stand-alone basis? 
 
         17          A.   No. 
 
         18               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         19          Q.   Now, earlier you testifie d that S&P -- 
 
         20   S&P's credit evaluation was done on w hat you called a 
 
         21   family approach.  Do you recall those  references? 
 
         22          A.   Yes.  Yes. 
 
         23          Q.   And can you tell me then if lower ratings 
 
         24   for FirstEnergy Solutions and Alleghe ny Energy Supply 
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          1   would affect the regulated subsidiari es of 
 
          2   FirstEnergy Corp.'s ratings under S&P 's approach? 
 
          3          A.   My read of this document suggests no. 
 
          4          Q.   Let's say without -- outs ide that 
 
          5   document is it your understanding, gi ven you've 
 
          6   testified to having a familiarity wit h S&P's family 
 
          7   approach to evaluating credit metrics , is it your 
 
          8   understanding that lower ratings for FES and 
 
          9   Allegheny Energy Supply would affect the regulated 
 
         10   subsidiaries ratings? 
 
         11          A.   And I think the answer is  no in this case 
 
         12   because they're making the distinctio n that -- in the 
 
         13   document that you have handed me that  S&P, if they 
 
         14   were to do that, they would do that b ecause they 
 
         15   determined that FES and Allegheny Ene rgy are no 
 
         16   longer core to the parent company, wh ich I think 
 
         17   means they are no longer treating it as part of the 
 
         18   FirstEnergy family, so they are separ ating it out. 
 
         19               The balance of the family  would continue 
 
         20   to be rated at the same level, all of  the remaining 
 
         21   subsidiaries that are core or part of  the family 
 
         22   would continue to be rated at the sam e level as the 
 
         23   parent. 
 
         24          Q.   Is it your understanding -- you have a 
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          1   familiarity with the term core to the  parent company, 
 
          2   is that correct, in terms of how S&P is using it -- 
 
          3               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          4          Q.   -- in this document? 
 
          5               MR. KUTIK:  Objection.  I t's not how S&P 
 
          6   is using it.  It is how a reporter is  using it, No. 
 
          7   1.  No. 2, there's nothing that's bee n established 
 
          8   she is understanding.  All she is doi ng is reading 
 
          9   the document, which she's never seen before. 
 
         10          Q.   You can answer. 
 
         11               THE WITNESS:  May -- I ap ologize.  May I 
 
         12   have the question reread, please. 
 
         13          Q.   Let me try to rephrase th e question. 
 
         14   Ms. Mikkelsen, do you recall your dis cussion this 
 
         15   morning with counsel for the Sierra C lub where you 
 
         16   referred to parent and core entities as being rated 
 
         17   at the same level? 
 
         18          A.   Yes. 
 
         19          Q.   Can you tell me if an ent ity is 
 
         20   considered a core entity -- let me st rike that. 
 
         21               If an entity is a subsidi ary and is 
 
         22   considered a core entity of a -- of t he organization, 
 
         23   under your understanding of the famil y approach that 
 
         24   S&P uses, would the ratings of the su bsidiaries -- a 
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          1   nonregulated subsidiary affect the ra tings of a 
 
          2   regulated subsidiary? 
 
          3               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          4          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question? 
 
          5   I didn't understand the question. 
 
          6          Q.   Sure.  I'm sorry.  It was  -- it was a 
 
          7   doozy.  You -- you spoke this morning  about parents 
 
          8   and core entities as being rated at t he same level, 
 
          9   correct? 
 
         10          A.   I think -- 
 
         11          Q.   For purpose -- 
 
         12          A.   Go ahead. 
 
         13          Q.   Go ahead. 
 
         14               MR. KUTIK:  Somebody talk . 
 
         15          A.   Go ahead. 
 
         16          Q.   Okay.  This morning you t alk -- you spoke 
 
         17   about the parent and core entities be ing rated at the 
 
         18   same level for purposes of Standard &  Poor's ratings. 
 
         19   Do you recall that? 
 
         20          A.   Generally, yes. 
 
         21          Q.   Okay.  And if -- as far a s you understand 
 
         22   it, the -- or do you have an understa nding as to 
 
         23   whether the unregulated subsidiaries like FES and 
 
         24   Allegheny Energy Supply are considere d core entities 
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          1   in terms of Standard & Poor's review?  
 
          2          A.   Yes. 
 
          3          Q.   And what is your understa nding? 
 
          4          A.   That they currently are c onsidered core 
 
          5   and are included in the family rating s but that S&P 
 
          6   placed those affiliates on CreditWatc h Negative and 
 
          7   said it would review whether those en tities should 
 
          8   still be considered core to the paren t. 
 
          9          Q.   And that information that  you just 
 
         10   conveyed to me, is that based upon th e deposition 
 
         11   exhibit that I just handed you, or is  that knowledge 
 
         12   based on other information you have r eviewed and are 
 
         13   familiar with? 
 
         14          A.   Based on other informatio n. 
 
         15          Q.   So if -- so -- so as a co re entity -- let 
 
         16   me strike that. 
 
         17               If -- let me strike that.  
 
         18               Currently the unregulated  subsidiaries 
 
         19   holding generation which, would inclu de FES and 
 
         20   Allegheny Energy Supply, are consider ed core 
 
         21   facilities which would mean for Stand ard & Poor's 
 
         22   that their ratings would affect other  subsidiaries' 
 
         23   ratings; is that correct? 
 
         24          A.   I would say that for Stan dard & Poor's, 
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          1   they rate the parent corporation and all of the 
 
          2   underlying subsidiaries carry the par ent rating as 
 
          3   their S&P rating. 
 
          4          Q.   So is there no relationsh ip between the 
 
          5   ratings -- under S&P's approach, is t here no 
 
          6   relationship between the ratings of s ubsidiaries that 
 
          7   are core entities? 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          9          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question? 
 
         10          Q.   Yes.  So the -- so the ra tings of -- it's 
 
         11   your understanding that the ratings o f Allegheny 
 
         12   Energy Supply and FirstEnergy Solutio ns have no 
 
         13   impact on the unregulated subsidiarie s within FE 
 
         14   Corp.; is that correct? 
 
         15               MR. KUTIK:  May I have th at read? 
 
         16               (Record read.) 
 
         17          Q.   Let me rephrase.  I'm sor ry.  Is it your 
 
         18   understanding, Ms. Mikkelsen, that un der S&P's family 
 
         19   approach that the ratings of Alleghen y Energy Supply 
 
         20   and FirstEnergy Solutions have no imp act on the 
 
         21   ratings of the regulated subsidiaries  of FirstEnergy 
 
         22   Corp. including FirstEnergy utilities ? 
 
         23               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         24   answered. 
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          1          A.   My understanding is S&P r ates the parent 
 
          2   corporation, and then all of the unde rlying core 
 
          3   subsidiaries are assigned the same ra ting as the 
 
          4   parent. 
 
          5          Q.   Is it your understanding that if 
 
          6   Allegheny Energy Supply and FirstEner gy Solutions are 
 
          7   not considered core entities for purp oses of the 
 
          8   Standard & Poor's family approach to ratings, that 
 
          9   they will not affect the parent compa nies' ratings? 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, al so asked and 
 
         11   answered. 
 
         12          A.   I think at that time they  would be rated 
 
         13   separately from the parent and the re maining entities 
 
         14   under the parent that would be consid ered core or a 
 
         15   part of the parent family. 
 
         16          Q.   So would it be beneficial  to the parent, 
 
         17   being FirstEnergy Corp., if the -- if  the unregulated 
 
         18   subsidiaries, AES and FirstEnergy Sol utions, were 
 
         19   considered noncore entities for purpo ses of S&P's 
 
         20   family approach to ratings? 
 
         21               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, ca lls for 
 
         22   speculation, incomplete hypothetical.  
 
         23          A.   Yeah.  I don't know. 
 
         24          Q.   Is it your understanding that AES and 
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          1   FirstEnergy Solutions' credit ratings  are below the 
 
          2   credit ratings of the parent company,  FirstEnergy 
 
          3   Corp., for purposes of S&P? 
 
          4               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
          5   answered. 
 
          6          A.   No. 
 
          7          Q.   Is it your understanding that the credit 
 
          8   ratings of FirstEnergy Corp. have not  been -- let me 
 
          9   strike that. 
 
         10               Is it your understanding that the ratings 
 
         11   of FirstEnergy Corp. have been placed  on CreditWatch 
 
         12   Negative by S&P? 
 
         13          A.   May I ask to have that qu estion reread, 
 
         14   please. 
 
         15               (Record read.) 
 
         16          A.   No. 
 
         17          Q.   So would you agree with m e that the 
 
         18   credit ratings of FirstEnergy Corp. a s we sit here 
 
         19   today are better than the credit rati ng associated 
 
         20   with FirstEnergy Solutions and Allegh eny Energy 
 
         21   Supply? 
 
         22               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         23          A.   I would agree that all of  the entities' 
 
         24   credit ratings are BBB- with the pare nt on Negative 
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          1   Outlook and FES and AES on CreditWatc h Negative. 
 
          2          Q.   And can you tell me the d ifference 
 
          3   between "Negative Outlook" and "Credi tWatch 
 
          4   Negative"? 
 
          5          A.   Not specifically, no. 
 
          6          Q.   Are both of those terms a ssociated with 
 
          7   Standard & Poor's ratings? 
 
          8          A.   Yes. 
 
          9          Q.   Is it your understanding,  Ms. Mikkelsen, 
 
         10   that FirstEnergy Corp. receives about  40 percent of 
 
         11   its revenues from the unregulated seg ment, the 
 
         12   competitive energy services segment? 
 
         13          A.   I don't know. 
 
         14               MR. KUTIK:  Well, let's g o off the 
 
         15   record. 
 
         16               (Recess taken.) 
 
         17          Q.   (By Ms. Willis) Ms. Mikke lsen, a couple 
 
         18   more questions on Deposition Exhibit No. 3.  We -- 
 
         19   that article is based on S&P Ratings;  is that your 
 
         20   understanding? 
 
         21               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         22          A.   I don't know what the aut hor relied upon 
 
         23   for this article. 
 
         24          Q.   Did you see the S&P Ratin gs that placed 
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          1   FirstEnergy Solutions and its affilia tes on 
 
          2   CreditWatch Negative? 
 
          3               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          4          A.   I saw a report from S&P G lobal. 
 
          5          Q.   Okay.  And when -- and so  you're familiar 
 
          6   with that report from S&P Global? 
 
          7          A.   Yes.  I'm sorry.  I said "yes," if you 
 
          8   didn't hear me. 
 
          9          Q.   Yes.  Thank you.  I heard  it. 
 
         10          A.   Oh. 
 
         11          Q.   And is it your understand ing the S&P 
 
         12   Global ratings was July -- was issued  July 22, 2016? 
 
         13          A.   Yes. 
 
         14          Q.   Do you have a copy of tha t S&P ratings 
 
         15   that was issued July 22, 2016, that p laced 
 
         16   FirstEnergy Solutions and affiliates on CreditWatch 
 
         17   Negative? 
 
         18          A.   I don't have a copy of th at with me. 
 
         19          Q.   And so you are -- you sai d you are 
 
         20   familiar with that report, and so my question is the 
 
         21   Deposition Exhibit No. 3 appears to b e a synopsis of 
 
         22   that report, correct? 
 
         23          A.   I haven't made that study .  I can't -- I 
 
         24   mean, it certainly appears to be, but  I haven't made 
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          1   the analysis that it is. 
 
          2          Q.   And do you know whether t he statements 
 
          3   made in Deposition Exhibit No. 3 are true based upon 
 
          4   your review of the actual S&P ratings  report? 
 
          5               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          6          A.   I haven't made that analy sis. 
 
          7          Q.   Have you made an analysis  to determine 
 
          8   whether or not the Deposition Exhibit  No. 3 is 
 
          9   consistent with the S&P July 22 ratin gs report? 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         11          A.   I haven't compared the tw o documents. 
 
         12   I've never seen this document before today, so I 
 
         13   haven't compared the two. 
 
         14          Q.   Now, we talked about the core entities 
 
         15   and the core entities being within a -- within a 
 
         16   corporate structure being rated at th e same level as 
 
         17   the parent.  And I want to explore wh ether or not 
 
         18   FirstEnergy Corp. has the ability to decide that 
 
         19   entities within its corporate structu re are noncore. 
 
         20   So my question is can FE Corp. decide  that entities 
 
         21   within its corporate structure are no ncore? 
 
         22               MR. KUTIK:  Objection.  C alls for 
 
         23   speculation if you are talking about S&P. 
 
         24          A.   I think S&P makes judgmen ts about what 
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          1   they consider to be core and noncore.  
 
          2          Q.   If FirstEnergy spins off or sells a -- 
 
          3   sells AES and FirstEnergy Solutions, would those no 
 
          4   longer be core entities as -- in term s of rating 
 
          5   purposes for S&P's family approach? 
 
          6          A.   They would no longer be r elevant in any 
 
          7   fashion to the ratings of FirstEnergy  Corp. 
 
          8          Q.   Is there any other treatm ent of the AES 
 
          9   and FES by FirstEnergy Corp. that wou ld ensure for 
 
         10   ratings purposes that they were not c onsidered a core 
 
         11   entity of FirstEnergy Corp., if you k now? 
 
         12          A.   I don't know. 
 
         13          Q.   Now, at page 7, line 21, of your 
 
         14   testimony -- we are done now with Dep osition Exhibit 
 
         15   3.  Thank you.  On page 7, line 21, y ou indicate that 
 
         16   the "increase in the long-term costs of debt are 
 
         17   recovered from customers in a distrib ution rate 
 
         18   case."  Do you see that? 
 
         19          A.   Yes. 
 
         20          Q.   For the company under the  stipulation 
 
         21   this won't happen until the end of --  end of the ESP; 
 
         22   is that correct? 
 
         23          A.   The ESP includes a base d istribution rate 
 
         24   freeze provision through the end of t he term of ESP 
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          1   IV. 
 
          2          Q.   And so would you agree wi th me that the 
 
          3   increases in the long-term cost of de bt would not be 
 
          4   recovered from the customers in a dis tribution rate 
 
          5   case proceeding until after the term of the ESP under 
 
          6   the stipulation, the third supplement al stipulation? 
 
          7          A.   Yes. 
 
          8          Q.   And is that the case unde r modified rider 
 
          9   RRS as well as the companies' modifie d approach to 
 
         10   rider DMR? 
 
         11               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         12          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         13   please? 
 
         14          Q.   Sure.  You testified that  an increase in 
 
         15   long-term debt cannot be recovered fr om customers in 
 
         16   a distribution rate case under the th ird supplemental 
 
         17   stipulation until after the term of t he ESP.  Is it 
 
         18   also your testimony that there can --  that the 
 
         19   increase in long-term cost of debt ca nnot be 
 
         20   recovered from customers in a distrib ution rate case 
 
         21   under modified rider RRS until after the ESP term has 
 
         22   expired? 
 
         23          A.   The proposal does not in any way alter 
 
         24   the base rate -- base rate case freez e provision as 
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          1   part of the ESP IV. 
 
          2          Q.   And is it your understand ing that 
 
          3   under -- if the Commission were to ad opt a -- let me 
 
          4   strike that. 
 
          5               Now, on page 8, lines 2 t hrough 3, you 
 
          6   indicate that "higher debt carrying c osts reduce the 
 
          7   funds available to the Companies for investment in 
 
          8   the safe, reliable operation of the d istribution 
 
          9   system."  Do you see that? 
 
         10          A.   Yes. 
 
         11          Q.   Would you agree with me t hat funds are 
 
         12   made available to the companies for i nvestment in 
 
         13   safe, reliable operation of the distr ibution system 
 
         14   under rider DCR? 
 
         15          A.   I would agree that rider DCR provides a 
 
         16   return of and on certain distribution  investments as 
 
         17   limited by the caps. 
 
         18          Q.   And would you agree with me that that 
 
         19   allows funds to be made available to the company for 
 
         20   investing in safe, reliable operation  of the 
 
         21   distribution system? 
 
         22          A.   I think of that as a retu rn of and on 
 
         23   investments the companies have made i n safe -- in the 
 
         24   distribution system in support of saf e, reliable 
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          1   operations. 
 
          2          Q.   Now, on page 8, line 17, you refer to 
 
          3   using dollars collected under rider D MR to fund a 
 
          4   pension obligation.  Do you see that?  
 
          5          A.   I see the reference to a pension 
 
          6   obligation. 
 
          7          Q.   And do you also see the r eference to the 
 
          8   fact that to the extent the dollars w ere collected to 
 
          9   reduce debt or to fund a pension obli gation, that it 
 
         10   would improve the companies' debt to capitalization 
 
         11   credit metric? 
 
         12          A.   I think the sentence prop erly reads "To 
 
         13   the extent the dollars collected were  used to reduce 
 
         14   debt or to fund a pension obligation,  it would 
 
         15   improve the Companies' debt to capita lization credit 
 
         16   metric." 
 
         17          Q.   Can you tell me what the pension 
 
         18   obligations of the EDUs are for -- if  you know, for 
 
         19   the eight-year period of the ESP? 
 
         20               MR. KUTIK:  May I have th e question read, 
 
         21   please. 
 
         22               (Record read.) 
 
         23          A.   I don't know for the eigh t-year period of 
 
         24   the ESP. 



 
 
 
 
                                                               198 
          1          Q.   Do you know what the pens ion obligations 
 
          2   of the Ohio utilities are for on an a nnual basis 
 
          3   during the -- during any time period of the ESP? 
 
          4          A.   Yes. 
 
          5          Q.   And what are those pensio n obligations, 
 
          6   if you know? 
 
          7          A.   I think as of the start o f the ESP IV 
 
          8   period, the pension, in order to fund  the companies' 
 
          9   pension obligation -- fully fund the companies' 
 
         10   pension obligation as of the end of M ay of 2016 as 
 
         11   well as an allocation to the company of service 
 
         12   company pension obligation, the amoun t would range 
 
         13   from $750 million to a billion dollar s and then, of 
 
         14   course, there would be additional obl igations going 
 
         15   forward throughout the term of the ES P. 
 
         16          Q.   And can you tell me where  that 
 
         17   information -- is that information re ported on the 
 
         18   FERC Form 1 if you know? 
 
         19          A.   I don't think so. 
 
         20          Q.   Do you know if that infor mation is 
 
         21   published in any public document? 
 
         22          A.   I don't know. 
 
         23          Q.   Now, on page 8, line 19, you refer to 
 
         24   rider DMR as likely to "be viewed fav orably by 
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          1   Moody's when they assess the regulato ry 
 
          2   framework...."  Do you see that? 
 
          3          A.   Yes. 
 
          4          Q.   And when you are referrin g to "rider DMR" 
 
          5   there, are you referring to the rider  as proposed by 
 
          6   the staff or the rider as modified by  the company? 
 
          7          A.   The rider DMR including t he 
 
          8   company-proposed modifications. 
 
          9          Q.   So you are excluding from  that the 
 
         10   staff's proposal; is that correct? 
 
         11          A.   No, I wouldn't agree with  that. 
 
         12          Q.   So you are testifying tha t rider DMR, as 
 
         13   proposed by the staff, is likely to b e viewed 
 
         14   favorably by Moody's when they assess  the regulatory 
 
         15   framework; is that correct? 
 
         16          A.   I'm not comfortable with the manner in 
 
         17   which you are parsing rider DMR.  Rid er DMR is the 
 
         18   staff's proposal.  We agree that the staff's 
 
         19   proposal, if properly designed, could  provide benefit 
 
         20   to the customers.  So we have suggest ed some 
 
         21   adjustments to the calculation of the  value to be 
 
         22   included in rider DMR, but that doesn 't change rider 
 
         23   DMR or the purpose of rider DMR.  It more 
 
         24   appropriately aligns the dollars coll ected in DMR. 
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          1          Q.   So -- so is the answer th at rider DMR, as 
 
          2   proposed by the staff, would likely - - and 
 
          3   understand -- and I understand that's  not the 
 
          4   companies' proposal.  It's not the co mpanies' 
 
          5   modified proposal, but rider DMR, as proposed by the 
 
          6   staff, it's your testimony that it wi ll likely be 
 
          7   viewed favorably by Moody's when they  assess the 
 
          8   regulatory framework? 
 
          9          A.   No. 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         11          A.   My testimony was that rid er DMR, with the 
 
         12   companies' modifications, would likel y be viewed 
 
         13   favorably by Moody's when they assess  -- 
 
         14          Q.   I'm sorry. 
 
         15          A.   When they assess the regu latory framework 
 
         16   of the companies. 
 
         17          Q.   Thank you.  And what's th e basis of your 
 
         18   statement that you believe rider DMR,  properly 
 
         19   constructed, would be viewed favorabl y by Moody's 
 
         20   when they assess regulatory framework ? 
 
         21               THE WITNESS:  May I have that question 
 
         22   reread, please. 
 
         23               (Record read.) 
 
         24          A.   Well, I think Moody's has  provided a 
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          1   range of 14 to 16 percent, so I think  they would view 
 
          2   use of the midpoint of that range at 15 percent as 
 
          3   more favorable.  I -- and again, I'm speculating, but 
 
          4   that Moody's would recognize, in orde r to have an 
 
          5   impact on the cash from operations to  debt ratio, the 
 
          6   number would have to be grossed up to  a pretax value. 
 
          7   Those are examples that come to mind.  
 
          8          Q.   Have you had -- Ms. Mikke lsen, have you 
 
          9   had interactions with Moody's that wo uld provide a 
 
         10   basis for your statement that rider D MR, properly 
 
         11   structured, would likely be viewed fa vorably by 
 
         12   Moody's when they assess the regulato ry framework? 
 
         13          A.   No. 
 
         14          Q.   And are you aware of conv ersations that 
 
         15   may have been had with representative s of the company 
 
         16   or -- the companies or FirstEnergy Co rp. with Moody's 
 
         17   with respect to rider DMR properly co nstructed? 
 
         18          A.   No.  And, again, my testi mony here just 
 
         19   says what I think would likely be vie wed.  I'm not 
 
         20   asserting that it would be viewed.  I 'm not 
 
         21   speculating that they would view it t hat way.  I am 
 
         22   simply saying that in my judgment, it 's likely to be 
 
         23   viewed favorably. 
 
         24          Q.   Now, on page 8, lines 21,  you testified 
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          1   "DMR credit support would improve the  Companies' 
 
          2   access to the capital markets...."  D o you see that 
 
          3   reference? 
 
          4          A.   Yes. 
 
          5          Q.   Would it improve other en tities within 
 
          6   the corporate structure, would it imp rove their 
 
          7   access to capital markets? 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  May I have th e question read, 
 
          9   please. 
 
         10               (Record read.) 
 
         11               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         12          A.   I don't think it would im prove the access 
 
         13   of other subsidiaries beyond the comp anies. 
 
         14          Q.   Is it your understanding the rider DMR 
 
         15   credit support would improve FirstEne rgy Corp.'s 
 
         16   access to capital markets? 
 
         17          A.   I think, as the companies ' credit metrics 
 
         18   are improved, it may, in turn, improv e the credit 
 
         19   metrics of FirstEnergy Corp. 
 
         20          Q.   And when you use the term  "may improve, 
 
         21   in turn," what does the improvement - - what are the 
 
         22   factors that would bear upon whether or not rider DMR 
 
         23   credit support would improve FirstEne rgy Corp.'s 
 
         24   access to capital markets? 
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          1          A.   An overall improvement in  FirstEnergy 
 
          2   Corp.'s credit metrics. 
 
          3          Q.   So are you -- you are tes tifying that 
 
          4   rider DMR credit support would not ne cessarily 
 
          5   improve FirstEnergy Corp.'s access to  capital 
 
          6   markets? 
 
          7          A.   I'm testifying that rider  DMR would 
 
          8   improve the companies' access to capi tal markets and 
 
          9   its credit metrics and that that may,  in turn, 
 
         10   improve FirstEnergy Corp.'s credit me trics. 
 
         11          Q.   And is that based upon a knowledge of the 
 
         12   S&P family approach to credit ratings ? 
 
         13          A.   I was speaking with respe ct to Moody's 
 
         14   there.  But it probably -- if I think  it through 
 
         15   would -- if the parent's credit metri c is -- credit 
 
         16   metrics are improved under either Moo dy's or S&P then 
 
         17   I think that in both cases that would  im- -- at least 
 
         18   would be taken into consideration whe n the rating 
 
         19   agencies rate those entities. 
 
         20          Q.   The companies currently h ave access to 
 
         21   capital markets, correct? 
 
         22          A.   Yes. 
 
         23          Q.   And how -- would you desc ribe that 
 
         24   capital access as favorable capital - - as favorable 
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          1   access to capital markets? 
 
          2               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          3          A.   Two of the three companie s are rated one 
 
          4   notch above non-investment grade unde r Moody's and 
 
          5   all three of the companies are rated one notch above 
 
          6   non-investment grade under S&P's meth odology, so I 
 
          7   think there is significant opportunit y for 
 
          8   improvement with respect to those cre dit ratings for 
 
          9   the conditions and the corresponding benefits that 
 
         10   would accrue from access to the capit al markets on 
 
         11   favorable terms. 
 
         12          Q.   Would you consider, you u sed this term 
 
         13   this morning, would you use -- would you consider the 
 
         14   utilities's financially challenged? 
 
         15          A.   I'm not, as I sit here no w, remembering 
 
         16   the context of that discussion, so pe rhaps you could 
 
         17   rephrase the question. 
 
         18          Q.   Sure.  This morning you w ere asked 
 
         19   questions about without rider DMR, wo uld FirstEnergy 
 
         20   Corp. move its headquarters, and your  response was 
 
         21   there's a greater likelihood of 
 
         22   financially-challenged organizations taking that type 
 
         23   of action versus a financially-sound company. 
 
         24               MR. KUTIK:  That's not re ally her 
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          1   testimony, but go ahead. 
 
          2          Q.   So I was using it in that  context, that 
 
          3   my question is, in that context, are you considering 
 
          4   the utilities financially challenged?  
 
          5               MR. KUTIK:  Since you did n't give it in 
 
          6   the right context, I am not sure you helped the 
 
          7   witness, so I object. 
 
          8          A.   I did not -- I am certain  I didn't use 
 
          9   the term in that context, so I can't agree to that as 
 
         10   a premise for further responses. 
 
         11          Q.   Now, on page 8, lines 23,  you testify 
 
         12   that "Better access to capital on mor e favorable 
 
         13   terms will in turn benefit customers. "  And then we 
 
         14   turn over to the page 9, and you indi cate that the 
 
         15   "lower cost of capital is passed thro ugh to customers 
 
         16   over time."  Do you see that referenc e? 
 
         17          A.   Yes. 
 
         18          Q.   Can you tell me what peri od of time that 
 
         19   the lower cost of capital is passed t hrough to 
 
         20   customers? 
 
         21          A.   The period of time that t he lower cost of 
 
         22   capital exists after a distribution b ase rate case. 
 
         23          Q.   Is that the only scenario  where the -- 
 
         24   where the lower cost of capital is pa ssed through to 
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          1   customers? 
 
          2          A.   I think customers benefit  from a lower 
 
          3   cost of capital during a period of a base rate freeze 
 
          4   insomuch as the companies have more - - I guess have 
 
          5   lower costs to service debt and, in t urn, have access 
 
          6   to more resources to invest in the sa fe, reliable 
 
          7   operation of their distribution syste m. 
 
          8               MS. WILLIS:  May I have t hat answer 
 
          9   reread. 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  Could you rea d the question 
 
         11   and the answer, please. 
 
         12               MS. WILLIS:  Thank you. 
 
         13               (Record read.) 
 
         14          Q.   So, by your answer, are y ou -- are you 
 
         15   testifying that during the base rate freeze, that 
 
         16   customers -- that the company would h ave lower costs 
 
         17   of service debt and that ability to h ave lower cost 
 
         18   of service debt would give it access to more capital 
 
         19   resources to allow it to invest in th e distribution 
 
         20   system? 
 
         21          A.   I think what I meant ther e is if the 
 
         22   companies have better access to capit al on more 
 
         23   favorable terms, they will have lower  interest 
 
         24   payments, or any of the other provisi ons we've talked 
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          1   about, whether they be collateral pro visions or 
 
          2   contract terms, and to the extent tha t those benefits 
 
          3   exist and manifest themselves in a lo wer cost, then 
 
          4   that provides for additional dollars that would have 
 
          5   otherwise been spent to service that debt or service 
 
          6   those collateral requirements or what  have you, that 
 
          7   could be used to, again, for the safe , reliable 
 
          8   operation of the distribution system.  
 
          9               MS. WILLIS:  May I have t hat answer 
 
         10   reread, please. 
 
         11               (Record read.) 
 
         12          Q.   Now, page 10, lines 2 thr ough 3, you 
 
         13   indicate that -- and you are speaking  of Moody's 
 
         14   here, you indicate that a more recent  target range 
 
         15   for CFO to debt by Moody's is 14 to 1 6 percent, and 
 
         16   since that is a more recent opinion, it should be 
 
         17   followed, correct? 
 
         18          A.   The companies are recomme nding the use of 
 
         19   the midpoint of the 14 to 16 percent range. 
 
         20          Q.   Can you tell me how much Moody's changes 
 
         21   its CFO to debt target for FE Corp.? 
 
         22          A.   I don't know. 
 
         23          Q.   Do you know when the last  time was that 
 
         24   Moody's changed the CFO to debt targe t for FE Corp.? 
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          1          A.   I don't know. 
 
          2          Q.   And do you know what the basis for the 
 
          3   change is? 
 
          4          A.   I don't know. 
 
          5          Q.   Do you know what factors -- let me strike 
 
          6   that. 
 
          7               Now, going to page 11, li nes 14 through 
 
          8   15, you indicate that Mr. Buckley's u se of a 22 -- 
 
          9   22 percent allocation factor based on  the companies' 
 
         10   share of FE Corp.'s operating revenue s in 2015, 
 
         11   inappropriately understates the signi ficance of the 
 
         12   companies to FE Corp.  Do you see tha t? 
 
         13          A.   Yes. 
 
         14          Q.   Would you agree with me t hat the 
 
         15   operating revenue from the regulated utilities 
 
         16   doesn't have generation revenue built  into it? 
 
         17               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         18          A.   No. 
 
         19          Q.   You would not agree with me. 
 
         20          A.   No, I would not agree wit h you. 
 
         21          Q.   Is that because you belie ve -- is it your 
 
         22   testimony that the operating revenue for regulated 
 
         23   utilities would contain SSO generatio n revenues? 
 
         24          A.   Yes.  As I say in my test imony on that 
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          1   very page, at line 21 to 22, "if a cu stomer takes SSO 
 
          2   generation service from the utility i ts generation 
 
          3   related revenue is included in the ut ilities' 
 
          4   operating revenue." 
 
          5          Q.   And as a corollary, the o perating 
 
          6   revenues from the regulated utilities  would not have 
 
          7   the generation revenues built into it  from shop -- 
 
          8   from shopping; is that correct? 
 
          9          A.   Yes.  As I say in the sen tence that 
 
         10   immediately precedes that one, yes. 
 
         11          Q.   And you indicate on line 11 -- or, on 
 
         12   page 11, line 22, which carries over to page 12, 
 
         13   line 4, that the companies' contribut ion to the 
 
         14   shortfall, what you call the "CFO sho rtfall," is 
 
         15   reduced because of the high level of shopping 
 
         16   compared to other FE Corp.'s utilitie s.  Do you see 
 
         17   that? 
 
         18          A.   Yes, I see -- yes. 
 
         19          Q.   Can you tell me what util ities you are 
 
         20   referring to there? 
 
         21          A.   Penn Power; Metropolitan Edison; Penn 
 
         22   Electric; West Penn Power; Jersey Cen tral Power & 
 
         23   Light; Monongahela Power; Potomac, We st Virginia; and 
 
         24   Potomac, Maryland. 
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          1          Q.   And those utilities would  be regulated 
 
          2   utilities where there is no generatio n competition? 
 
          3          A.   No. 
 
          4          Q.   Can you then tell me whic h of those 
 
          5   utilities would be regulated utilitie s where there is 
 
          6   no retail competition? 
 
          7          A.   The West Virginia utiliti es.  Monongahela 
 
          8   Power, and Potomac, West Virginia. 
 
          9          Q.   Those are regulated utili ties where there 
 
         10   is no retail competition? 
 
         11          A.   Correct. 
 
         12          Q.   And the other utilities y ou mentioned 
 
         13   have retail competition, correct? 
 
         14          A.   Customers in those servic e territories 
 
         15   are allowed to shop for a generation supplier. 
 
         16          Q.   Is it your understanding that the 
 
         17   operating revenues from those entitie s that are 
 
         18   subject to competition would not have  -- would only 
 
         19   have equivalent SSO generation revenu es built in? 
 
         20          A.   No. 
 
         21          Q.   Is it your understanding then that the 
 
         22   operating revenue from the regulated utilities where 
 
         23   there is retail competition would hav e generation 
 
         24   revenues built into their operating r evenues that 
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          1   they report? 
 
          2          A.   They would have generatio n revenues 
 
          3   associated with SSO load built into t heir operating 
 
          4   revenue numbers. 
 
          5          Q.   And would you also agree with me that 
 
          6   those subsidiaries, those regulated s ubsidiaries 
 
          7   where there is retail competition, th at they would 
 
          8   not have generation revenues built in to their 
 
          9   operating revenues from shopping -- o r from shoppers, 
 
         10   who are purchasing generation elsewhe re? 
 
         11          A.   Yes. 
 
         12          Q.   Now, on page 12, on lines  4 through 5, 
 
         13   you state that "To reflect the impact  of the higher 
 
         14   shopping in this allocation calculati on is 
 
         15   inconsistent with state policy and is  inappropriate." 
 
         16   Do you see that reference? 
 
         17          A.   Yes. 
 
         18          Q.   Can you tell me how refle cting the impact 
 
         19   of higher shopping in the allocation is inconsistent 
 
         20   with state policy? 
 
         21          A.   The state policy is to su pport the retail 
 
         22   markets; and a calculation that penal izes the 
 
         23   companies for having high levels of s hopping, 
 
         24   consistent with state policy, is inap propriate. 



 
 
 
 
                                                               212 
          1          Q.   Ms. Mikkelsen, how does a  calculation 
 
          2   penalize the companies?  If I -- I'm sorry.  Let me 
 
          3   back up a second. 
 
          4               You testified that the ca lculation, the 
 
          5   allocation calculation penalizes the company.  You 
 
          6   are talking about the staff's calcula tion as 
 
          7   penalizing the companies? 
 
          8          A.   I am talking about the al location.  We 
 
          9   are talking about the allocation. 
 
         10          Q.   And are you talking about  the fact that 
 
         11   the staff allocates only 22 percent o f the -- of the 
 
         12   credit support to Ohio utilities? 
 
         13          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         14   please? 
 
         15          Q.   Let me try.  You indicate d in your 
 
         16   response that the allocation calculat ion penalizes 
 
         17   the companies.  Can you explain what you mean by 
 
         18   that? 
 
         19          A.   The three -- the companie s have the 
 
         20   highest level of shopping as compared  to any of the 
 
         21   other FirstEnergy utilities.  So the other 
 
         22   FirstEnergy utilities would have grea ter amounts 
 
         23   of -- as a percent, greater proportio n of their SSO 
 
         24   generation revenues that are included  in their 
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          1   operating revenue line than the compa nies would 
 
          2   because only the SSO generation reven ue is included. 
 
          3               So, as a result, they wil l, all else 
 
          4   equal, have higher amounts of operati ng revenue 
 
          5   because they have lower amounts of sh opping than what 
 
          6   the companies would have because they  have higher 
 
          7   amounts of shopping.  And so that wou ld put downward 
 
          8   pressure on the allocation calculatio n used by the 
 
          9   staff. 
 
         10          Q.   Ms. Mikkelsen, so if the higher -- if the 
 
         11   other FE utilities have higher amount s of operating 
 
         12   revenue, then is it your -- then unde r the -- under 
 
         13   the DMR proposal, whether it's staff' s or your 
 
         14   modified DMR, wouldn't that mean that  they would be 
 
         15   responsible for a higher amount of cr edit support? 
 
         16          A.   No, because those dollars  would be 
 
         17   collected and paid back out, dollar f or dollar, to 
 
         18   the folks that were providing the gen eration for that 
 
         19   SSO load, so there would be no impact  on the credit 
 
         20   metrics. 
 
         21          Q.   And so the companies are penalized -- I 
 
         22   guess I am trying to understand how, when we use 
 
         23   either a -- when we use -- let me str ike that. 
 
         24               Under the staff's propose d DMR, customers 
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          1   are allocated 22 percent of the credi t support 
 
          2   requirements of FirstEnergy Corp.; is  that correct? 
 
          3          A.   The staff's allocation pr oposal was 22 
 
          4   percent. 
 
          5          Q.   And under your approach, which uses a 
 
          6   different allocation method, the cust omers -- the 
 
          7   FirstEnergy utilities are allocated a  greater portion 
 
          8   of the credit support, correct? 
 
          9          A.   Yes. 
 
         10          Q.   So you are saying because  customers -- 
 
         11   because -- because FirstEnergy utilit ies are 
 
         12   allocated a greater portion of the cr edit support 
 
         13   responsibilities, they are penalized?  
 
         14          A.   No. 
 
         15          Q.   Can you explain how the a llocation of 22 
 
         16   percent, as opposed to 40 percent, pe nalizes -- the 
 
         17   credit support arrangement would pena lize the 
 
         18   companies? 
 
         19               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         20   answered.  We have been over this. 
 
         21          A.   That was not at all what I said. 
 
         22          Q.   So can you explain what y ou said then? 
 
         23   Because I am having trouble following  this. 
 
         24               MR. KUTIK:  Well, she did  explain it.  So 
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          1   what's your next question? 
 
          2               MS. WILLIS:  I would ask her to 
 
          3   reexplain. 
 
          4          Q.   Tell me how the calculati on -- 
 
          5               MR. KUTIK:  You want to s tand on your 
 
          6   prior answers.  She doesn't have to e xplain anything 
 
          7   to you if you don't understand it. 
 
          8          A.   I'll stand on my prior an swer. 
 
          9               MR. KUTIK:  If you have a  question, ask a 
 
         10   question, please. 
 
         11          Q.   Can you explain to me wha t you mean by 
 
         12   down -- placing downward pressure on the allocation 
 
         13   calculation used by staff? 
 
         14               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         15          Q.   What that means? 
 
         16          A.   Could you provide me the reference? 
 
         17          Q.   If we need to, we can hav e the court 
 
         18   reporter read back, several answers a go, where you 
 
         19   used the phrase "downward pressure on  the allocation 
 
         20   calculation used by the staff." 
 
         21               MS. WILLIS:  Karen, could  you read back a 
 
         22   couple of questions -- a couple answe rs ago where she 
 
         23   used that phrase? 
 
         24               (Record read.) 



 
 
 
 
                                                               216 
          1          Q.   The question is, what did  you mean when 
 
          2   you say that would create "downward p ressure on the 
 
          3   allocation calculation used by the st aff"? 
 
          4          A.   It means the allocation p ercentage, using 
 
          5   operating revenues, would be inapprop riately low for 
 
          6   the FirstEnergy -- for the Ohio compa nies, because 
 
          7   they have very little SSO generation revenue in their 
 
          8   operating revenue line because they h ave high levels 
 
          9   of shopping. 
 
         10          Q.   And how does having inapp ropriately low 
 
         11   operating revenues penalize the compa ny in terms of 
 
         12   rider DMR? 
 
         13          A.   I don't know that I said we had 
 
         14   inappropriately low levels of operati ng revenues.  I 
 
         15   think I said the allocation methodolo gy would result 
 
         16   in an inappropriately low allocation because the 
 
         17   operating revenues of the companies w ould be lower 
 
         18   than the other FirstEnergy utilities because there is 
 
         19   such a high level of shopping in the companies' 
 
         20   service territories. 
 
         21          Q.   So how would the allocati on using 
 
         22   operating revenues be inappropriately  low -- let me 
 
         23   strike that. 
 
         24               How would the allocation methodology 
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          1   proposed by the staff, which would, i n your opinion, 
 
          2   result in inappropriately low operati ng revenues 
 
          3   being shown, how would that penalize the company 
 
          4   related to rider DMR? 
 
          5               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
          6   answered. 
 
          7          A.   I don't think the allocat ion is the 
 
          8   appropriate metric to allocate, for t he purpose it's 
 
          9   being used in this calculation, and I 've pointed in 
 
         10   my testimony to a couple of reasons w hy that's an 
 
         11   inappropriate allocation methodology or calculation. 
 
         12          Q.   I do understand that.  An d what I am 
 
         13   struggling with, Ms. Mikkelsen, is ho w using the 
 
         14   allocation, having a lower DMR rider,  penalizes the 
 
         15   FirstEnergy utilities. 
 
         16               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         17   answered. 
 
         18          A.   I don't think I ever test ified it 
 
         19   penalized the FirstEnergy utilities.  I think it 
 
         20   is -- it is an inappropriate calculat ion -- if the 
 
         21   companies had no shopping, inconsiste nt with state 
 
         22   policy, they would have significantly  higher 
 
         23   operating revenues.  And then when yo u calculate 
 
         24   their share of operating revenues, vi s-a-vis the 
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          1   other utilities, their allocation per centage would be 
 
          2   much higher under the staff's methodo logy. 
 
          3          Q.   Do you recall -- 
 
          4          A.   But it doesn't make sense . 
 
          5          Q.   Do you recall using the t erm "penalizes 
 
          6   the companies"? 
 
          7          A.   I don't.  And if I did, I  probably 
 
          8   shouldn't have used it in the context  of the 
 
          9   discussion, but I used it in -- I use d -- if I used 
 
         10   it, it was used in the context of it' s an 
 
         11   inappropriate allocation.  And if it' s an 
 
         12   inappropriate calculation -- or alloc ation, then it 
 
         13   serves to penalize or not be appropri ate in terms of 
 
         14   the allocation that's attempting to o ccur. 
 
         15          Q.   And if it's not appropria te, what is the 
 
         16   impact on the companies?  If the allo cation is 
 
         17   inappropriate in that it is too low, how does that 
 
         18   affect the company? 
 
         19          A.   Well, what that does is a ffect the 
 
         20   calculation, and it doesn't appropria tely reflect the 
 
         21   significance of the companies to Firs tEnergy 
 
         22   Corporation. 
 
         23          Q.   And why is it necessarily  -- necessary to 
 
         24   appropriately indicate the importance  of the 
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          1   companies to FirstEnergy Corporation?  
 
          2          A.   In order to better reflec t the 
 
          3   significance of the companies to Firs tEnergy 
 
          4   Corporation. 
 
          5          Q.   And why is it better to r eflect the 
 
          6   significance of the companies to the FirstEnergy 
 
          7   Corporation? 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  Well, now you  are arguing 
 
          9   with the witness, so I am going to in struct her not 
 
         10   to answer. 
 
         11               MS. WILLIS:  I didn't rea lize -- 
 
         12               MR. KUTIK:  No, no.  You are arguing now. 
 
         13   She has given you answers.  She has b een through this 
 
         14   exhaustively.  It's time to move on. 
 
         15               MS. WILLIS:  Could I have  the question 
 
         16   and answer reread, please. 
 
         17               (Record read.) 
 
         18          Q.   Ms. Mikkelsen, how does b etter reflecting 
 
         19   the significance of the companies to FirstEnergy 
 
         20   Corporation benefit customers? 
 
         21          A.   The customers would be be nefited by the 
 
         22   improved credit support and the jump- starting of the 
 
         23   distribution modernization efforts. 
 
         24          Q.   So are you saying that th e more customers 
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          1   pay under rider DMR, the more they wi ll be benefited 
 
          2   by improved credit support? 
 
          3               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, ar gumentative. 
 
          4          A.   No. 
 
          5          Q.   Now, referring to your te stimony on 
 
          6   page -- at page 15, line 10, you thin k that the term 
 
          7   of rider DMR should be the same as th e term of the 
 
          8   ESP.  Do you see that? 
 
          9          A.   Yes. 
 
         10          Q.   Can you tell me why the t erm of rider DMR 
 
         11   should be the same as the term of ESP  IV? 
 
         12          A.   Because for consistency, over the term of 
 
         13   the ESP, I think rider DMR should be for the same 
 
         14   term as ESP IV, particularly as it re lates to staff's 
 
         15   condition which is for the entire ter m of ESP IV. 
 
         16          Q.   Is it your testimony that  rider DMR will 
 
         17   be needed for the entire term of the ESP to provide 
 
         18   credit support? 
 
         19          A.   I -- 
 
         20               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         21          A.   Yes. 
 
         22          Q.   And what is that based on ? 
 
         23          A.   The cash requirements ove r the term of 
 
         24   the ESP IV. 
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          1          Q.   And the cash requirements  of the term of 
 
          2   the ESP IV, what would those be? 
 
          3          A.   The ones we've been discu ssing throughout 
 
          4   the day. 
 
          5          Q.   Are those the cash requir ements -- the 
 
          6   same cash requirements that were met by the -- the 
 
          7   third -- let me strike that. 
 
          8               Are you referring to the same cash 
 
          9   requirements that pertain to the thir d supplemental 
 
         10   stipulation? 
 
         11               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         12          A.   No. 
 
         13          Q.   What's the difference bet ween the cash 
 
         14   requirements that you are referring t o that 
 
         15   necessitate a need for the rider DMR over eight years 
 
         16   and the cash requirements that were n ecessitated 
 
         17   under the ESP IV as stipulated and ap proved? 
 
         18               MR. KUTIK:  Objection.  M ischaracterizes 
 
         19   her testimony.  The question at this point is almost 
 
         20   incomprehensible.  If you can answer,  go ahead. 
 
         21          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         22   please? 
 
         23          Q.   Sure.  You were in -- in response to my 
 
         24   question -- I asked you a question ab out -- let me 
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          1   strike that. 
 
          2               You said rider DMR is nee ded for the 
 
          3   entire term of the ESP IV; is that co rrect? 
 
          4          A.   Yes, the term of rider DM R should be the 
 
          5   same as the term of the ESP IV. 
 
          6          Q.   And you explained that th e basis of that 
 
          7   statement was that rider DMR was need ed to meet the 
 
          8   cash requirements over the term of th e ESP IV and 
 
          9   that those cash requirements relate t o the grid 
 
         10   modernization, correct? 
 
         11               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         12          A.   No. 
 
         13          Q.   Well, what did the cash r equirements, 
 
         14   needed over the term of the ESP IV, r elate to beyond 
 
         15   the grid modernization program? 
 
         16               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         17   answered. 
 
         18          A.   The vision laid out by th e staff as part 
 
         19   of DMR for grid modernization as desc ribed by 
 
         20   Dr. Choueiki is much broader than the  proposals that 
 
         21   would have been included in the compa nies' grid 
 
         22   modernization business plan.  And, in  addition, as we 
 
         23   discussed earlier today, there are ca sh needs 
 
         24   associated with those additional grid  modernization 
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          1   activities for funding the pension, f or debt that 
 
          2   would mature, for other reasons that I don't know as 
 
          3   I sit here today that may occur over the term of the 
 
          4   ESP. 
 
          5          Q.   Now, Ms. Mikkelsen, you r eferred to the 
 
          6   fact that you believe that the DMR gr id modernization 
 
          7   program proposed by the staff is much  broader than 
 
          8   the modernization proposal under the companies' filed 
 
          9   grid modernization plan; is that corr ect? 
 
         10          A.   That is my understanding of 
 
         11   Dr. Choueiki's testimony. 
 
         12          Q.   And can you give me -- ca n you explain to 
 
         13   me how it is broader?  Can you identi fy what portions 
 
         14   or what testimony Mr. -- Dr. Choueiki  submitted that 
 
         15   describes the more broad proposal? 
 
         16          A.   It would have been his te stimony on the 
 
         17   stand. 
 
         18          Q.   And do you recall on the stand what the 
 
         19   broader elements of his proposal unde r the DMR grid 
 
         20   modernization are? 
 
         21               MR. KUTIK:  Other than wh at she said 
 
         22   already? 
 
         23          Q.   Other than what you have described 
 
         24   already in broad terms. 
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          1          A.   Not without reviewing the  transcript. 
 
          2          Q.   Now, on page 15, lines 10  through 11, you 
 
          3   refer to the "Staff's belief that thr ee years is 
 
          4   sufficient time for FirstEnergy Corp.  to address its 
 
          5   financial situation" and you state th at that's 
 
          6   "contradicted by recent experience."  Do you see 
 
          7   that? 
 
          8          A.   I do. 
 
          9          Q.   Can you tell me what rece nt experience 
 
         10   you are referring to? 
 
         11               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         12          A.   The recent experience of FirstEnergy 
 
         13   Corp. 
 
         14          Q.   Are you talking about the  five-year 
 
         15   experience that you base your CFO to debt calculation 
 
         16   on? 
 
         17          A.   No. 
 
         18          Q.   And what would you be -- what other 
 
         19   recent experience are you referring t o then? 
 
         20          A.   I don't base my calc on f ive years of 
 
         21   experience. 
 
         22          Q.   Then what recent experien ce are you 
 
         23   referring to that is -- that contradi cts the staff's 
 
         24   belief that three years is sufficient  time for 
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          1   FirstEnergy Corp. to address its fina ncial situation? 
 
          2               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
          3   answered. 
 
          4          A.   The information contained  in 
 
          5   Mr. Buckley's testimony. 
 
          6          Q.   And, specifically, can yo u tell me what 
 
          7   information you are referring to? 
 
          8          A.   The deteriorating credit metric of CFO to 
 
          9   debt. 
 
         10          Q.   And that would be shown f or the five-year 
 
         11   period; is that right? 
 
         12          A.   Yes. 
 
         13          Q.   And you testified that th e five-year 
 
         14   period is inappropriate; is that corr ect?  For 
 
         15   purposes of that calculation? 
 
         16          A.   The five-year period -- t he data used for 
 
         17   five years by Mr. Buckley was inappro priate.  The 
 
         18   trend, I think, is very clear from 20 12 forward, the 
 
         19   deteriorating trend. 
 
         20          Q.   And that's the fact that there is a 
 
         21   deteriorating trend shown in Mr. Buck ley's data is a 
 
         22   recent appearance that you believe co ntradicts his 
 
         23   belief that -- staff's belief that th ree years is 
 
         24   sufficient time to address -- for Fir stEnergy Corp. 
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          1   to address its financial situation, c orrect? 
 
          2          A.   Yes. 
 
          3          Q.   Specifically, do you have  Mr. Buckley's 
 
          4   testimony in front of you? 
 
          5          A.   No. 
 
          6               MS. WILLIS:  Karen, do yo u have a copy of 
 
          7   Mr. Buckley's testimony? 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  Well, actuall y it was marked 
 
          9   as an exhibit, so she has it now. 
 
         10          Q.   Can you turn to that exhi bit? 
 
         11          A.   Yes. 
 
         12          Q.   And can you turn to his p art showing tax 
 
         13   from operations to debt? 
 
         14          A.   I'm sorry, where did you want me to turn? 
 
         15          Q.   The chart showing the cas h from 
 
         16   operations to debt. 
 
         17          A.   Yes. 
 
         18          Q.   And when you say that the  recent 
 
         19   experience contradicts staff's belief  that three 
 
         20   years is sufficient time to address i ts financial 
 
         21   situation, are you referring to the C FO preworking 
 
         22   capital debt shown for what years? 
 
         23          A.   The deteriorating trend, as you see that 
 
         24   metric step down from '11 to '12, and  down again from 
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          1   '12 to '13, and down again from '13 t o '14. 
 
          2          Q.   Is there any other experi ence that you 
 
          3   are aware of where three years is suf ficient time for 
 
          4   an entity to address its financial si tuation? 
 
          5          A.   No. 
 
          6          Q.   Now, on line 14 of page 1 5, you state 
 
          7   that "improving credit ratings takes time."  Do you 
 
          8   see that? 
 
          9          A.   Yes. 
 
         10          Q.   Can you tell me what -- w hat the basis of 
 
         11   that statement is? 
 
         12          A.   I think just past experie nce with credit 
 
         13   ratings, they are slow to change in e ither direction 
 
         14   typically. 
 
         15          Q.   And that past experience is limited to 
 
         16   FirstEnergy Corp.'s credit ratings an d ratings of 
 
         17   FirstEnergy utilities? 
 
         18               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         19          A.   No. 
 
         20          Q.   Can you tell me how much time it takes to 
 
         21   improve credit ratings?  Based on you r past 
 
         22   experience with credit ratings? 
 
         23               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, ar gumentative. 
 
         24          A.   I think it's very situati onal. 
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          1          Q.   And what does the situati on depend upon? 
 
          2          A.   Any number of factors. 
 
          3          Q.   And what would those fact ors be? 
 
          4          A.   I couldn't provide you an  exhaustive 
 
          5   list. 
 
          6          Q.   Could you provide me with  a list of any 
 
          7   factors that would impact upon how mu ch time it takes 
 
          8   to improve credit ratings? 
 
          9          A.   I think the economy would  matter.  I 
 
         10   think that the status of the financia l markets would 
 
         11   matter.  I think the general business  environment 
 
         12   would matter.  Those are examples tha t come to mind. 
 
         13          Q.   And would you agree with me that the 
 
         14   factors that you mentioned are all ou t of the control 
 
         15   of the FirstEnergy utilities or First Energy Corp.? 
 
         16          A.   I'm not sure the business  condition one 
 
         17   is entirely outside of the control of  the companies. 
 
         18          Q.   How much time do you esti mate that it 
 
         19   will take FirstEnergy Corp. to improv e its credit 
 
         20   ratings? 
 
         21               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         22          A.   Again, I think DMR, as pr oposed by the 
 
         23   staff, is designed to provide credit support to the 
 
         24   utilities to -- and to assist in jump -starting the 
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          1   grid modernization process. 
 
          2          Q.   Would you agree with me t hat three years 
 
          3   is not long enough for FirstEnergy Co rp. to improve 
 
          4   its credit rating? 
 
          5          A.   I don't know whether it i s or isn't. 
 
          6   Which is the point that it's speculat ion on behalf of 
 
          7   the staff.  So to limit it to three y ears, it is more 
 
          8   appropriate to align the term of the rider DMR with 
 
          9   the term of the ESP and the terms of the conditions 
 
         10   on rider DMR. 
 
         11          Q.   Is eight years long enoug h to allow 
 
         12   FirstEnergy Corp. to improve its cred it rating? 
 
         13          A.   That is certainly somethi ng that could be 
 
         14   considered at the time of the next ES P. 
 
         15          Q.   How much time do you esti mate it will 
 
         16   take FirstEnergy utilities to improve  their credit 
 
         17   ratings? 
 
         18          A.   I don't have an estimate.  
 
         19          Q.   Would you agree with me t hat three years 
 
         20   is not long enough? 
 
         21          A.   I don't know.  I would ag ree that the 
 
         22   term of rider DMR should be the term of the ESP. 
 
         23          Q.   Do you believe that eight  years is long 
 
         24   enough to -- for FirstEnergy utilitie s to improve 
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          1   their credit ratings with rider DMR? 
 
          2          A.   Again, I think that issue  can be 
 
          3   addressed at the time of the next ESP . 
 
          4          Q.   Now, on page 15, line 17,  you refer to 
 
          5   the needs for grid modernization.  Do  you see that? 
 
          6          A.   Yes. 
 
          7          Q.   Whose needs are these? 
 
          8          A.   This is referring to the credit support 
 
          9   and cash needs for distribution grid modernization. 
 
         10          Q.   Now, on page 15, lines 21  through 23, you 
 
         11   state that "The minimum term of Rider  DMR must be 
 
         12   sufficiently long to account for the time necessary 
 
         13   to make the required investments in d istribution grid 
 
         14   modernization."  So you define that t ime as eight 
 
         15   years; is that right? 
 
         16          A.   Yes. 
 
         17          Q.   And your testimony is tha t the monies 
 
         18   collected through rider DMR is necess ary to make the 
 
         19   required investment in distribution g rid 
 
         20   modernization; is that correct? 
 
         21               THE WITNESS:  May I ask y ou to reread 
 
         22   that, please. 
 
         23               (Record read.) 
 
         24          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
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          1   please? 
 
          2          Q.   What is it you don't unde rstand about 
 
          3   that question, Ms. Mikkelsen? 
 
          4          A.   I just -- I didn't unders tand the 
 
          5   question in its entirety. 
 
          6          Q.   Okay.  You state that the  minimum term of 
 
          7   rider DMR should be eight years, so t hat it will 
 
          8   allow time necessary to make the requ ired investment 
 
          9   in distribution grid modernization; i s that correct? 
 
         10          A.   The testimony reads "The minimum term of 
 
         11   Rider DMR must be sufficiently long t o account for 
 
         12   the time necessary to make the requir ed investments 
 
         13   in distribution grid modernization." 
 
         14          Q.   And would you agree with me that the 
 
         15   money you collect through rider DMR i s necessary for 
 
         16   the companies to make the required in vestment in 
 
         17   distribution grid modernization? 
 
         18               THE WITNESS:  I'm sorry.  May I ask you 
 
         19   to reread the question, please. 
 
         20               (Record read.) 
 
         21               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         22          A.   Rider DMR is designed to provide credit 
 
         23   support to the companies to enable th is vision of 
 
         24   having one of the most intelligent gr ids in the 
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          1   nation. 
 
          2          Q.   As you sit here today, do  you know what 
 
          3   the required investments in distribut ion grid 
 
          4   modernization are that you refer to o n page 15, 
 
          5   lines 22 and 23? 
 
          6               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
          7   answered. 
 
          8          A.   No. 
 
          9          Q.   Now, let's go to page 16,  line 11, and 
 
         10   you refer there on the -- to "the nee d to 
 
         11   rehabilitate the Companies' credit me tric before the 
 
         12   Companies...seek access to capital ma rkets."  Do you 
 
         13   see that? 
 
         14          A.   Yes. 
 
         15          Q.   What's your basis for bel ieving that 
 
         16   there is a need to rehabilitate the c ompanies' credit 
 
         17   metrics? 
 
         18          A.   The fact that under Moody 's, two of the 
 
         19   three companies are rated one level a bove 
 
         20   non-investment grade; and under S&P, all three of the 
 
         21   companies are rated one notch above n on-investment 
 
         22   grade noncredit -- non-investment gra de. 
 
         23          Q.   Is there also a need to r ehabilitate 
 
         24   FirstEnergy Corp.'s credit metrics? 
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          1          A.   Yes. 
 
          2          Q.   If rider DMR is implement ed immediately 
 
          3   upon PUCO approval, as you recommend under your -- 
 
          4   under your modifications to rider DMR , is the company 
 
          5   committing to moving forward with gri d modernization 
 
          6   within a specified time period? 
 
          7          A.   There's no specified time  period. 
 
          8          Q.   Now, on page 17, lines 12  through 13, you 
 
          9   testify that FirstEnergy employees, m anagement, 
 
         10   shareholders and others have already significantly 
 
         11   invested, and continue to invest in s upporting 
 
         12   FirstEnergy Corp. as an investment gr ade entity.  Do 
 
         13   you see that reference? 
 
         14          A.   Yeah.  I think your line reference may 
 
         15   have been off, but, yes, I see the te stimony. 
 
         16          Q.   And then in the -- at the  bottom of 
 
         17   page 17, beginning on line 17 and run ning over to 
 
         18   page 18, line 12, you provide what yo u consider to be 
 
         19   investment in supporting FirstEnergy Corp. as an 
 
         20   investment grade entity; is that a fa ir 
 
         21   characterization? 
 
         22          A.   This is -- this is a list , you know, of 
 
         23   initiatives that have been implemente d by various 
 
         24   constituents to improve the companies ' overall -- 
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          1   pardon me, the FirstEnergy Corporatio n overall 
 
          2   financial well-being. 
 
          3          Q.   Would you consider these to be an 
 
          4   investment in supporting FirstEnergy Corp. as an 
 
          5   investment grade entity at this time?  
 
          6          A.   Yes, as it says on line 1 2 in my 
 
          7   testimony. 
 
          8          Q.   Now, under the bullet lab eled 
 
          9   "FirstEnergy Management and Employees ," you identify 
 
         10   "reductions across the company throug h changes to 
 
         11   medical and other benefits."  Should that reference 
 
         12   be to "companies"? 
 
         13          A.   This -- this "company" re lates to 
 
         14   FirstEnergy Corp.  So it should read "Reductions 
 
         15   across the FirstEnergy Corporation."  Including the 
 
         16   companies. 
 
         17          Q.   Now, when you talk about and use the term 
 
         18   "FE management," can you tell me what  that term 
 
         19   refers to?  Is that FE Corp. or FE ut ilities or some 
 
         20   combination? 
 
         21          A.   A combination of, but pri marily the 
 
         22   management of the company that reside s at the service 
 
         23   company. 
 
         24          Q.   You're talking about FE S ervices Corp.? 
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          1          A.   It's FE Service Company. 
 
          2          Q.   Thank you.  And when you refer to 
 
          3   employees there, who are you referrin g to? 
 
          4          A.   All of the employees of a ll of the 
 
          5   entities within FirstEnergy Corp. 
 
          6          Q.   And you state that manage ment and 
 
          7   employees have "Completed reductions across the 
 
          8   company through changes to medical an d other 
 
          9   benefits."  Do you see that reference ? 
 
         10          A.   Yes. 
 
         11          Q.   Can you tell me when thes e reductions 
 
         12   across the companies through changes to medical and 
 
         13   other benefits have been taken? 
 
         14          A.   Over the last several yea rs. 
 
         15          Q.   And by "last several year s," what years 
 
         16   would those be? 
 
         17          A.   I believe starting in 201 3 or '14. 
 
         18          Q.   And are those reductions continuing or 
 
         19   are they completed? 
 
         20          A.   There were a number of ch anges that were 
 
         21   implemented over the last several yea rs at different 
 
         22   times to the medical and other benefi ts provided to 
 
         23   the employees.  Those changes, once i nstituted, 
 
         24   continue on a going-forward basis. 
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          1          Q.   Now, with respect to the FE management, 
 
          2   are you aware of whether the FE manag ement have 
 
          3   continued to receive bonuses over the  past three 
 
          4   years? 
 
          5               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          6          A.   I'm not familiar with wha t bonuses have 
 
          7   been paid to what members of manageme nt. 
 
          8          Q.   Are you aware of the magn itude of bonuses 
 
          9   that are received by management? 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  Same objectio n. 
 
         11          A.   No. 
 
         12          Q.   Are you aware of whether management has 
 
         13   taken pay reductions in the past thre e years? 
 
         14               MR. KUTIK:  Same objectio n. 
 
         15          A.   I don't know whether mana gement has taken 
 
         16   pay reductions in the last three year s. 
 
         17          Q.   And are you aware of whet her the 
 
         18   employees that you referred to there have taken pay 
 
         19   reductions in the last three years? 
 
         20          A.   I am aware that merit inc reases for all 
 
         21   employees were delayed for a signific ant period of 
 
         22   time, at least twice, I believe, duri ng this time 
 
         23   frame. 
 
         24          Q.   And, again, when you use "during this 
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          1   time frame," are you talking about 20 13, 2014? 
 
          2          A.   Forward, yes. 
 
          3          Q.   And those delayed merit i ncreases would 
 
          4   not be continuing, correct? 
 
          5          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
          6   please? 
 
          7          Q.   Well, you referred to whe n we spoke of 
 
          8   the reductions for changes in medical  and other 
 
          9   benefits, you said once instituted, t hose changes 
 
         10   continue on.  And I guess my question  is, with 
 
         11   respect to delayed merit increases, t hose are a 
 
         12   one-time and they will not continue, it's just a 
 
         13   deferral; is that right?  Or a delay of merit pay 
 
         14   increases? 
 
         15          A.   I would agree it is a del ay from when 
 
         16   merit increases were implemented vis- a-vis when they 
 
         17   have historically been implemented. 
 
         18          Q.   And are you aware if that  was a 
 
         19   corporation -- corporation-wide merit  increases to 
 
         20   employees were delayed? 
 
         21          A.   Yes. 
 
         22          Q.   And you said for a signif icant period of 
 
         23   time; is that correct? 
 
         24          A.   It felt significant to me . 
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          1          Q.   And yeah, how do you defi ne 
 
          2   "significant"?  How long were the mer it increases 
 
          3   delayed, if you know? 
 
          4          A.   I think my recollection i s by a half a 
 
          5   year -- six months, a half a year. 
 
          6          Q.   And you testified that ha s happened 
 
          7   several times; is that correct? 
 
          8          A.   I think I testified that I thought it 
 
          9   occurred twice during the period. 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  Actually, you  said at least 
 
         11   twice. 
 
         12          Q.   And, again, the period we  are talking 
 
         13   about is 2013 forward? 
 
         14          A.   Yes. 
 
         15          Q.   And when you indicate in your testimony 
 
         16   there's staffing reductions under the  first bullet, 
 
         17   can you tell me when those staffing r eductions took 
 
         18   place? 
 
         19          A.   They have occurred since 2012. 
 
         20          Q.   And the staff reductions then have been 
 
         21   initiated on a going -- once institut ed, they 
 
         22   continue on a going-forward basis; is  that correct? 
 
         23               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         24          A.   The staffing -- may I ask  you to rephrase 
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          1   the question, please? 
 
          2          Q.   You indicated that since 2012 there have 
 
          3   been staff reductions.  Can you -- ca n you explain 
 
          4   when the staff reductions would have been 
 
          5   implemented? 
 
          6               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
          7   answered. 
 
          8          A.   They had -- they would ha ve occurred 2012 
 
          9   forward, with the head count of the c ompany -- pardon 
 
         10   me, the head count -- the total head count for 
 
         11   FirstEnergy Corporation being lower e ach and every 
 
         12   year starting in 2012 and moving thro ugh 2015. 
 
         13          Q.   And is it your understand ing the head 
 
         14   count for FirstEnergy utilities would  have been lower 
 
         15   each and every year from 2012 through  2015? 
 
         16          A.   I'm not certain with the "each and every 
 
         17   year," but I know they are lower at t he end of '15 
 
         18   than they were at the end of '12 acro ss all three 
 
         19   companies. 
 
         20          Q.   Are you aware of any staf f reductions for 
 
         21   FirstEnergy Service Company since 201 5? 
 
         22          A.   I think the reductions ar e across the 
 
         23   entire corporate entity. 
 
         24          Q.   So you are -- you are tes tifying that 
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          1   there have been staff reductions to F irstEnergy 
 
          2   Service Company since 2015? 
 
          3          A.   Oh, I'm sorry, misunderst ood the 
 
          4   question.  Since '15? 
 
          5          Q.   Yes. 
 
          6          A.   I don't know. 
 
          7          Q.   Do you know how many curr ent employees 
 
          8   there are for FirstEnergy Service Com pany as we sit 
 
          9   here today? 
 
         10          A.   Not the exact number, no.  
 
         11          Q.   Do you know if the number  varies from the 
 
         12   number of employees identified by Ms.  Murley in her 
 
         13   economic development study? 
 
         14          A.   Yes, I think the number o f service 
 
         15   company employees is higher than the number used by 
 
         16   Ms. Murley in her testimony. 
 
         17          Q.   So the employees with the  FirstEnergy 
 
         18   Service Company have increased, not d ecreased since 
 
         19   2015, correct? 
 
         20          A.   No. 
 
         21          Q.   And I'm not sure that I f ollow you then. 
 
         22               MR. KUTIK:  Well, what's your question? 
 
         23          Q.   My question is, is your t estimony that 
 
         24   the -- there are more -- you testifie d that today 
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          1   there are more -- more employees for FirstEnergy 
 
          2   Service Company than in 2015, correct ? 
 
          3               MR. KUTIK:  No, that's no t her testimony. 
 
          4   I object.  Go ahead. 
 
          5          A.   No, that's not my testimo ny. 
 
          6          Q.   And then I missed -- 
 
          7               MS. WILLIS:  Can I have t he answer, the 
 
          8   prior answer, question and answer rer ead, please. 
 
          9               (Record read.) 
 
         10          Q.   Is that because the emplo yees have 
 
         11   increased since -- since the figure - - or since the 
 
         12   figure used by Ms. Murley for 2015? 
 
         13               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         14          A.   No. 
 
         15          Q.   Why is there a difference  between the 
 
         16   number of employees that Ms. Murley u sed versus what 
 
         17   is in effect today? 
 
         18          A.   The numbers represent two  different 
 
         19   things. 
 
         20          Q.   Okay.  Can you tell me wh at -- what the 
 
         21   numbers represent then? 
 
         22               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         23          A.   Ms. Murley's testimony ad dresses the 
 
         24   employees located at the general offi ce in Akron and 
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          1   your questions to me were what are th e total number 
 
          2   of service company employees. 
 
          3          Q.   Do you understand that Ms . Murley -- 
 
          4   Murley's number was related to the em ployees at the 
 
          5   FirstEnergy Service Company? 
 
          6               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          7          A.   My recollection, as I sai d, is her 
 
          8   question -- her testimony addressed t he number of 
 
          9   service company employees at the head quarters versus 
 
         10   the total number of service company e mployees which 
 
         11   was your question to me. 
 
         12          Q.   Yes, thank you. 
 
         13               Do you know whether the e mployees located 
 
         14   at the headquarters in Akron have -- whether the 
 
         15   employees have increased or decreased  since 2015? 
 
         16               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         17          A.   Yeah, I don't know. 
 
         18          Q.   Do you know the number of  current 
 
         19   employees located in the Akron headqu arters that 
 
         20   serve the generation business? 
 
         21               MR. KUTIK:  Well, if this  number is 
 
         22   proprietary, I would ask you to indic ate that.  If 
 
         23   you know either way. 
 
         24               THE WITNESS:  I don't kno w.  I don't even 
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          1   know if there are. 
 
          2               MR. KUTIK:  Okay. 
 
          3          Q.   Did you review Ms. Murley 's testimony? 
 
          4          A.   Yes. 
 
          5          Q.   And did you review her ec onomic analysis 
 
          6   report which identified generation --  identified 
 
          7   employees in the headquarters that se rvice the 
 
          8   generation business? 
 
          9               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         10          A.   I'm looking at Exhibit 1 from today. 
 
         11   Would you like me to review that exhi bit?  Is that 
 
         12   your question of me? 
 
         13          Q.   No.  I am asking you if y ou reviewed, 
 
         14   prior to being filed, did you review that study that 
 
         15   presented the results and came up wit h an economic 
 
         16   development benefit number which you make a 
 
         17   recommendation on? 
 
         18               MR. KUTIK:  Well, that wa sn't your prior 
 
         19   question, and she can't answer that q uestion before. 
 
         20               MS. WILLIS:  Well, there is a new 
 
         21   question then. 
 
         22               MR. KUTIK:  Well, no, you  have -- we are 
 
         23   done with this line of questioning, s o you better ask 
 
         24   another one. 
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          1          Q.   Did you review the -- pri or to Ms. Murley 
 
          2   filing the economic development testi mony, did you 
 
          3   have any input into the information t hat was provided 
 
          4   to Ms. Murley for purposes of her stu dy? 
 
          5          A.   No. 
 
          6          Q.   And did you review the re sults of 
 
          7   Ms. Murley's study before her study w as filed? 
 
          8          A.   Yes. 
 
          9          Q.   Now, under the bullet "Sh areholders," you 
 
         10   indicate that the annual dividend has  been reduced. 
 
         11   "A reduction of equaling over $300 mi llion annually." 
 
         12   Do you see that? 
 
         13          A.   Yes. 
 
         14          Q.   Can you tell me when that  reduction 
 
         15   occurred? 
 
         16          A.   I don't remember specific ally. 
 
         17          Q.   Now, you refer to "Issued  equity through 
 
         18   stock investment and employee benefit s plans."  Do 
 
         19   you see that? 
 
         20          A.   Yes. 
 
         21          Q.   Can you identify how much  equity was 
 
         22   issued through stock investment and e mployee benefit 
 
         23   plans and when that was issued? 
 
         24          A.   I think that approaches $ 100 million a 
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          1   year for the last several years. 
 
          2          Q.   Again, "last several year s" being 2013, 
 
          3   2014? 
 
          4               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          5          A.   And 2015.  Continuing int o '16, with four 
 
          6   full years, yes. 
 
          7          Q.   Now, you also mentioned a  number of 
 
          8   jurisdictions and you provide informa tion about what 
 
          9   is going on in New Jersey, Pennsylvan ia, and West 
 
         10   Virginia.  In any of those jurisdicti ons, did the 
 
         11   utilities' subsidiaries propose a cre dit support 
 
         12   charge? 
 
         13               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         14          Q.   If you know. 
 
         15               MR. KUTIK:  Asked and ans wered. 
 
         16          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         17   please? 
 
         18          Q.   What is it that you don't  understand? 
 
         19          A.   A credit support charge. 
 
         20          Q.   Did -- in the jurisdictio ns listed, did 
 
         21   the companies propose a charge to pro vide support to 
 
         22   enable the utility or its parent to m aintain 
 
         23   investment grade ratings? 
 
         24               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
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          1          A.   I think all of the regula tory actions 
 
          2   listed here that give rise or potenti ally give rise 
 
          3   to additional revenues would support the credit 
 
          4   ratings of the companies that the act ivities occurred 
 
          5   within. 
 
          6          Q.   Do you know if any of the  utilities 
 
          7   actually characterized or labeled the ir proposal as a 
 
          8   credit support or a financial support  to maintain 
 
          9   investment grade ratings? 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         11          A.   I'm not aware of a reques t with that 
 
         12   title. 
 
         13          Q.   Are you aware of a reques t with that 
 
         14   purpose? 
 
         15               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         16   answered. 
 
         17          A.   Again, the -- 
 
         18          Q.   I was going to say I'll w ithdraw. 
 
         19               Have the other constituen ts that you -- 
 
         20   and I am using the term that the -- t hat you used on 
 
         21   page 18, lines 15, have the other con stituents 
 
         22   committed to fund the remaining 60 pe rcent of cash 
 
         23   needed to achieve a CFO to debt ratio  of 15 percent? 
 
         24          A.   I think FirstEnergy Corp.  and the 
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          1   constituents listed here, the other c ompanies have 
 
          2   continued to look for opportunities t o improve the 
 
          3   credit metrics of the individual subs idiaries as well 
 
          4   as FirstEnergy Corp. 
 
          5          Q.   And you would -- is it yo ur testimony 
 
          6   that there -- there -- by continuing to look for 
 
          7   opportunities to -- let me strike tha t. 
 
          8               MS. WILLIS:  May I have h er answer 
 
          9   reread, please. 
 
         10               (Record read.) 
 
         11          Q.   Is it your testimony that  the fact that 
 
         12   the other constituents are continuing  to look for 
 
         13   opportunities to improve credit metri cs of the 
 
         14   individual subsidiaries and the FE Co rp., a 
 
         15   commitment to fund the remaining 60 p ercent of cash 
 
         16   is needed to achieve a CFO to debt ra tio of 
 
         17   15 percent? 
 
         18               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         19   answered. 
 
         20          A.   The various subsidiaries listed here, as 
 
         21   well as FirstEnergy Corp., I believe will continue to 
 
         22   seek out and identify initiatives tha t would support 
 
         23   individual subsidiary credit metrics as well as the 
 
         24   credit metrics of FirstEnergy Corp. 
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          1          Q.   When you indicate that th e utility -- 
 
          2   the -- that the constituents continue  to look for 
 
          3   opportunities to improve the credit m etrics of the 
 
          4   individual subsidiaries and FE Corp.,  are you 
 
          5   testifying that the -- what we call t he investments 
 
          6   shown on -- on lines 1 through 12 of page 18, is 
 
          7   evidence that they are continuing to look for 
 
          8   opportunities? 
 
          9          A.   These are things they are  doing, they 
 
         10   have done and are doing, and I believ e they will 
 
         11   continue to look for additional thing s that can be 
 
         12   done. 
 
         13          Q.   And what is your belief t hat they will 
 
         14   continue to look for opportunities to  improve credit 
 
         15   metrics of the individual subsidiarie s and FE Corp. 
 
         16   based on? 
 
         17          A.   Past experience. 
 
         18          Q.   And the past experience w ould be 
 
         19   reflected in the actions that you hav e listed here on 
 
         20   the top of page 18 on lines 1 through  12? 
 
         21          A.   As well as the actions on  lines 17, 
 
         22   page -- pardon me, page 17, lines 17 through 30. 
 
         23          Q.   Do you know, Ms. Mikkelse n, if 
 
         24   FirstEnergy Corp. intends to seek a c ommitment from 
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          1   other constituents to achieve a CFO t o debt ratio of 
 
          2   15 percent? 
 
          3               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          4          A.   No. 
 
          5          Q.   Now, on page 18, lines 24  through 25, you 
 
          6   state that the analysis conducted by staff to reach 
 
          7   its conclusion on the MRO versus ESP needs to be 
 
          8   augmented.  Do you see that? 
 
          9          A.   Yes. 
 
         10          Q.   And why does the staff an alysis need to 
 
         11   be augmented? 
 
         12               MR. KUTIK:  Well, I am go ing to object 
 
         13   and now I am going to instruct her no t to answer. 
 
         14   You have done this a bunch of times.  She has 
 
         15   testimony.  It's in her testimony.  S he doesn't need 
 
         16   to restate her testimony.  If you hav e a more 
 
         17   specific question, let's get to that question.  It's 
 
         18   after 5 o'clock.  Let's move on. 
 
         19               MS. WILLIS:  Do you need to take a break, 
 
         20   Ms. Mikkelsen? 
 
         21               MR. KUTIK:  We'll tell yo u when we need 
 
         22   to take a break, but right now you ne ed to ask 
 
         23   another question. 
 
         24          Q.   Now, you testify on page 19 equivalent 
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          1   revenues would be recovered -- "could  potentially be 
 
          2   recovered in a base rate case proceed ing, in the 
 
          3   Companies' existing Rider AMI or in a nother mechanism 
 
          4   similar to Rider DMR while the Compan ies are 
 
          5   providing SSO service under an MRO."  What mechanism, 
 
          6   besides the existing rider AMI, are y ou referring to? 
 
          7          A.   A mechanism similar to ri der DMR. 
 
          8          Q.   And that opinion that the y could do this 
 
          9   in the context of an MRO, what is tha t based upon? 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, th at's not her 
 
         11   testimony. 
 
         12          A.   Can I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         13   please? 
 
         14          Q.   Yes.  You state on lines -- on page 19, 
 
         15   line -- line 5, that the companies co uld -- could 
 
         16   potentially be recovering DMR revenue s in a base rate 
 
         17   proceeding, while the companies are p roviding SSO 
 
         18   under an MRO, so I am asking you what  is that opinion 
 
         19   based on that you believe this could be done under an 
 
         20   MRO? 
 
         21               MR. KUTIK:  Objection.  T hat is not her 
 
         22   testimony. 
 
         23               THE WITNESS:  May I ask y ou to reread the 
 
         24   question, please. 
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          1               (Record read.) 
 
          2          A.   I think what my testimony  states is that 
 
          3   equivalent revenues could potentially  be recovered in 
 
          4   a base rate case proceeding, or in th e companies' 
 
          5   existing rider AMI, or in another mec hanism similar 
 
          6   to DMR, while the companies are provi ding SSO service 
 
          7   under an MRO, but not as a provision necessarily of 
 
          8   an MRO. 
 
          9          Q.   But for the companies, wo uld you -- 
 
         10   wouldn't you agree that given their a greement to 
 
         11   freeze base rates, then the equivalen t revenues could 
 
         12   not be recovered in a base rate case proceeding? 
 
         13               MR. KUTIK:  Well, I'll ob ject.  You are 
 
         14   assuming that the ESP goes forward.  If the ESP goes 
 
         15   forward, it goes forward with the DMR .  If there is 
 
         16   no ESP, there is no base rate freeze.  
 
         17          A.   Like I said, more simply,  there would be 
 
         18   no base rate freeze under an MRO. 
 
         19          Q.   Okay.  And so how would - - how would this 
 
         20   occur under an MRO? 
 
         21               Never mind.  Let me withd raw that. 
 
         22               MR. KUTIK:  Well, at this  point, why 
 
         23   don't we take a break. 
 
         24               MS. WILLIS:  Thank you. 
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          1               (Recess taken.) 
 
          2          Q.   (By Ms. Willis) Ms. Mikke lsen, on 
 
          3   page 11, line 19, you testify that it  is likely that 
 
          4   the companies would still move forwar d with a grid 
 
          5   modernization initiative under an MRO .  Do you see 
 
          6   that? 
 
          7               MR. KUTIK:  Where are you ? 
 
          8          A.   You said page 11? 
 
          9          Q.   I'm sorry, no, that would  be page 19, 
 
         10   line 11.  And that's -- I'm paraphras ing.  You do say 
 
         11   given the state policy, and the grid- related actions 
 
         12   to date, and the staff advocacy, it i s likely the 
 
         13   companies will still move forward wit h a grid 
 
         14   modernization initiative under an MRO .  Do you see 
 
         15   that? 
 
         16          A.   Your rough paraphrase, ye s. 
 
         17          Q.   Yes.  And do you believe that the 
 
         18   standard that it is like -- that the companies are 
 
         19   likely to move forward to -- is the a ppropriate 
 
         20   standard to determine whether the exp enses are 
 
         21   weighed as an MRO expense in the MRO versus SSO test? 
 
         22               MR. KUTIK:  May I have th e question read, 
 
         23   please. 
 
         24               (Record read.) 
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          1          Q.   Let me try to rephrase th at.  Thank you. 
 
          2   It is rather awkward. 
 
          3               Ms. Mikkelsen, when you s ay that the 
 
          4   companies are likely to move forward with a grid 
 
          5   modernization initiative under an MRO , do you believe 
 
          6   that to be the appropriate standard t o determine 
 
          7   whether the expenses should be consid ered as an MRO 
 
          8   expense in the MRO versus ESP test? 
 
          9          A.   Yes. 
 
         10          Q.   And what's the basis of y our conclusion? 
 
         11          A.   That if it is the expecta tion that the 
 
         12   dollars would be spent under an MRO o r an ESP, it 
 
         13   should be treated as such in the test . 
 
         14          Q.   And is that opinion based  on your -- that 
 
         15   is a nonlegal opinion, correct? 
 
         16               MR. KUTIK:  Again, for th e 1,300th time, 
 
         17   she is not providing legal opinions.  How many times 
 
         18   do we have to tell you that? 
 
         19               MS. WILLIS:  1,301. 
 
         20               MR. KUTIK:  Let's hopeful ly not make it 
 
         21   1,302. 
 
         22               MS. WILLIS:  Okay. 
 
         23          Q.   Now, you also testify, Ms . Mikkelsen, 
 
         24   that you believe that the cash can be  collected for 
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          1   credit support for FirstEnergy Corp. in base 
 
          2   distribution rates.  Do you see that?  
 
          3          A.   Yes. 
 
          4          Q.   And can you tell me the b asis of that 
 
          5   belief? 
 
          6          A.   I believe in a base distr ibution rate 
 
          7   case, the Commission could make an ad justment, as 
 
          8   they deem appropriate, to test your e xpense, or 
 
          9   normalize test your expenses, or prov ide an 
 
         10   incentive -- incentivize return on eq uity to 
 
         11   accomplish these -- this objective. 
 
         12          Q.   And you indicate also in your testimony 
 
         13   that you believe that cash -- let me go back. 
 
         14               When I asked you the ques tion, I was -- I 
 
         15   mentioned that -- I was asking whethe r cash can be 
 
         16   collected for credit support for Firs tEnergy Corp. 
 
         17   Is that your understanding of my ques tion? 
 
         18          A.   No. 
 
         19          Q.   Let me try it again.  You  testify -- do 
 
         20   you believe that cash can be collecte d for credit 
 
         21   support for FirstEnergy Corp. in -- i n FirstEnergy 
 
         22   utilities' base distribution rate cas e? 
 
         23               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         24          A.   I think the cash would be  collected for 
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          1   support for the companies. 
 
          2          Q.   And you conclude that cas h can be 
 
          3   collected for credit support in an el ectric security 
 
          4   plan, correct? 
 
          5               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          6          A.   May -- may I ask you to p oint to me what 
 
          7   you are referring to? 
 
          8          Q.   Sure.  If you give me a m oment, I will 
 
          9   find it.  Well, you make the referenc e on page 19, 
 
         10   lines 12 through 13, "Cash collected for support 
 
         11   under Rider DMR in an ESP...."  I'm a sking you 
 
         12   whether that testimony is that you --  are you saying 
 
         13   that cash can be collected for credit  support in an 
 
         14   ESP? 
 
         15          A.   Yes.  I think we discusse d that earlier 
 
         16   today with respect to the statute. 
 
         17          Q.   Now, on page 19, lines 21  through 22, you 
 
         18   state that the quantitative benefits of keeping the 
 
         19   corporate headquarters in Akron will be equal to or 
 
         20   greater than the recommended maximum annual amount of 
 
         21   the associated portion of rider DMR.  Are you 
 
         22   referring there to the value assigned  to the 
 
         23   headquarters by Ms. Murley, the $568 million per 
 
         24   year? 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          2          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
          3   please? 
 
          4          Q.   When you refer to the qua ntitative 
 
          5   benefit on page 19, lines 21 through 22, are you 
 
          6   referring to the economic development  value assigned 
 
          7   to maintaining the headquarters in Ak ron by 
 
          8   Ms. Murley? 
 
          9               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and answer. 
 
         10   This was thoroughly discussed with Mr . Fisk. 
 
         11          A.   As the testimony says her e, the 
 
         12   "quantitative benefit associated with  this economic 
 
         13   development condition will be equal t o or greater 
 
         14   than the recommended maximum annual a mount of the 
 
         15   associated portion of Rider DMR." 
 
         16          Q.   And by the "associated po rtion of Rider 
 
         17   DMR," you are focusing on the 500 -- the up to 
 
         18   $568 million annual charge per year? 
 
         19          A.   Well, when I'm focusing o n the "maximum 
 
         20   annual amount of the associated porti on of Rider 
 
         21   DMR," I'm talking about the amount th at the 
 
         22   Commission determines is appropriate for inclusion in 
 
         23   rider DMR. 
 
         24          Q.   You say that the "net of Rider DMR costs 
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          1   and the quantitative benefit of the c ommitment to 
 
          2   maintain...headquarters in Akron will  be greater than 
 
          3   or equal to zero."  Do you see that r eference? 
 
          4          A.   Yes. 
 
          5          Q.   Can you define what you m ean by "net of 
 
          6   Rider DMR costs?" 
 
          7               MR. KUTIK:  Well, that mi ss -- that 
 
          8   misstates and mischaracterizes the se ntence, so I'll 
 
          9   object. 
 
         10          A.   This is referring to the netting of the 
 
         11   dollars included in rider DMR associa ted with the 
 
         12   headquarters and nexus of operations commitment as 
 
         13   compared to the benefit calculated by  Ms. Murley. 
 
         14          Q.   Now, you conclude on page  20, lines 10 
 
         15   and 11, that the "ESP IV, including.. .adjustments to 
 
         16   Rider DMR, is more favorable than an MRO by at least 
 
         17   $51.1 million on a quantitative basis ."  Do you see 
 
         18   that? 
 
         19          A.   Yes. 
 
         20          Q.   Are you stating then that  these portions 
 
         21   of the stipulation would be part of t he deal with the 
 
         22   company accepting modified rider DMR?  
 
         23          A.   If the ESP moves forward,  these 
 
         24   commitments would continue and they w ould provide a 
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          1   benefit from a quantitative perspecti ve to the MRO 
 
          2   versus ESP.  If the company doesn't m ove forward with 
 
          3   the modified ESP, there's no test to satisfy. 
 
          4          Q.   Ms. Mikkelsen, I hate to go here, but 
 
          5   what's the status of the stipulation?  
 
          6               MR. KUTIK:  Well, I'll ob ject, and I will 
 
          7   instruct her not to answer.  That's w ay beyond the 
 
          8   scope at this point. 
 
          9          Q.   Let me try it this way.  Have the 
 
         10   original signatory parties agreed to the terms of the 
 
         11   companies' modified rider -- let me s trike -- let's 
 
         12   strike it and be more precise. 
 
         13               Have the original signato ry parties 
 
         14   agreed to the terms of the company's proposal to 
 
         15   modify rider DMR? 
 
         16               MR. KUTIK:  That's also b eyond the scope. 
 
         17          A.   The companies continue to  recommend that 
 
         18   the Commission approve the proposal. 
 
         19               MR. KUTIK:  As we've defi ned that term 
 
         20   throughout the rehearing, correct? 
 
         21               THE WITNESS:  Yes. 
 
         22          Q.   Have there been stipulati on discussions 
 
         23   with regard to the companies' propose d modifications 
 
         24   to rider DMR? 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  I will instru ct you not to 
 
          2   answer that question based upon poten tial disclosure 
 
          3   of confidential settlement discussion s. 
 
          4          Q.   Does the company intend t o have 
 
          5   discussions with signatory parties wi th respect to 
 
          6   the companies' proposed modifications  to rider DMR? 
 
          7               MR. KUTIK:  Same instruct ion. 
 
          8          Q.   Now, on page 20, lines 17  through 18, you 
 
          9   testify that rider DMR does not impac t any of the 
 
         10   other qualitative benefits of Stipula ted ESP IV 
 
         11   relied upon by the PUCO in its order.   Do you see 
 
         12   that? 
 
         13          A.   Yes. 
 
         14          Q.   And are you referring the re to rider -- 
 
         15   properly-constructed rider DMR as mod ified by -- as 
 
         16   modified consistent with the companie s' proposal? 
 
         17          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         18   please? 
 
         19          Q.   Yes.  When you refer to - - in the 
 
         20   question on page 20, lines 17 through  18, when you 
 
         21   refer to rider DMR as being quantitat ively neutral or 
 
         22   quantitatively -- as being quantitati vely neutral -- 
 
         23   let me strike that. 
 
         24               You testify on page 20, l ines 17 through 
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          1   18, that rider DMR does not impact an y -- any of the 
 
          2   other qualitative benefits of stipula ted ESP IV 
 
          3   relied upon by the Commission in its order.  When you 
 
          4   are referencing "rider DMR," are you referencing the 
 
          5   staff's proposed rider DMR or are you  referencing -- 
 
          6   are you referencing a -- what you con sider to be a 
 
          7   properly-constructed rider DMR? 
 
          8          A.   Rider DMR is adjusted per  the companies' 
 
          9   modifications. 
 
         10          Q.   Does rider DMR, as adjust ed by the 
 
         11   companies' modification, promote rate  stability and 
 
         12   certainty? 
 
         13          A.   No. 
 
         14          Q.   Does rider DMR promote fu el diversity? 
 
         15          A.   It may. 
 
         16          Q.   And in what sense? 
 
         17          A.   If a -- the grid moderniz ation efforts 
 
         18   enable distributed generation. 
 
         19          Q.   Does rider DMR provide gr eater price 
 
         20   certainty during the term of the ESP?   Let me strike 
 
         21   that. 
 
         22               Does rider DMR provide pr ice certainty 
 
         23   during the term of the ESP? 
 
         24               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
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          1   answered. 
 
          2          A.   No. 
 
          3          Q.   Does rider DMR promote pr edictably-priced 
 
          4   service? 
 
          5          A.   No. 
 
          6          Q.   Does rider DMR satisfy th e AEP Ohio 
 
          7   factors? 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  Objection.  A ssuming that 
 
          9   those factors apply. 
 
         10          A.   Rider DMR would have noth ing to do with 
 
         11   the AEP factors which were based on p urchase power 
 
         12   agreements. 
 
         13          Q.   Does rider DMR protect ag ainst rate 
 
         14   volatility and price fluctuations? 
 
         15               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, ob jection, asked 
 
         16   and answered. 
 
         17          A.   No. 
 
         18          Q.   I'm sorry, did you answer , Ms. Mikkelsen? 
 
         19               MR. KUTIK:  She said "no. " 
 
         20               MS. WILLIS:  Okay.  Thank  you. 
 
         21          Q.   Now, you indicate on page  21, you're 
 
         22   discussing SEET, and you indicate tha t on line 12, 
 
         23   that the proposal -- the companies' p roposal "is not 
 
         24   related to or only incidentally relat ed to typical 
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          1   utility operations."  Do you see that ? 
 
          2          A.   Yes. 
 
          3          Q.   Can you tell me what you mean by that? 
 
          4          A.   That the proposal is not related to or 
 
          5   only incidentally related to typical utility 
 
          6   operations. 
 
          7          Q.   And how is that only inci dentally related 
 
          8   to typical utility operations? 
 
          9          A.   Well, I mean, the stateme nt says it is 
 
         10   "not related to or only incidentally related to." 
 
         11          Q.   And I guess I am trying t o find out what 
 
         12   you mean by that. 
 
         13          A.   The typical utility opera tions would be 
 
         14   the provision of distribution service  to our 
 
         15   customers. 
 
         16          Q.   So would you agree with m e that the 
 
         17   proposal is not related to distributi on service? 
 
         18          A.   I said it is not related to the typical 
 
         19   utility operations as it relates to d istribution 
 
         20   service. 
 
         21          Q.   Now, on page 22, line 10,  you state that 
 
         22   "A SEET refund associated with Rider DMR would defeat 
 
         23   the purpose of the rider."  Do you se e that? 
 
         24          A.   Yes. 
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          1          Q.   And you go on to state th at "If Rider DMR 
 
          2   dollars are refunded, they would not improve the 
 
          3   Companies' credit metrics."  Do you s ee that? 
 
          4          A.   Yes. 
 
          5          Q.   And when you talk about a  refund, are you 
 
          6   speaking of a total or a partial refu nd under the 
 
          7   SEET process? 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          9          A.   A total refund would not improve the 
 
         10   companies' credit metrics.  A partial  refund would 
 
         11   have a partial effect. 
 
         12          Q.   Now, you indicate on line s 19 and 20 on 
 
         13   page 22, that rider DMR is intended t o incentivize -- 
 
         14   let me strike that. 
 
         15               You indicate on lines 17 through 20 on 
 
         16   page 22, that if Rider DMR dollars ar e refunded, they 
 
         17   would not provide the incentive to re tain the 
 
         18   FirstEnergy headquarters.  Do you see  that? 
 
         19          A.   Yes. 
 
         20          Q.   Do you believe that FE ne eds to be 
 
         21   incented to retain its corporate head quarters and 
 
         22   nexus of operations in Akron, Ohio? 
 
         23               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         24          A.   I believe that is a condi tion the staff 
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          1   felt was important to include in ride r DMR. 
 
          2          Q.   I understand that's what the staff 
 
          3   concluded, but do you -- do you belie ve that FE is -- 
 
          4   needs to be incented to retain its he adquarters and 
 
          5   nexus of operations in Akron, Ohio? 
 
          6               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
          7   answered.  This witness has already i ndicated this is 
 
          8   not the company's proposal, it is the  staff's 
 
          9   proposal, and she is testifying in te rms of what she 
 
         10   understands staff's intent is with re spect to this. 
 
         11   That's the clear intent of this testi mony.  So your 
 
         12   questions are out of bounds.  She has  already 
 
         13   answered your questions. 
 
         14          Q.   Ms. Mikkelsen, was there an incentive 
 
         15   provided under FirstEnergy's proposal  to keep the 
 
         16   headquarters in Akron under the third  supplemental 
 
         17   stipulation and recommendation? 
 
         18          A.   That provision was part o f a 
 
         19   multiple-provision stipulation entere d into by 
 
         20   multiple parties. 
 
         21          Q.   And do you believe that t here was an 
 
         22   incentive built into the stipulation for FE to keep 
 
         23   its headquarters in the Akron -- in A kron, Ohio? 
 
         24          A.   No.  As I said, I believe  it was a 
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          1   provision among a number of provision s agreed to in a 
 
          2   stipulation by a number of parties. 
 
          3          Q.   Now, you testify on page 22, line 23, 
 
          4   carrying over to page 23, lines 1 to 4, that the 
 
          5   charges associated with rider DMR cou ld be excluded 
 
          6   from SEET because the credit support and the 
 
          7   commitment to maintain FirstEnergy Co rp.'s 
 
          8   headquarters are both extraordinary i n nature.  Do 
 
          9   you see that? 
 
         10          A.   Recognizing you omitted t he "nexus of 
 
         11   operations" language, yes. 
 
         12          Q.   Yes.  And can you tell me  why you use the 
 
         13   word "could" instead of "should"? 
 
         14          A.   I'm sorry.  Could you sho w me the word 
 
         15   "could," please? 
 
         16          Q.   Sure. 
 
         17               MR. KUTIK:  I see the wor d "would." 
 
         18               THE WITNESS:  I do, too, that's why I'm 
 
         19   asking. 
 
         20          Q.   I'm sorry.  It's a typo.  Important typo, 
 
         21   I guess.  So let me withdraw that que stion and here 
 
         22   is another. 
 
         23               Can you explain how the c redit support 
 
         24   provided -- associated with rider DMR  is 
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          1   extraordinary? 
 
          2          A.   Insomuch as it's unusual in nature. 
 
          3          Q.   And how is it unusual in nature? 
 
          4               MR. KUTIK:  Objection.  N ow you are 
 
          5   arguing with the witness. 
 
          6          A.   Because it is not usual. 
 
          7          Q.   Is it your testimony that  -- are you 
 
          8   aware of other instances where credit  support has 
 
          9   been granted in -- as a credit -- as a -- let me 
 
         10   strike that. 
 
         11               Now, with respect to Firs tEnergy Service 
 
         12   Corp. -- I'm sorry, FirstEnergy Servi ce Company, 
 
         13   would you agree with me that FirstEne rgy Service 
 
         14   Company provides services to all of t he subsidiaries 
 
         15   within FE's corporate structure? 
 
         16               MR. KUTIK:  Well, I'll ob ject at this 
 
         17   point.  Beyond the scope.  What's you r next question? 
 
         18               MS. WILLIS:  That is my q uestion until it 
 
         19   is answered by the witness. 
 
         20               MR. KUTIK:  Well, I will instruct her not 
 
         21   to answer that question at this point . 
 
         22               MS. WILLIS:  Well, in ter ms of relevancy, 
 
         23   it relates to Ms. Murley's recommenda tion on economic 
 
         24   development.  And the economic develo pment benefits 
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          1   are derived from FirstEnergy Service Company 
 
          2   employees located in the headquarters  in Akron, Ohio. 
 
          3   So I believe it is relevant and withi n the scope of 
 
          4   the hearing and within the scope of j udging the 
 
          5   relevant -- or judging the economic d evelopment 
 
          6   credit used by Ms. Murley and adopted  by 
 
          7   Ms. Mikkelsen. 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  My instructio n stands. 
 
          9               MS. WILLIS:  Well, I am g oing to take 
 
         10   this up with the Attorney Examiner be cause I have a 
 
         11   whole line of questions with respect to that. 
 
         12               MR. KUTIK:  Well, we are going to take up 
 
         13   with the Attorney Examiner the abusiv e nature of this 
 
         14   deposition, but, you know, let's just  go on, and we 
 
         15   can catalog a whole bunch of things w e can talk to 
 
         16   the Attorney Examiner with.  So what' s your next 
 
         17   question? 
 
         18               MS. WILLIS:  Right.  That 's my intention 
 
         19   just so you know.  I will move on to another topic. 
 
         20          Q.   (By Ms. Willis) Now, Ms. Mikkelsen, the 
 
         21   companies made a decision to support the proposal in 
 
         22   this proceeding instead of going with  the staff's 
 
         23   proposal or instead of going with a m odified rider 
 
         24   DMR; is that correct? 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, mi scharacterizes 
 
          2   her testimony.  This has also been as ked and answered 
 
          3   so I will instruct her not to answer that too.  We 
 
          4   have been through this thoroughly.  W hat's your next 
 
          5   question? 
 
          6          Q.   Well, when, Ms. Mikkelsen , did -- was the 
 
          7   decision made to support the proposal  in lieu of a 
 
          8   properly-constructed rider DMR or sta ff's rider DMR? 
 
          9               MR. KUTIK:  I'll also ins truct her not to 
 
         10   answer that question. 
 
         11               MS. WILLIS:  And what's t he basis for 
 
         12   that instruction? 
 
         13               MR. KUTIK:  Not relevant.   Beyond the 
 
         14   scope of her testimony. 
 
         15          Q.   (By Ms. Willis) Ms. Mikke lsen, what 
 
         16   metrics did you look at to determine that you would 
 
         17   support the proposal in lieu of a mod ified rider DMR 
 
         18   or a staff rider DMR? 
 
         19               MR. KUTIK:  Well, again, I am going to 
 
         20   instruct her not to answer that quest ion.  Again, you 
 
         21   are asking her to summarize testimony  that she has 
 
         22   clearly laid out.  It's not her job t o tell you where 
 
         23   in her testimony she says something w hen it clearly 
 
         24   is in her testimony and she has alrea dy testified 
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          1   about it in prior questions for the n ow nine hours 
 
          2   that she has been testifying. 
 
          3          Q.   Did you do a comparison, Ms. Mikkelsen, 
 
          4   between the -- any financial metrics associated with 
 
          5   rider DMR as proposed by the staff an d the proposal 
 
          6   presented? 
 
          7               MR. KUTIK:  May I have th e question read, 
 
          8   please. 
 
          9               (Record read.) 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         11          A.   No. 
 
         12          Q.   In your testimony at page  13, on 
 
         13   Figure 1, you calculated rider DMR re venue with the 
 
         14   tax grossed up to be 558 million; is that correct? 
 
         15          A.   Yes. 
 
         16          Q.   And you also show the all ocated annual 
 
         17   averaging of CFO shortfalls, 357 mill ion, correct? 
 
         18          A.   Before the gross up for t ax, yes. 
 
         19          Q.   And that $357 million is the same as an 
 
         20   aftertax net income? 
 
         21          A.   It is the cash from opera tions value. 
 
         22          Q.   Is the cash from operatio ns value the 
 
         23   same as the aftertax net income? 
 
         24               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 



 
 
 
 
                                                               270 
          1          A.   I think it's the cash fro m operations 
 
          2   value.  I haven't thought about your question.  I 
 
          3   don't know how to answer it as I sit here, but it is 
 
          4   as this states.  It is intended to be  the cash from 
 
          5   operations value. 
 
          6          Q.   Are you aware of the calc ulation of the 
 
          7   return -- you are familiar with the c alculation of 
 
          8   return on equity? 
 
          9          A.   Yes. 
 
         10          Q.   And would you agree that the return on 
 
         11   equity is calculated as net income di vided by 
 
         12   shareholder equity? 
 
         13          A.   Yes. 
 
         14          Q.   And earlier today you tes tified that you 
 
         15   reviewed Mr. Buckley's testimony, and  I want you to 
 
         16   look at Attachment 1 of his -- to his  testimony, if 
 
         17   you could. 
 
         18          A.   I'm there. 
 
         19          Q.   And that attachment is a financial 
 
         20   highlights compiled by SNL of the thr ee EDUs and 
 
         21   FirstEnergy Corp., correct? 
 
         22               MR. KUTIK:  We've been th rough this. 
 
         23   Next question. 
 
         24          Q.   Do you know the return on  equity for 
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          1   financial reporting purposes of the t hree Ohio EDUs 
 
          2   in 2015, assuming we use the financia l data compiled 
 
          3   by SNL and included in Attachment 1? 
 
          4          A.   I have not performed that  calculation. 
 
          5          Q.   Do you know the combined net income of 
 
          6   these EDUs in 2015 as reported in Att achment 1? 
 
          7          A.   That would have been prov ided in my 
 
          8   workpaper. 
 
          9          Q.   Okay.  And do you also kn ow the combined 
 
         10   average shareholder equity of the EDU  in 2015 as 
 
         11   reported in Attachment 1 of Mr. Buckl ey's testimony? 
 
         12          A.   No.  I haven't performed that 
 
         13   calculation. 
 
         14          Q.   Do you know if -- would y ou agree with 
 
         15   me, subject to check, that the combin ed return on 
 
         16   equity of the three EDUs is approxima tely 
 
         17   8.82 percent? 
 
         18          A.   I haven't performed the c alculation, so I 
 
         19   can't -- I can't agree to an answer. 
 
         20          Q.   Would you agree with me t hat assuming the 
 
         21   proposed rider DMR of 500 -- with a v alue of 
 
         22   558 million for the three EDUs is ado pted by the 
 
         23   Commission, would you agree that the aftertax net 
 
         24   income will increase by about $357 mi llion by using 
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          1   your income tax rate of 36 percent as  shown in 
 
          2   Figure 1 of your testimony? 
 
          3          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
          4   please? 
 
          5          Q.   And what don't you unders tand? 
 
          6          A.   The characterization of o ur proposal. 
 
          7          Q.   Assuming -- assuming that  the Commission 
 
          8   adopts the modifications you propose to rider DMR and 
 
          9   permits a DMR charge of $558 million per year for the 
 
         10   three EDUs, the aftertax net income o f the three EDUs 
 
         11   would increase by about $357 million using your 
 
         12   income tax rate of 36 percent, correc t? 
 
         13          A.   There's a lot of assumpti ons in that 
 
         14   question so I'm not entirely sure I'm  comfortable 
 
         15   answering it. 
 
         16          Q.   Would you agree with me t hat if the 
 
         17   staff's proposal of rider DMR with th e $131 million 
 
         18   collected per year, if that were adop ted by the 
 
         19   Commission, that the net income of th e three EDUs 
 
         20   would increase but not as much as und er your -- 
 
         21   your -- not as much under your modifi cations to rider 
 
         22   DMR? 
 
         23               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         24          A.   Yes. 
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          1          Q.   Have you looked at the ef fect of using an 
 
          2   income tax rate of 35.43 percent as r eported in 
 
          3   Attachment 1 of Buckley's testimony w ith a $131 
 
          4   million revenue collection to determi ne how much 
 
          5   aftertax income will be generated? 
 
          6          A.   I haven't performed that calculation. 
 
          7          Q.   And would your answer be the same with 
 
          8   respect to using an effective income tax rate of 
 
          9   35.43 percent with a DMR of $558 mill ion? 
 
         10          A.   I -- 
 
         11               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         12          A.   I haven't performed that calculation. 
 
         13               MS. WILLIS:  If I may hav e a moment, I 
 
         14   believe I'm done, but I need a moment  to look at my 
 
         15   notes.  Should we take a 2-minute bre ak? 
 
         16               MR. KUTIK:  Fine. 
 
         17               (Discussion off the recor d.) 
 
         18               MR. KUTIK:  Let's go back  on the record. 
 
         19               MS. WILLIS:  Thank you. 
 
         20          Q.   (By Ms. Willis) Now, on p age 11 through 
 
         21   12 of your testimony, you testified t o the 40 percent 
 
         22   allocation if the Commission is to ad opt your 
 
         23   modifications to rider DMR.  Do you s ee that? 
 
         24          A.   May I ask you to be more specific, 
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          1   please? 
 
          2          Q.   Well, you indicate, do yo u not, that you 
 
          3   recommend an allocation factor of 40 percent rather 
 
          4   than Mr. Buckley's allocation of 22 p ercent?  And 
 
          5   that's on page 12, line 16. 
 
          6          A.   Yes.  I see my testimony at page 12, 
 
          7   line 16, and that is what it says. 
 
          8          Q.   And do you believe that t he 40 percent 
 
          9   allocation factor is -- let me strike  that. 
 
         10               Is Ohio's share of the cr edit support a 
 
         11   higher percentage than other jurisdic tions such as 
 
         12   Pennsylvania, New York, West Virginia , and Maryland? 
 
         13               MR. KUTIK:  Objection.  I f you have done 
 
         14   those calculations. 
 
         15          A.   Yeah, I have not. 
 
         16          Q.   So you don't know how muc h Ohio's share 
 
         17   is relative to the other jurisdiction s and also 
 
         18   relative to the other subsidiaries; i s that correct? 
 
         19          A.   That's right. 
 
         20          Q.   Is it fair to say that Oh io utilities 
 
         21   have contributed a significant amount  to FE's net 
 
         22   income and cash flow in the past? 
 
         23          A.   It is fair to say, based on Mr. Buckley's 
 
         24   attachment, that in 2015, they provid ed 40 percent of 
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          1   the net income. 
 
          2          Q.   And which attachment are you referring 
 
          3   to, Ms. Mikkelsen? 
 
          4          A.   Mr. Buckley's Attachment 1. 
 
          5          Q.   And would you characteriz e that as a 
 
          6   significant contribution to FirstEner gy Corp.'s net 
 
          7   income and cash flow? 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, ar gumentative. 
 
          9          A.   Yes. 
 
         10          Q.   Is it fair to say -- let me strike that. 
 
         11               Is it fair to say under y our 
 
         12   modifications to rider DMR that a -- using a 
 
         13   40 percent allocation factor is essen tially asking -- 
 
         14   is asking Ohio customers to continue to pay a 
 
         15   significant part of FE's credit suppo rt? 
 
         16               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         17          A.   I think it creates alignm ent with the 
 
         18   support and significance of the compa nies to the 
 
         19   FirstEnergy Corporation. 
 
         20               MS. WILLIS:  That's all t he questions I 
 
         21   have.  Thank you, Ms. Mikkelsen. 
 
         22               And thank you, Mr. Kutik.  
 
         23               MR. KUTIK:  Let's go off the record. 
 
         24               (Discussion off the recor d.) 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  Okay.  Let's go back on the 
 
          2   record. 
 
          3               Mr. Settineri. 
 
          4               MR. SETTINERI:  Thanks, D avid. 
 
          5                           - - - 
 
          6                     CROSS-EXAMINATION 
 
          7   By Mr. Settineri: 
 
          8          Q.   Good evening, Ms. Mikkels en.  In the very 
 
          9   beginning of the deposition today, th ere was some 
 
         10   discussion about your testimony at pa ge 14, line 22, 
 
         11   you talked about the annual amount of  DMR would equal 
 
         12   the $558 million plus an additional a mount not to 
 
         13   exceed the economic development value  outlined by 
 
         14   Murley.  So am I correct then that wh at you are 
 
         15   proposing for your DMR proposal would  be an upper 
 
         16   limit of $1.126 billion for rider DMR ? 
 
         17               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         18   answered. 
 
         19          A.   What I am proposing is th at the DMR 
 
         20   amount would equal 558 million plus a n additional 
 
         21   amount determined by the Commission - - 
 
         22          Q.   And I know those -- 
 
         23               MR. KUTIK:  Hold on a sec ond.  She hasn't 
 
         24   finished her answer. 
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          1          Q.   Oh, I'm sorry.  Go ahead.  
 
          2          A.   Associated with the commi tment to keep 
 
          3   the FirstEnergy Corp. headquarters an d nexus of 
 
          4   operations in Akron, Ohio. 
 
          5          Q.   And I understand you gave  that answer.  I 
 
          6   am asking a different question though .  Are you 
 
          7   proposing an upper limit to rider DMR  of 1.1 -- 1.126 
 
          8   billion? 
 
          9               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         10   answered. 
 
         11          A.   I stand by my prior answe rs. 
 
         12          Q.   Well, let me ask you this , you said 
 
         13   not -- in your testimony at line 22, you say "an 
 
         14   additional amount not" to, and I assu me there is a 
 
         15   missing word, "to exceed the economic  development 
 
         16   value."  Do you see that? 
 
         17          A.   Yes. 
 
         18          Q.   So when you say "not to e xceed," that 
 
         19   would be an upper limit, correct? 
 
         20               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, ar gumentative. 
 
         21          A.   I think the Commission wi ll determine 
 
         22   what the appropriate level is to be - - 
 
         23          Q.   So you are not reference -- 
 
         24               MR. KUTIK:  Excuse me.  S he is not 
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          1   finished with her answer. 
 
          2          A.   To be included in rider D MR arising from 
 
          3   the headquarters and nexus of operati ons commitment. 
 
          4          Q.   And so then in your testi mony you are not 
 
          5   recommending an upper limit for rider  DMR, correct? 
 
          6               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
          7   answered. 
 
          8          A.   I stand by my prior answe rs. 
 
          9          Q.   That's a completely diffe rent question I 
 
         10   am asking you though. 
 
         11               MR. KUTIK:  Well, she's - - move on. 
 
         12   What's your next question? 
 
         13               MR. SETTINERI:  I am just  replaying your 
 
         14   role, David, from the Joseph Kalt dep osition, so. 
 
         15               MR. KUTIK:  Well, this wi tness is a heck 
 
         16   of a lot more responsive, but go ahea d. 
 
         17               MR. SETTINERI:  And I am laughing, so let 
 
         18   the record reflect that. 
 
         19          Q.   (By Mr. Settineri) All ri ght. 
 
         20   Dr. Choueiki's testimony, he -- he ma kes a 
 
         21   statement -- or a recommendation the Commission 
 
         22   should direct the companies to invest  in 
 
         23   modernization of the distribution gri d.  Do you 
 
         24   recall that recommendation? 
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          1          A.   Yes. 
 
          2          Q.   Okay.  Do you disagree wi th that 
 
          3   recommendation by Dr. Choueiki? 
 
          4               MR. KUTIK:  Well, I'll ob ject as beyond 
 
          5   the scope of her rebuttal, but she ca n answer. 
 
          6          A.   I didn't -- I didn't supp ort any 
 
          7   testimony in opposition to that state ment. 
 
          8          Q.   Do you -- do you agree wi th his 
 
          9   recommendation?  That's what I am ask ing you. 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
         11   answered. 
 
         12          A.   The companies believe the  Commission 
 
         13   should approve the proposal.  That is  the companies' 
 
         14   position in this proceeding. 
 
         15          Q.   When you say proposal, yo u are referring 
 
         16   to the modified rider RRS proposal? 
 
         17          A.   Yes. 
 
         18          Q.   Okay.  Going back to the question I asked 
 
         19   you, though, is do you agree with Mr.  -- 
 
         20   Dr. Choueiki's recommendation that th e Commission 
 
         21   should direct the companies to invest  in modernizing 
 
         22   the distribution grid? 
 
         23               MR. KUTIK:  She's answere d that question. 
 
         24               MR. SETTINERI:  No, she h asn't. 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  Well, she has .  You just 
 
          2   don't like the answer. 
 
          3               MR. SETTINERI:  She didn' t answer the 
 
          4   question. 
 
          5               MR. KUTIK:  No, she did.  And it's 6:15 
 
          6   and at this point I really don't want  to have 
 
          7   arguments on the record.  So either m ove on or ask 
 
          8   another question or stop asking quest ions and let's 
 
          9   go. 
 
         10               MR. SETTINERI:  Well, we have a witness 
 
         11   that should be able to answer these q uestions.  She's 
 
         12   proposing an -- 
 
         13               MR. KUTIK:  What is your next question? 
 
         14               MR. SETTINERI:  -- altern ative DMR. 
 
         15   Certainly as part of that alternative , it is fair to 
 
         16   ask whether she agrees with Dr. Choue iki's 
 
         17   recommendation. 
 
         18               MR. KUTIK:  Let's stop ar guing and let's 
 
         19   ask another question, please. 
 
         20               MR. SETTINERI:  That is t he question I am 
 
         21   asking. 
 
         22               MR. KUTIK:  Well, she ans wered that 
 
         23   question. 
 
         24          Q.   (By Mr. Settineri) I will  ask it again. 



 
 
 
 
                                                               281 
          1   Ms. Mikkelsen, do you agree that Dr. Choueiki's 
 
          2   recommendation that the Commission di rect the company 
 
          3   to invest in modernizing the distribu tion grid? 
 
          4               MR. KUTIK:  Beyond the sc ope of her 
 
          5   testimony, asked and answered.  I wil l instruct her 
 
          6   at this time not to answer.  She's al ready answered. 
 
          7   Go ahead.  Next question. 
 
          8               MR. SETTINERI:  At this t ime we will 
 
          9   reserve our right to recall her for d eposition. 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  You can do --  you can say 
 
         11   whatever you want.  You can waste mor e time.  I'm 
 
         12   really getting tired of having to dea l with, you 
 
         13   know, people repeating stuff.  This w itness has been 
 
         14   here now for nine hours.  It's an abu se of this 
 
         15   witness.  It's an abuse of the proces s.  So if you 
 
         16   want to do arguments on the record, I  have plenty of 
 
         17   arguments to make.  You want to ask a nother question, 
 
         18   let's ask another question. 
 
         19               MR. SETTINERI:  I underst and it's been a 
 
         20   long day. 
 
         21          Q.   (By Mr. Settineri) Ms. Mi kkelsen, you are 
 
         22   presenting a -- what you may call you r modified rider 
 
         23   DMR proposal, correct? 
 
         24               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
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          1   answered. 
 
          2          A.   I believe proposing modif ications to the 
 
          3   calculation of the value to be includ ed in rider DMR. 
 
          4          Q.   Okay.  Are you recommendi ng any form of 
 
          5   guarantee whereby the companies would  invest in 
 
          6   modernizing the distribution grid if rider DMR was 
 
          7   approved as you have presented? 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
          9   answered.  Mr. Fisk asked these quest ions earlier 
 
         10   today.  You can tell him again. 
 
         11          A.   No. 
 
         12          Q.   And as of today, are the companies under 
 
         13   any requirement to invest in distribu tion grid 
 
         14   modernization projects? 
 
         15               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and answered 
 
         16   previously in this case.  Go ahead an d the record is 
 
         17   what it is.  Go ahead. 
 
         18          A.   Not beyond commitments as sociated with 
 
         19   the Commission-approved pilot. 
 
         20               MR. SETTINERI:  Can I hav e that answer 
 
         21   reread, please. 
 
         22               (Record read.) 
 
         23               MR. SETTINERI:  Thank you . 
 
         24          Q.   (By Mr. Settineri) Earlie r, 
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          1   Ms. Mikkelsen, there was a question f rom Ms. Willis 
 
          2   about whether the proposal was more b eneficial to the 
 
          3   company than a properly-designed DMR as you propose. 
 
          4   And your answer referred also both to  the companies 
 
          5   and customers, so I want to ask the q uestion 
 
          6   specifically as to the companies.  Is  the proposal, 
 
          7   which would be the modified rider RRS  proposal, more 
 
          8   beneficial to the companies than a pr operly-designed 
 
          9   DMR as you have presented? 
 
         10               MR. KUTIK:  She answered that exact 
 
         11   question, so I'll instruct her not to  answer.  She's 
 
         12   already answered. 
 
         13               MR. SETTINERI:  Well, her  answer actually 
 
         14   stepped a little sideways because she  didn't answer 
 
         15   it as to the conditions.  She include d the customers 
 
         16   as well so that's why I am asking the  question. 
 
         17               MR. KUTIK:  Well, she did  answer the 
 
         18   question. 
 
         19               MR. SETTINERI:  Are you g oing to instruct 
 
         20   her not to answer? 
 
         21               MR. KUTIK:  Yes, I am. 
 
         22               MR. SETTINERI:  We will r eserve our right 
 
         23   to recall her for deposition.  And I would also offer 
 
         24   that we can ask that question in inte rrogatory to you 



 
 
 
 
                                                               284 
          1   as well. 
 
          2               MR. KUTIK:  Well, discove ry is closed, so 
 
          3   you can do whatever -- you can waste your time doing 
 
          4   whatever you want, like we are wastin g time now 
 
          5   talking about it and wasting time quo te reserving 
 
          6   your right to take depositions.  Let' s go ahead. 
 
          7   What's your next question? 
 
          8               MR. SETTINERI:  Well, aga in, as I've 
 
          9   said, her answer stepped sideways, an d the record 
 
         10   will reflect that. 
 
         11               MR. KUTIK:  The record wi ll reflect her 
 
         12   answer was her answer without your ch aracterization. 
 
         13   Let's go.  Next question, please. 
 
         14          Q.   (By Mr. Settineri) Could the D -- rider 
 
         15   DMR you had proposed benefit FirstEne rgy Solutions' 
 
         16   credit rating? 
 
         17               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, be yond the scope 
 
         18   of her testimony. 
 
         19          A.   The staff's proposal is f or rider DMR.  I 
 
         20   am sponsoring testimony about modific ations to the 
 
         21   calculation, but it's staff's proposa l. 
 
         22          Q.   All right.  What I am ask ing you is could 
 
         23   rider DMR, as you have suggested modi fying, would 
 
         24   that have any benefit for -- to First Energy 
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          1   Solutions' credit rating? 
 
          2               MR. KUTIK:  Same objectio n. 
 
          3          A.   No. 
 
          4          Q.   Why not? 
 
          5          A.   FirstEnergy Solutions is not a party to 
 
          6   rider DMR. 
 
          7          Q.   So under the S&P family a pproach, if 
 
          8   rider DMR improved FirstEnergy Corp.' s credit rating, 
 
          9   then your -- you believe that FirstEn ergy Solutions 
 
         10   would not benefit if that occurred, c orrect? 
 
         11               THE WITNESS:  May I have the question 
 
         12   reread, please. 
 
         13               (Record read.) 
 
         14          A.   I don't know.  As we disc ussed earlier, 
 
         15   the S&P has FirstEnergy Solutions on CreditWatch 
 
         16   Negative and is considering removing it from the 
 
         17   family. 
 
         18          Q.   So your answer is you don 't know? 
 
         19               MR. KUTIK:  Her answer is  her answer so 
 
         20   I'll object.  Don't argue with the wi tness, please. 
 
         21               MR. SETTINERI:  I am not arguing with 
 
         22   her.  I am just asking to understand her answer. 
 
         23          Q.   Is your answer you don't know, 
 
         24   Ms. Mikkelsen? 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  Asked and ans wered. 
 
          2          A.   My answer is what my answ er is. 
 
          3          Q.   All right.  Let me ask yo u this question, 
 
          4   in order to enable an array of innova tive products 
 
          5   and services, do you believe that CRE S suppliers 
 
          6   should have access to smart meter dat a? 
 
          7               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, be yond the scope 
 
          8   of her testimony. 
 
          9          A.   Yes. 
 
         10          Q.   And in order to enable an  array of 
 
         11   innovative products and service, do y ou believe it is 
 
         12   important to avoid barriers to CRES s uppliers from 
 
         13   providing an array of innovative prod ucts and 
 
         14   services? 
 
         15               MR. KUTIK:  Well, at this  point I'll 
 
         16   object and instruct her not to answer , well beyond 
 
         17   her testimony. 
 
         18          Q.   Ms. Mikkelsen, at page 6,  line 7, of your 
 
         19   testimony, do you have that with you?  
 
         20          A.   I do. 
 
         21          Q.   Starting at line 6, do yo u see the 
 
         22   sentence that says "Ultimately, grid modernization 
 
         23   will benefit customers and competitiv e suppliers by 
 
         24   enabling an array of innovative produ cts and 
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          1   services"? 
 
          2          A.   I see that sentence. 
 
          3          Q.   So in order to enable an array of 
 
          4   innovative products and services, do you believe it's 
 
          5   important to avoid barriers to CRES s uppliers from 
 
          6   providing an array of innovative prod ucts and 
 
          7   services? 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, be yond the scope 
 
          9   of her testimony.  I'll instruct her not to answer. 
 
         10               MR. SETTINERI:  That's th e most 
 
         11   ridiculous objection I've ever heard.  
 
         12               MR. KUTIK:  Well, it matc hes the most 
 
         13   ridiculous question I have ever heard , if we are 
 
         14   going to use superlatives that neithe r of us really 
 
         15   mean so go ahead. 
 
         16               MR. SETTINERI:  Well, it' s par for the 
 
         17   course on this; but, again, I am read ing -- I 
 
         18   referred to her testimony and I posed  a question and 
 
         19   I would like that question answered. 
 
         20               MR. KUTIK:  Well, we have  the objection 
 
         21   so move forward, please, and the inst ruction. 
 
         22               MR. SETTINERI:  And, agai n, we will 
 
         23   reserve our right to recall her for d eposition to 
 
         24   answer that question. 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  Something, of  course, you 
 
          2   don't need to do on the record which is a waste of 
 
          3   time but go ahead. 
 
          4          Q.   (By Mr. Settineri) Ms. Mi kkelsen, at page 
 
          5   17 of your testimony, line 28, do you  see the bullet 
 
          6   point "Issued equity through stock in vestment and 
 
          7   other employee benefits plans"? 
 
          8          A.   Yes. 
 
          9          Q.   Are those -- when you ref er to the other 
 
         10   "stock investment and other employee benefit plans," 
 
         11   are those stock compensation plans fo r employees? 
 
         12               THE WITNESS:  May I ask t o have that 
 
         13   question reread, please. 
 
         14               (Record read.) 
 
         15          A.   The stock investment plan  is not.  The 
 
         16   other employee benefit plans may be. 
 
         17          Q.   So those could include, f or example, a 
 
         18   stock -- like a stock option plan? 
 
         19          A.   Yes. 
 
         20          Q.   Are you aware that FirstE nergy maintains 
 
         21   some historical credit rating informa tion on its 
 
         22   website for FirstEnergy Corp. and its  subsidiaries? 
 
         23          A.   I don't remember. 
 
         24          Q.   Okay.  Do you know for th e three -- for 
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          1   the companies, are you aware of when,  if ever, the 
 
          2   companies had a Moody's long-term rat ing that was in 
 
          3   the A category? 
 
          4          A.   I don't know. 
 
          5          Q.   And would you agree with me that over the 
 
          6   last 10 years that the utilities -- t he companies 
 
          7   have been in the Baa3 category genera lly with the 
 
          8   exception of Ohio Edison which has mo ved between Baa2 
 
          9   to Baa1? 
 
         10          A.   I don't remember the 10-y ear history. 
 
         11          Q.   You are recommending to t he Commission 
 
         12   that it adopt the modified rider RRS proposal still, 
 
         13   and so my question to you is why do y ou still -- why 
 
         14   do you favor modified rider RRS over rider DMR as you 
 
         15   have modified through your testimony,  propose to 
 
         16   modify through your testimony? 
 
         17               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         18          A.   As I say in my testimony,  the proposal 
 
         19   provides the additional retail rate s tability 
 
         20   benefits by mitigating future retail rate increases 
 
         21   and volatility. 
 
         22          Q.   Any other reasons why you  would favor the 
 
         23   proposal? 
 
         24          A.   To maintain the benefits of the 
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          1   Commission-approved ESP IV. 
 
          2          Q.   Any others? 
 
          3          A.   None that come to mind ri ght now. 
 
          4          Q.   And would you agree with me then that 
 
          5   modified rider RRS has a different pu rpose than rider 
 
          6   DMR? 
 
          7          A.   Yes. 
 
          8          Q.   Would you agree with me t hat they are two 
 
          9   separate proposals? 
 
         10          A.   Yes. 
 
         11          Q.   And that if the Commissio n elects rider 
 
         12   DMR, whether it's presented by staff or as you have 
 
         13   recommended modifying, and does not a dopt modified 
 
         14   rider RRS, that the rate stability be nefit that you 
 
         15   believe exists under rider RRS would not be realized; 
 
         16   is that correct? 
 
         17               MR. KUTIK:  Well, objecti on, asked and 
 
         18   answered. 
 
         19          A.   Yes. 
 
         20          Q.   How does rider DMR promot e job retention? 
 
         21               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and answered 
 
         22   earlier today with Mr. Fisk. 
 
         23          Q.   You can go ahead and answ er. 
 
         24          A.   Rider DMR promotes job --  economic 
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          1   development and job retention as it r elates to the 
 
          2   condition associated with the mainten ance of the 
 
          3   headquarters in -- and the nexus of o perations in 
 
          4   Akron, Ohio, as well as other economi c development 
 
          5   benefits associated with -- arising f rom performing 
 
          6   the work associated with the grid mod ernization 
 
          7   program. 
 
          8               And, finally, to the exte nt that the grid 
 
          9   is modernized and customers are benef ited by better 
 
         10   ability to manage their product -- pa rdon me, their 
 
         11   energy consumption as well as opportu nities for other 
 
         12   smart technologies and improved relia bility that 
 
         13   would contribute additionally to econ omic 
 
         14   development. 
 
         15          Q.   And you would agree with me then that if 
 
         16   grid investments are not made, the ec onomic 
 
         17   development component that you just m entioned in your 
 
         18   answer would not take place, correct?  
 
         19               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         20          A.   The economic development and job 
 
         21   retention benefits arising from the m aintenance of 
 
         22   the headquarters would still occur. 
 
         23          Q.   In regards to, again thou gh, if grid 
 
         24   investment does not take place, there  would be no 
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          1   economic development related to the a ctual grid 
 
          2   investment itself, correct? 
 
          3          A.   If there is no grid inves tment, there 
 
          4   would be no economic development asso ciated with grid 
 
          5   investment. 
 
          6          Q.   Are the -- we discussed e arlier -- you 
 
          7   mentioned earlier today I believe the re is some 
 
          8   pension funding commitments that are pending, but my 
 
          9   question here is the FirstEnergy pens ion fund is 
 
         10   underfunded, correct? 
 
         11               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         12          A.   My testimony today relate d to the funding 
 
         13   of the companies' pension obligation and their share 
 
         14   of FirstEnergy Service Company's pens ion obligation. 
 
         15          Q.   Okay.  And are you aware of the funding 
 
         16   status of the FirstEnergy Service pen sion fund? 
 
         17          A.   Could I ask you to rephra se the question? 
 
         18          Q.   What didn't you understan d? 
 
         19          A.   FirstEnergy Service pensi on fund. 
 
         20          Q.   What pension fund are you  -- when you 
 
         21   mention the companies have to fund a pension plan, 
 
         22   what pension plan are you referring t o? 
 
         23          A.   The companies have fundin g obligations 
 
         24   for the -- their pension plans as wel l as an 
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          1   obligation associated with funding pa rt of the 
 
          2   FirstEnergy Services Company pension.  
 
          3          Q.   Okay.  Are any of those p ension plans 
 
          4   underfunded to your -- that you are a ware of? 
 
          5          A.   Yes.  They all are. 
 
          6          Q.   Okay.  Do you know to wha t level they are 
 
          7   underfunded to? 
 
          8          A.   Yes.  As I described earl ier, to bring 
 
          9   those to 100 percent funded as of the  end of May of 
 
         10   2016, would require between 750 milli on and a billion 
 
         11   dollars. 
 
         12          Q.   Do you know what -- I'm s orry.  I didn't 
 
         13   want to interrupt you.  Go ahead. 
 
         14          A.   No.  I'm done. 
 
         15          Q.   Okay.  Do you know though  what percent 
 
         16   underfunded they are? 
 
         17          A.   No. 
 
         18          Q.   Okay.  Rider DMR, that wi ll be a monthly 
 
         19   charge, correct? 
 
         20          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question, 
 
         21   please? 
 
         22          Q.   Sure.  I'll just back up.   Page 15 at 
 
         23   line 2, you state that "Once the amou nt is 
 
         24   established it would be collected ann ually." 
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          1          A.   Yes. 
 
          2          Q.   And so are you saying tha t rider DMR will 
 
          3   be a once a year charge to customers?  
 
          4          A.   No. 
 
          5          Q.   And so it will be collect ed on a monthly 
 
          6   basis, correct? 
 
          7          A.   It will be collected thro ughout the year. 
 
          8          Q.   Okay.  And throughout the  year it will be 
 
          9   collected and each month invoiced to the customers, 
 
         10   correct? 
 
         11          A.   I am trying to be careful .  You posed -- 
 
         12   when I said collected annually, it's not a one-time 
 
         13   charge.  And then you said collected monthly, and I 
 
         14   am trying not to agree with you that it will be a 
 
         15   monthly charge.  It will be billed ba sed on some 
 
         16   billing determinant to be determined by the 
 
         17   Commission. 
 
         18          Q.   Okay.  You answered my qu estion.  Thank 
 
         19   you. 
 
         20               MR. KUTIK:  Had you finis hed your answer? 
 
         21               THE WITNESS:  Yes. 
 
         22          Q.   On that same page, line 1 4, you say 
 
         23   "However, improving credit ratings ta kes time," 
 
         24   correct? 
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          1          A.   Yes. 
 
          2          Q.   Do you see that? 
 
          3          A.   Yes. 
 
          4          Q.   Okay.  Is the purpose of the rider DMR to 
 
          5   improve the companies' credit ratings ? 
 
          6          A.   It is to provide credit s upport to the 
 
          7   companies. 
 
          8          Q.   And could that credit sup port also be 
 
          9   used to maintain the existing credit ratings? 
 
         10          A.   Yes. 
 
         11          Q.   And do you believe that t o maintain the 
 
         12   credit rating will take time? 
 
         13          A.   May I ask you to rephrase  the question? 
 
         14   I don't understand the question. 
 
         15          Q.   Sure.  Fifth -- page 15, line 14, you say 
 
         16   "However, improving credit ratings ta kes time."  And 
 
         17   so I'm switching to is maintain a cre dit rating, do 
 
         18   you believe that also will take time?  
 
         19          A.   And I'm saying I don't un derstand the 
 
         20   question. 
 
         21          Q.   Well, let me try it a dif ferent way then. 
 
         22   Do you believe that rider DMR should be -- the term 
 
         23   of rider DMR should be equal to the t erm of the ESP 
 
         24   IV, correct? 
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          1          A.   Yes. 
 
          2          Q.   Okay.  And one of the rea sons you believe 
 
          3   that is because improving credit rati ngs takes time, 
 
          4   correct? 
 
          5          A.   When I'm addressing "impr oving credit 
 
          6   ratings takes time," I'm addressing t he fact that 
 
          7   staff believes three years is a suffi cient amount of 
 
          8   time, and I'm saying it takes -- impr oving credit 
 
          9   ratings takes time.  I don't know tha t three years 
 
         10   will be sufficient. 
 
         11          Q.   Do you believe three year s would be 
 
         12   sufficient if the goal is to maintain  the credit 
 
         13   ratings and not improve the credit ra tings? 
 
         14          A.   If the elimination of the  charge were to 
 
         15   adversely affect the maintenance of t he credit 
 
         16   rating, then I would not agree. 
 
         17          Q.   And did I -- 
 
         18               MR. SETTINERI:  I'm sorry .  If I could 
 
         19   have that answer reread.  I didn't un derstand it. 
 
         20               (Record read.) 
 
         21          Q.   Okay.  What is -- you use d the phrase 
 
         22   single-issue ratemaking at page 5, li ne 11.  Page 5, 
 
         23   line 11.  What do you mean by the phr ase 
 
         24   "single-issue ratemaking" at line 11,  page 5? 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
          2   answered.  She covered this thoroughl y before.  I 
 
          3   will instruct her not to answer. 
 
          4               MR. SETTINERI:  She didn' t answer this 
 
          5   question.  There were some questions about the 
 
          6   statute but I want to know what singl e-issue 
 
          7   ratemaking is to her. 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  She talked ab out it.  She 
 
          9   said that this was a -- to the extent  it provided 
 
         10   credit support, it dealt with that sp ecific issue. 
 
         11   That was her answer. 
 
         12               MR. SETTINERI:  No.  It w as in regards to 
 
         13   answering the statute. 
 
         14               MR. KUTIK:  No, no, no.  Hey, I've made 
 
         15   my -- I've made my instruction, damn it.  Will you 
 
         16   just stop arguing and ask your next q uestion?  It's 
 
         17   now 6:40.  You said you would be done  in 20 minutes. 
 
         18   You are now a half-hour over time, ju st wasting time 
 
         19   and screwing around, so what's your n ext question? 
 
         20               MR. SETTINERI:  You don't  have to yell. 
 
         21               MR. KUTIK:  I do have to yell because you 
 
         22   are being ridiculous and all of you h ave been 
 
         23   ridiculous in this thing.  You have a bused this 
 
         24   witness, and I am mad because you hav e abused this 
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          1   witness, and you shouldn't do that. 
 
          2               MR. SETTINERI:  You know what -- 
 
          3               MR. KUTIK:  And you shoul dn't do that and 
 
          4   you know it. 
 
          5               MR. SETTINERI:  We can go  off the record. 
 
          6   Ask your witness.  She knows.  I want  to know what 
 
          7   she understands single-issue ratemaki ng to be. 
 
          8               MR. KUTIK:  Damn it.  I h ave already 
 
          9   instructed her not to answer.  I told  you what the 
 
         10   answer is.  Let's move on.  Do you ha ve another 
 
         11   question? 
 
         12               MR. SETTINERI:  She is be ing deposed. 
 
         13   And, again, if you need to go off the  record, she 
 
         14   will tell you she didn't answer this question because 
 
         15   I know -- I know she will, so I would  just like to 
 
         16   know.  It won't take long. 
 
         17               MR. KUTIK:  All right.  I  guess you have 
 
         18   all your questions done.  We will go now to 
 
         19   Ms. Walter.  You're done.  No.  You a re done. 
 
         20   Ms. Walter is next. 
 
         21               MR. SETTINERI:  Go off th e record and 
 
         22   talk to your witness. 
 
         23               MR. KUTIK:  I don't have to do anything, 
 
         24   and I certainly am not going to take instruction from 
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          1   you.  I have already made my instruct ion.  I told you 
 
          2   what the answer is.  I don't even hav e to do that, 
 
          3   and you are just screwing around at t his point.  So 
 
          4   you're done as far as I'm concerned, and we will move 
 
          5   to Ms. Walter. 
 
          6               MR. SETTINERI:  Let me as k another. 
 
          7               MR. KUTIK:  No.  You're d one. 
 
          8          Q.   (By Mr. Settineri) Ms. Mi kkelsen -- 
 
          9               MR. KUTIK:  You are done.   I'm sorry. 
 
         10          Q.   -- when you use the phras e "single-issue 
 
         11   ratemaking" in your testimony, what d o you mean? 
 
         12               MR. KUTIK:  We're done.  We've asked that 
 
         13   question.  She's answered that questi on.  If you have 
 
         14   no other questions, then Ms. Walter i s next. 
 
         15               MR. SETTINERI:  Well, aga in, I'll have 
 
         16   to -- this one I'm definitely going t o reserve the 
 
         17   right.  We will call -- have to call the attorney 
 
         18   examiners in the morning.  We will se t up a 
 
         19   conference and talk to them about thi s because 
 
         20   certainly these questions were not po sed. 
 
         21               MR. KUTIK:  You can do it  -- you can do 
 
         22   it bright and early at 9 o'clock in t he morning, and 
 
         23   I'll be prepared to talk about how al l of you have 
 
         24   abused the process.  Are you done?  D o you have any 
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          1   more questions or are you done? 
 
          2               MR. SETTINERI:  I am goin g to take a 
 
          3   second and look at my notes, Mr. Kuti k.  Is that a 
 
          4   problem with you? 
 
          5               MR. KUTIK:  If you have - - if you want to 
 
          6   ask more questions that have not been  answered, you 
 
          7   can go ahead.  But I don't want to ar gue with you any 
 
          8   more, and if you continue to argue wi th me, I am 
 
          9   going to assume that you are done. 
 
         10               MR. SETTINERI:  Oh, Lord.  
 
         11               All right.  Subject to al l of my own 
 
         12   objections and my reservations, I'll turn it over to 
 
         13   Danielle. 
 
         14               MR. KUTIK:  All right.  M s. Walter, do 
 
         15   you have any questions? 
 
         16               MS. GHILONI:  Yes, briefl y. 
 
         17                           - - - 
 
         18                     CROSS-EXAMINATION 
 
         19   By Ms. Ghiloni: 
 
         20          Q.   Good evening, Ms. Mikkels en.  Thank you 
 
         21   for your patience.  I am going to hop  right in. 
 
         22   Currently, the stipulated ESP IV is i n effect, is 
 
         23   that correct, to your understanding? 
 
         24          A.   Yes. 
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          1          Q.   And on page 4, line 17, o f your 
 
          2   testimony, you state "The Proposal sh ould be 
 
          3   maintained to ensure these benefits o f the 
 
          4   Commission-approved Stipulated ESP IV  remain intact." 
 
          5   You are referring there to the compan ies' proposal, 
 
          6   correct? 
 
          7          A.   Yes. 
 
          8          Q.   Okay.  And at footnote 5 on that same 
 
          9   page, you highlight there one of the commitments 
 
         10   under the ESP IV; is that correct? 
 
         11          A.   Yes. 
 
         12          Q.   Why did you highlight tha t particular 
 
         13   commitment? 
 
         14          A.   Just by way of example to  indicate to the 
 
         15   Commission staff and the other partie s that the 
 
         16   companies consistent with this commit ment, as with a 
 
         17   number of other commitments, plan to file their 
 
         18   carbon emission report by November 1 of 2016 and that 
 
         19   the companies will include in their f iling a report 
 
         20   on the status of nuclear power and st rategies for the 
 
         21   preservation of the nuclear zero carb on resource in 
 
         22   the state. 
 
         23          Q.   Thank you.  So all other commitments are 
 
         24   still currently intact -- all other c ommitments in 
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          1   the stipulated ESP IV are still curre ntly intact as 
 
          2   well. 
 
          3               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          4          A.   The statement that you ar e pointing to 
 
          5   refers to the benefits of the stipula tion or the 
 
          6   Commission-approved ESP IV, stipulate d ESP IV, and 
 
          7   not all of those benefits are current ly in effect. 
 
          8   Specifically this refers to the benef its associated 
 
          9   with retail rate stability for our cu stomers. 
 
         10          Q.   So but the footnote says "Among the 
 
         11   benefits included in Stipulated ESP I V was a 
 
         12   commitment." 
 
         13          A.   Uh-huh, yes. 
 
         14          Q.   So you're saying this is just an example 
 
         15   of one of the benefits that will rema in intact. 
 
         16   Let's put it this way:  Will the othe r benefits 
 
         17   remain intact? 
 
         18               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         19          A.   The -- should the Commiss ion approve the 
 
         20   proposal and the company adopt or acc ept the modified 
 
         21   ESP, then all of the benefits contemp lated under the 
 
         22   Commission-approved stipulated ESP IV  would remain in 
 
         23   tact. 
 
         24          Q.   Thank you.  If staff's pr oposal is 
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          1   adopted without modification, would t he companies 
 
          2   withdraw the stipulated ESP IV? 
 
          3          A.   I don't know. 
 
          4          Q.   If the companies' modific ations to 
 
          5   staff's proposal are adopted, would t he companies 
 
          6   withdraw the stipulated ESP IV? 
 
          7          A.   I don't know. 
 
          8          Q.   Turning to page 7, line 1 9. 
 
          9          A.   I'm there. 
 
         10          Q.   Okay.  You discuss higher  borrowing 
 
         11   costs.  Do you know what the current interest rate is 
 
         12   that the companies can borrow at? 
 
         13          A.   No. 
 
         14          Q.   Are you aware of a range at all? 
 
         15          A.   No. 
 
         16          Q.   And if the companies are downgraded, do 
 
         17   you know what that interest rate woul d be that the 
 
         18   companies would be able to borrow at?  
 
         19               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and answered 
 
         20   both today and in her July 8 depositi on. 
 
         21          A.   No. 
 
         22          Q.   Okay.  Page 8, line 1, yo u mention a 
 
         23   distribution rate freeze.  The compan ies agreed to 
 
         24   that in the stipulated ESP IV, correc t? 
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          1          A.   Yes. 
 
          2          Q.   The companies' commitment  to not file a 
 
          3   rate case is still a commitment that they intend to 
 
          4   offer if staff's proposal is adopted,  correct? 
 
          5               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, al so object to the 
 
          6   extent it calls for a legal conclusio n. 
 
          7          A.   That would be dependent u pon whether or 
 
          8   not the company chose to accept the m odified ESP -- 
 
          9   companies chose to accept the modifie d ESP. 
 
         10          Q.   Page 14, lines 22 to 23. 
 
         11          A.   I'm there. 
 
         12          Q.   The economic development value referenced 
 
         13   there, that -- does that include empl oyees that work 
 
         14   for other FE Corporation subsidiaries ? 
 
         15               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         16          A.   It reflects FirstEnergy S ervice Company 
 
         17   employees that work at the corporate headquarters 
 
         18   building. 
 
         19          Q.   At page 16, line 13. 
 
         20          A.   I'm there. 
 
         21          Q.   Are you stating here that  with the DMR 
 
         22   revenue, the companies will get a low er rate 
 
         23   regardless of their investment grade status? 
 
         24          A.   No.  I think what is bein g said here is 
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          1   that the rider DMR should begin immed iately upon 
 
          2   Commission approval so that the compa nies can 
 
          3   immediately begin to see the benefits  to their credit 
 
          4   market -- pardon me, credit metrics s o that when the 
 
          5   companies do need to obtain financing  costs, the 
 
          6   positive benefits associated with thi s credit support 
 
          7   have already started to accrue to the  companies. 
 
          8          Q.   Okay.  Now turn to page 1 7.  At the 
 
          9   bottom of 17, those bullet points, th ere's two bullet 
 
         10   points, correct?  Do you see those? 
 
         11          A.   Two primary bullet points  with a series 
 
         12   of six sub-bullet points. 
 
         13          Q.   Yes.  Thank you.  So unde r the primary 
 
         14   bullet point "FE Management and Emplo yees," you have 
 
         15   listed here a variety of intend -- ac tions I will 
 
         16   call them, and I want to go through - - do you know 
 
         17   the date or an estimate of the date r elated to when 
 
         18   FE management and employees completed  reductions 
 
         19   across the company through changes to  medical and 
 
         20   other benefits? 
 
         21               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as sumes that they 
 
         22   are completed. 
 
         23          A.   There have been a number of changes to 
 
         24   medical and other benefits that have been implemented 
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          1   at various times over the last severa l years. 
 
          2          Q.   Can you tell me, do you h ave an idea of 
 
          3   when that began? 
 
          4               MR. KUTIK:  Objection, as ked and 
 
          5   answered. 
 
          6          A.   I think this would have b een in the 
 
          7   2013-2014 time frame. 
 
          8          Q.   And is that ongoing? 
 
          9          A.   Yes. 
 
         10          Q.   What about staff reductio n, do you know 
 
         11   when that began? 
 
         12               MR. KUTIK:  Well, these q uestions were 
 
         13   asked by Ms. Willis. 
 
         14          A.   Staff reductions have occ urred each year 
 
         15   since 2012. 
 
         16          Q.   What about the cash flow improvement 
 
         17   plan? 
 
         18               MR. KUTIK:  What about th e cash flow 
 
         19   improvement plan? 
 
         20          Q.   When did that begin?  Whe n was that first 
 
         21   implemented? 
 
         22               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         23          A.   I believe that initiative  would have 
 
         24   been -- would have begun in late 2014  or early 2015, 
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          1   and it continues and continues prospe ctively. 
 
          2          Q.   Refer back to the next bu llet, 
 
          3   "Shareholders," the reduced annual di vidends, when 
 
          4   specifically -- was there one point i n time when that 
 
          5   occurred? 
 
          6          A.   It was a one-time adjustm ent to the 
 
          7   dividend amount. 
 
          8          Q.   And when was that? 
 
          9               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         10          A.   As I said earlier, I don' t remember the 
 
         11   exact date that that dividend change occurred. 
 
         12          Q.   Do you remember if it was  before 2016? 
 
         13          A.   Oh, it was before 2016.  It was before 
 
         14   2015, I believe. 
 
         15          Q.   And the action related to  issuing equity 
 
         16   through stock investment and other em ployee benefits 
 
         17   plan, do you recall when that occurre d? 
 
         18          A.   Again, the change would h ave occurred and 
 
         19   then would continue and continue toda y and I think 
 
         20   that has -- those changes have been i n effect for 
 
         21   '16, '15, '14, and possibly part of ' 13. 
 
         22          Q.   And the final bullet says  "FirstEnergy 
 
         23   continues to assess the appropriatene ss and timing 
 
         24   associated with issuing additional eq uity," so 
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          1   obviously they have been continuing.  Do you know 
 
          2   when that began? 
 
          3          A.   I think that is a continu ous action 
 
          4   performed by the management of the Fi rstEnergy Corp. 
 
          5          Q.   Okay.  I have only a few more questions, 
 
          6   I promise.  Turning to the top of pag e 18. 
 
          7          A.   Yes. 
 
          8          Q.   Do these -- not the prima ry bullet points 
 
          9   that include the states, but the seco ndary bullet 
 
         10   points, do those all refer to separat e cases and/or 
 
         11   proceedings? 
 
         12               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         13          A.   I think in large measure they do all 
 
         14   refer to separate -- I mean, as I men tioned earlier, 
 
         15   the second bullet under "Pennsylvania " refers really 
 
         16   to four separate rate cases pending a cross four 
 
         17   different jurisdictions in Pennsylvan ia so, you know, 
 
         18   make that caveat, but I think in the main they are 
 
         19   separate proceedings.  There may be s ome that 
 
         20   overlap. 
 
         21          Q.   So with respect to the 20 11 and 2012 
 
         22   storm costs in New Jersey, do you kno w the date of 
 
         23   the order or when that action occurre d? 
 
         24          A.   I don't know the date of the order. 
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          1          Q.   Do you know generally spe aking the time 
 
          2   frame for that order? 
 
          3               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          4          A.   I think it would have bee n in 2015. 
 
          5          Q.   Okay.  And do you know if  collection 
 
          6   began immediately or at some other po int in time? 
 
          7          A.   I'm not sure what "immedi ately" means, 
 
          8   but I think it would have occurred ve ry shortly 
 
          9   thereafter. 
 
         10          Q.   And the rate case pending  seeking 
 
         11   $142 million annually, do you have a sense of when 
 
         12   that was filed?  I'm sorry, not a sen se of.  Do you 
 
         13   know when that was filed? 
 
         14          A.   Yes. 
 
         15          Q.   Can you tell me when that  was filed? 
 
         16          A.   April 28, 2016. 
 
         17          Q.   When is recovery requeste d or proposed to 
 
         18   begin in that case? 
 
         19               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         20          A.   January 2017. 
 
         21          Q.   Under the primary bullet "Pennsylvania" 
 
         22   for the 2015 rate case, do you know w hen was the 
 
         23   order in that case? 
 
         24          A.   I don't recall the date. 
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          1          Q.   Do you have a general ide a of when the 
 
          2   order was? 
 
          3               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          4          A.   I think that would have b een in 2015 is 
 
          5   my recollection. 
 
          6          Q.   And do you know when coll ection began -- 
 
          7          A.   Very -- 
 
          8          Q.   -- or was proposed to beg in? 
 
          9          A.   Very shortly after the or der. 
 
         10          Q.   And the next bullet which  you indicated 
 
         11   is the four separate rate cases and t he four 
 
         12   jurisdictions in Pennsylvania, do you  have -- do you 
 
         13   know -- or what the date of those rat e cases? 
 
         14          A.   May I ask you to rephrase ? 
 
         15          Q.   When they were filed. 
 
         16          A.   Yes. 
 
         17          Q.   And when were they filed?   Or, I'm 
 
         18   sorry -- yes, when were they filed? 
 
         19          A.   April 28, 2016. 
 
         20          Q.   Is that for all of them? 
 
         21          A.   Yes. 
 
         22          Q.   And do you know when coll ection -- when 
 
         23   recovery is requested or proposed to begin? 
 
         24          A.   January 2017. 
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          1          Q.   And the capital recovery filing, when was 
 
          2   the order issued in that case? 
 
          3          A.   I don't recall -- 
 
          4          Q.   Or cases? 
 
          5          A.   I don't recall the specif ic dates. 
 
          6          Q.   Do you have a general dat e? 
 
          7               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
          8          A.   Would have been late 2015  or early 2016 
 
          9   is my recollection. 
 
         10          Q.   And do you -- and collect ion was proposed 
 
         11   to begin or began when? 
 
         12          A.   I believe collection bega n -- I don't 
 
         13   remember actually. 
 
         14          Q.   And under the primary bul let "West 
 
         15   Virgina," the "Harrison asset transfe r to MonPower," 
 
         16   when did that occur? 
 
         17          A.   I don't remember the exac t date. 
 
         18          Q.   Do you have a general ide a? 
 
         19          A.   No.  My -- I don't rememb er. 
 
         20          Q.   Okay.  And then the "2015  rate case and 
 
         21   vegetation management rider," has thi s case been 
 
         22   completed? 
 
         23          A.   Yes. 
 
         24          Q.   And when was the order is sued? 
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          1          A.   2015. 
 
          2          Q.   And when did collection b egin or propose 
 
          3   to begin? 
 
          4          A.   It would have begun very shortly after 
 
          5   the order. 
 
          6          Q.   Okay.  If you could turn to your 
 
          7   workpaper, it was the one that was se nt last evening, 
 
          8   so it's the second workpaper that we have. 
 
          9          A.   I have it. 
 
         10          Q.   Okay.  And it's the one t hat at the top 
 
         11   it says "2015 Distribution Sales." 
 
         12          A.   I have it. 
 
         13          Q.   Okay.  I was just trying to make sure it 
 
         14   was the same one.  On the workpaper y ou have a 2015 
 
         15   distribution employee headcount for O hio of 2,326. 
 
         16   Do you see that on the bottom right? 
 
         17          A.   Yes. 
 
         18          Q.   Okay.  Are these employee s employed by 
 
         19   the distribution companies or Shared Services -- or 
 
         20   Shared Services Company? 
 
         21               MR. KUTIK:  Objection. 
 
         22          A.   These are distribution co mpany employees. 
 
         23               MS. GHILONI:  Okay.  Than k you, 
 
         24   Ms. Mikkelsen.  That's all that I hav e. 
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          1               MR. KUTIK:  Okay.  We wil l review the 
 
          2   transcript.  We should note that it's  7:04, and we 
 
          3   are off the record.  Thank you very m uch. 
 
          4               (Thereupon, at 7:04 p.m.,  the deposition 
 
          5   was concluded.) 
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          1   State of Ohio                 : 
                                            :  SS: 
          2   County of ___________________ : 
 
          3          I, Eileen M. Mikkelsen, do her eby certify that 
              I have read the foregoing transcript of my deposition 
          4   given on Wednesday, July 27, 2016; th at together with 
              the correction page attached hereto n oting changes in 
          5   form or substance, if any, it is true  and correct. 
 
          6 
 
          7                          ______________ ______________ 
                                     Eileen M. Mikk elsen 
          8 
 
          9          I do hereby certify that the f oregoing 
              transcript of the deposition of Eilee n M. Mikkelsen 
         10   was submitted to the witness for read ing and signing; 
              that after she had stated to the unde rsigned Notary 
         11   Public that she had read and examined  her deposition, 
              she signed the same in my presence on  the ________ 
         12   day of ______________________, 2016. 
 
         13 
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          2   State of Ohio             : 
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          4          I, Karen Sue Gibson, Notary Pu blic in and for 
              the State of Ohio, duly commissioned and qualified, 
          5   certify that the within named Eileen M. Mikkelsen was 
              by me duly sworn to testify to the wh ole truth in the 
          6   cause aforesaid; that the testimony w as taken down by 
              me in stenotypy in the presence of sa id witness, 
          7   afterwards transcribed upon a compute r; that the 
              foregoing is a true and correct trans cript of the 
          8   testimony given by said witness taken  at the time and 
              place in the foregoing caption specif ied and 
          9   completed without adjournment. 
 
         10          I certify that I am not a rela tive, employee, 
              or attorney of any of the parties her eto, or of any 
         11   attorney or counsel employed by the p arties, or 
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              on this 28th day of July, 2016. 
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         17 
              My commission expires August 14, 2020 . 
         18 
              (KSG-6228) 
         19 
                                      - - - 
         20 
 
         21 
 
         22 
 
         23 
 
         24 



This foregoing document was electronically filed with the Public Utilities 

Commission of Ohio Docketing Information System on 

7/29/2016 9:45:11 AM

in

Case No(s). 14-1297-EL-SSO

Summary: Transcript Deposition Transcript of Eileen Mikkelsen filed on Behalf of the Office of
the Ohio Consumers' Counsel electronically filed by Ms. Deb J. Bingham on behalf of Willis,
Maureen R Mrs.


